678

# MACROSCOPIC QUANTUM ELECTRODYNAMICS — CONCEPTS AND APPLICATIONS

# Stefan Scheel<sup>1</sup> and Stefan Yoshi Buhmann<sup>2</sup>

Quantum Optics and Laser Science, Blackett Laboratory, Imperial College London, Prince Consort Road, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom

Received 9 October 2008, accepted 21 October 2008

In this article, we review the principles of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics and discuss a variety of applications of this theory to medium-assisted atom-field coupling and dispersion forces. The theory generalises the standard mode expansion of the electromagnetic fields in free space to allow for the presence of absorbing bodies. We show that macroscopic quantum electrodynamics provides the link between isolated atomic systems and magnetoelectric bodies, and serves as an important tool for the understanding of surface-assisted atomic relaxation effects and the intimately connected position-dependent energy shifts which give rise to Casimir–Polder and van der Waals forces.

PACS: 42.50.Nn, 42.50.Ct, 34.35.+a, 12.20.-m

KEYWORDS: Macroscopic quantum electrodynamics, Van der Waals forces, Casimir Forces, Spontaneous decay, Cavity QED, Atom-surface interactions, Purcell effect, Spin-flip rates, Molecular heating, Input-output relations

## Contents

2	Eler	nents of	f vacuum quantum electrodynamics	679
	2.1	Quanti	isation of the electromagnetic field in free space	679
		2.1.1	Lagrangian formalism	679
		2.1.2	Maxwell's equations	681
		2.1.3	Lossless beam splitter	685
		2.1.4	Casimir force between two perfectly conducting parallel plates	689
	2.2	Interac	ction of the quantised electromagnetic field with atoms	692
		2.2.1	Heisenberg equations of motion	696
		2.2.2	Spontaneous decay and Lamb shift	699
		2.2.3	Optical Bloch equations	701
		2.2.4	Jaynes–Cummings model	702

<sup>1</sup>E-mail address: s.scheel@imperial.ac.uk

Introduction

1

<sup>2</sup>E-mail address: s.buhmann@imperial.ac.uk

# 675

3	Mac	roscopic quantum electrodynamics	706							
	3.1	Field quantisation in linear absorbing magnetoelectrics	706							
		3.1.1 Huttner–Barnett model	706							
		3.1.2 Langevin-noise approach	710							
		3.1.3 Duality transformations	719							
	3.2	Light propagation through absorbing dielectric devices	721							
	3.3	Medium-assisted interaction of the quantised electromagnetic field with atoms	724							
	3.4	Nonlinear quantum electrodynamics	728							
4	Atomic relaxation rates 7									
	4.1	Modified spontaneous decay and body-induced Lamb shift, local-field corrections	734							
	4.2	Sum rules for the local density of states	737							
	4.3	Heating of polar molecules	739							
	4.4	Spin-flip rates	743							
5	Disp	persion forces	747							
	5.1	Casimir forces	748							
	5.2	Casimir–Polder forces	749							
		5.2.1 Perturbation theory	751							
		5.2.2 Atom in front of a plate	753							
		5.2.3 Atom in front of a sphere	760							
	5.3	Van der Waals forces	762							
		5.3.1 Perturbation theory	762							
		5.3.2 Two atoms inside a bulk medium	769							
		5.3.3 Two atoms near a half space	771							
		5.3.4 Two atoms near a sphere	777							
	5.4	Relation between dispersion forces	779							
	5.5	Thermal effects	781							
6	Cavity OED effects 7									
-	6.1	Ouantum-state extraction from a high-Q cavity	783							
	6.2	Spherical microcavities	785							
	0.1	6.2.1 Atom inside a spherical microcavity	785							
		6.2.2 Atom outside a spherical microcavity	787							
7	Out	look	789							
Δ.	knou	vledament	790							
110	KIIUW		170							
A	Dya	dic Green functions	791 701							
	A.1		191 702							
	A.2		192 702							
	A.3	Dulk Illaterial	192 702							
	A.4	Layered media: planar, cylindrical, spherical	193 705							
		A.4.1 Planariy layered media	193							
		A.4.2 Cylindrically layered media	191							

References 8								
A.6	Local-field corrected Green tensors	802						
A.5	Born series expansion	800						
	A.4.3 Spherically layered media	799						

### 1 Introduction

In this article we review the basic principles, latest developments and important applications of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics (QED). This theory extends the well-established quantum optics in free space (Sec. 2) to include absorbing and dispersing magnetoelectric bodies in its Hamiltonian description. In that way, a connection is established between isolated atomic systems (atoms, ions, molecules, Bose–Einstein condensates) and absorbing materials (dielectrics, metals, superconductors). This is achieved by means of a quantisation scheme for the medium-assisted electromagnetic fields (Sec. 3).

We set the scene by reviewing the basic elements of quantum optics in free space (Sec. 2). Beginning with the quantisation of the electromagnetic field in free space in a Lagrangian formalism (Sec. 2.1.1) and based on Maxwell's equations (Sec. 2.1.2), we briefly review two important applications, the lossless beam splitter (Sec. 2.1.3) and the mode summation approach to Casimir forces (Sec. 2.1.4). We introduce minimal-coupling and multipolar-coupling schemes (Sec. 2.2) and discuss important consequences of the quantised atom-field coupling, spontaneous decay and the Lamb shift (Sec. 2.2.2). For completeness, we briefly review optical Bloch equations (Sec. 2.2.3) and the Jaynes–Cummings model (Sec. 2.2.4).

The main part of this review deals with macroscopic quantum electrodynamics (Sec. 3) and its applications (Secs. 4–6). Macroscopic quantum electrodynamics provides the foundations for investigations into quantum-mechanical effects related to the presence of magnetoelectric bodies or interfaces such as dispersion forces and medium-assisted atomic relaxation and heating rates. The quantisation scheme is based on an expansion of the electromagnetic field operators in terms of dyadic Green functions, the fundamental solutions to the Helmholtz equation (Sec. 3.1.2). We discuss the principles of coupling atoms to the medium-assisted electromagnetic field by means of the minimal-coupling and multipolar-coupling schemes (Sec. 3.3), the latter of which will be used extensively throughout the article. After deriving the basic relations, we first focus our attention on medium-assisted atomic relaxation rates (Sec. 4). We present examples of modified spontaneous decay, near-field spin relaxation, heating and local-field corrections. As we frequently refer to a number of explicit formulas for multilayered media, we have collected some of the most important relations in the Appendix (App. A).

The Kramers–Kronig relations provide a close connection between the relaxation rates (line widths) and the corresponding energy shifts (Lamb shifts). The Lamb shift already exists in free space where the bare atomic transition frequencies are modified due to the interaction with the quantum vacuum. Because the quantum vacuum, i.e. the electromagnetic field fluctuations, are altered due to the presence of magnetoelectric bodies, these energy shifts become position-dependent and hence lead to dispersion forces. We develop the theory of Casimir, Casimir–Polder (CP) and van der Waals (vdW) forces on the basis of those field fluctuations (Sec. 5). Amongst other examples, we discuss under which circumstances the results based on mode summations and perfect boundary conditions (introduced in Sec. 2.1.4) can be retrieved.

Finally, we apply the theory of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics to strong atom-field coupling effects in microresonators (Sec. 6). Here we discuss leaky optical cavities from a field-theoretic point of view (Sec. 6.1) which provides insight into input-output coupling at semi-transparent cavity mirrors and generalizes the Jaynes–Cummings model (Sec. 2.2.4). We further present an example for entanglement generation between two atoms that utilizes surface-guided modes on a spherical microresonator (Sec. 6.2.2).

### 2 Elements of vacuum quantum electrodynamics

Let us begin our investigations of quantum electrodynamics by revisiting some of the basics of this theory — QED in free space. There are essentially two ways of approaching the quantisation of the electromagnetic field. In the quantum field theory literature (see, e.g. [1]), the formal route is taken in which a Lagrangian is postulated that fulfils certain general requirements such as relativistic covariance (Sec. 2.1.1). In order to stress the intimate connection with classical optics [2], we instead follow a second approach by sticking to classical Maxwell theory as long as possible before quantising (Sec. 2.1.2).

A simple application of the mode expansion that will be employed in this section is the description of the lossless beam splitter (Sec. 2.1.3) which will be extended to lossy devices in Sec. 3.2. The mode expansion approach will also be used to discuss the Casimir force between two perfectly conducting plates (Sec. 2.1.4). As we will later see in Sec. 5.1, this interpretation cannot be upheld if the rather severe approximation of perfectly conducting plates is being weakened. Instead, we will have to describe Casimir forces (and related forces) in terms of fluctuating dipole forces.

Next, we consider the coupling of the quantised electromagnetic field to charged particles (Sec. 2.2). We will introduce the notion of Kramers–Kronig relations and discuss simple atomfield phenomena such as spontaneous decay, the Lamb shift, the optical Bloch equations and the Jaynes–Cummings model of cavity QED. These examples will play a major role in our subsequent discussion of macroscopic QED (Secs. 4 and 5).

### 2.1 Quantisation of the electromagnetic field in free space

In this section, we briefly describe the theory of quantum electrodynamics in free space. We outline both the usual Lagrangian formalism and the more *ad hoc* approach via Maxwell's equations that highlights the connections with classical optics.

### 2.1.1 Lagrangian formalism

Within the framework of U(1)-gauge theories, the coupling between the fermionic matter fields and the electromagnetic field is described by a gauge potential  $A^{\mu} = (\phi/c, \mathbf{A})$  which is identified as the four-vector of scalar and vector potentials. In order to determine the dynamics of  $A^{\mu}$  in the Lagrangian formalism, a Lorentz covariant combination in terms of derivatives of  $A^{\mu}$  has to be sought, the simplest of which is the combination

$$L = \int d^4x \mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4\mu_0} \int d^4x F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \int dt \int d^3r \left[ \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) - \frac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{B}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) \right]$$
(2.1)

with the (covariant) anti-symmetric tensor

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_x/c & E_y/c & E_z/c \\ -E_x/c & 0 & -B_z & B_y \\ -E_y/c & B_z & 0 & -B_x \\ -E_z/c & -B_y & B_x & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.2)

Recall that the contravariant components of a four-vector  $x^{\mu}$  can be derived from its covariant components  $x_{\mu}$  by contraction with the metric tensor  $g^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1), x^{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu}x_{\nu}$ .

The equations of motion that follow from the Lagrangian density (2.1),

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad \partial_{\mu}\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F_{\rho\sigma} = 0 \tag{2.3}$$

 $[\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ : completely anti-symmetric symbol], are equivalent to Maxwell's equations

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = 0, \qquad (2.4)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\dot{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}, t), \qquad (2.5)$$

$$\nabla \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t) = 0 \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t) = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \dot{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{r}, t). \qquad (2.7)$$

They have to be supplemented with the free-space constitutive relations

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t) = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad (2.8)$$

$$\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad (2.9)$$

that connect the dielectric displacement field  $\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t)$  with the electric field  $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t)$  and the magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}, t)$  with the induction field  $\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t)$ .

Returning to the Lagrangian (2.1), one constructs the canonical momentum to the fourpotential as

$$\Pi_{\mu} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta \dot{A}^{\mu}} \,. \tag{2.10}$$

Its spatial components are proportional to the electric field,  $\mathbf{\Pi} = -\varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}$ , whereas the component  $\Pi_0$  vanishes due to the anti-symmetry of  $F_{\mu\nu}$ . This means that there is no dynamical degree of freedom associated with the zero component of the momentum field. Hence, the dynamics of the electromagnetic field is constrained. Using the canonical momenta, one introduces a Hamiltonian by means of a Legendre transform as

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int dt \int d^3r \left[ \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) + \frac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{B}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) \right].$$
(2.11)

An additional complication arises due to the gauge freedom of electrodynamics. From the definition of  $F_{\mu\nu}$ , Eq. (2.2), it is clear that adding the four-divergence of an arbitrary scalar function  $\Lambda$ ,

$$A_{\mu} \mapsto A_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}\Lambda, \qquad (2.12)$$

does not alter the equations of motion, i.e. Maxwell's equations. One is therefore free to choose a gauge function  $\Lambda$  that is best suited to simplify actual computations. Clearly, any physically observable quantities derived from the electromagnetic fields are independent of this choice of gauge. A particular choice that preserves the relativistic covariance of Maxwell's equations is the Lorentz gauge in which one imposes the constraint  $\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} = 0$ . In quantum optics, where relativistic covariance is not needed because the external sources envisaged there rarely move with any appreciable speed, the Coulomb gauge is often chosen. Here, one sets

$$\phi = 0, \qquad \nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0, \tag{2.13}$$

which obviously breaks relativistic covariance. Hence, in free space there are only two independent components of the vector potential. The scalar potential is identically zero; this is actually a consequence of the requirement  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$  rather than a separate constraint. In the Coulomb gauge, the Poisson bracket between the dynamical variables and their respective canonical momenta reads

$$\{\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t),\mathbf{\Pi}(\mathbf{r}',t)\} = \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')$$
(2.14)

where  $\delta^{\perp}(\mathbf{r})$  denotes the transverse  $\delta$  function. With the relations  $\mathbf{E} = -\mathbf{\Pi}/\varepsilon_0$  and  $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}$ , the Poisson bracket for these fields simply read

$$\{\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t),\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}',t)\} = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon_0} \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'), \qquad (2.15)$$

which serves as the fundamental relation between the electromagnetic fields. At this point, canonical field quantisation can be performed in the usual way by means of the correspondence principle. Upon quantisation, the Poisson bracket has to be replaced by  $(i\hbar)^{-1}$  times the commutator and Hamilton's equations of motion have to replaced by Heisenberg's equations of motion.

### 2.1.2 Maxwell's equations

Instead of using the field-theoretic Lagrangian language, we adopt a slightly simpler approach to quantisation that keeps aspects of the classical theory for as long as possible. Maxwell's equations (2.5) and (2.7) can equivalently be expressed in terms of the vector potential [derivable from Eq. (2.2)]

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = -\dot{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t).$$
(2.16)

The vector potential  $A(\mathbf{r}, t)$  in the Coulomb gauge (2.13) obeys the wave equation

$$\Delta \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t) - \frac{1}{c^2} \ddot{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{0}.$$
(2.17)

The solutions to Eq. (2.17) can be found by separation of variables, i.e. we make the *ansatz* 

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{\lambda} \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) u_{\lambda}(t)$$
(2.18)

which amounts to a mode decomposition. The mode functions  $A_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r})$  obey the Helmholtz equation

$$\Delta \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{\omega_{\lambda}^{2}}{c^{2}} \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{0}$$
(2.19)

where we defined the separation constant as  $\omega_{\lambda}^2$  for later convenience. One can read Eq. (2.19) as an eigenvalue equation for the Hermitian operator  $-\Delta$  having eigenvalues  $\omega_{\lambda}^2/c^2$  and eigenvectors  $\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r})$ . Because of the Hermiticity of the Laplace operator, the mode functions form a complete set of orthogonal functions, albeit strictly only in a distributional sense. Hence,

$$\int d^3 \mathbf{r} \, \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^*(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \mathbf{A}_{\lambda'}(\mathbf{r}) = \mathcal{N}_{\lambda} \delta_{\lambda\lambda'}, \qquad \sum_{\lambda} \frac{1}{\mathcal{N}_{\lambda}} \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) \otimes \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^*(\mathbf{r}') = \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')$$
(2.20)

where  $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda}$  denotes a normalization factor.

The Helmholtz equation (2.19) is easily solved in cartesian coordinates. The solutions are plane waves  $\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k})e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$  where the magnitude of the wavevector  $\mathbf{k}$  obeys the dispersion relation  $k^2 = \omega_{\lambda}^2/c^2$ . For each wavevector  $\mathbf{k}$  there are two orthogonal polarisations with unit vectors  $\mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k})$  obeying  $\mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\sigma'}(\mathbf{k}) = \delta_{\sigma\sigma'}$  and  $\mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) \cdot \mathbf{k} = 0$ . Hence, the sum over  $\lambda$  has in fact the following meaning:

$$\sum_{\lambda} \equiv \sum_{\sigma=1}^{2} \int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \,. \tag{2.21}$$

In cylindrical or spherical coordinates the solutions to the scalar Helmholtz equation can be written in terms of cylindrical and spherical Bessel functions, respectively (see Appendix A.4.2 and A.4.3).

The temporal part of the wave equation reduces to the differential equation of a harmonic oscillator,

$$\ddot{u}_{\lambda}(t) + \omega_{\lambda}^2 u_{\lambda}(t) = 0, \qquad (2.22)$$

with solutions  $u_{\lambda}(t) = e^{\pm i\omega_{\lambda}t}u_{\lambda}$ . Combining spatial and temporal parts, we obtain the mode decomposition for the vector potential as ( $\omega = kc$ )

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{2} \int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \,\mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) \left[ u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} e^{i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} + u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^{*} e^{-i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \right] \,, \tag{2.23}$$

where we have explicitly taken care of the reality of the vector potential by imposing the condition  $u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}(t) = u_{-\mathbf{k}\sigma}^*(t)$ .

Writing the expressions (2.16) for the electric field and the magnetic induction in terms of the vector potential (2.23),

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = i \sum_{\sigma=1}^{2} \int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) \omega \left[ u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} e^{i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} - u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^{*} e^{-i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \right], \qquad (2.24)$$

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = i \sum_{\sigma=1}^{2} \int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \left[ \mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{e}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) \right] \left[ u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} e^{i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} - u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^{*} e^{-i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \right], \quad (2.25)$$

the Hamiltonian (2.11) reads

$$H = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma,\sigma'=1}^{2} \iiint \frac{d^{3}r \, d^{3}k \, d^{3}k'}{(2\pi)^{3}} \left[ \varepsilon_{0}(\mathbf{e}_{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\sigma'})\omega\omega' + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}}(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{e}_{\sigma}) \cdot (\mathbf{k}' \times \mathbf{e}_{\sigma'}) \right] \\ \times \left[ u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}e^{i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} - u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^{*}e^{-i(\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega t)} \right] \left[ u_{\mathbf{k}'\sigma'}e^{i(\mathbf{k}'\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega't)} - u_{\mathbf{k}'\sigma'}^{*}e^{-i(\mathbf{k}'\cdot\mathbf{r}-\omega't)} \right] (2.26)$$

Using the orthogonality of the polarisation vectors  $\mathbf{e}_{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\sigma'} = \delta_{\sigma\sigma'}$  as well as the relation  $(\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{e}_{\sigma}) \cdot (\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{e}_{\sigma'}) = k^2 (\mathbf{e}_{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{\sigma'})$ , and integrating over  $\mathbf{r}$  and  $\mathbf{k'}$  leaves us with

$$H = 2\varepsilon_0 \sum_{\sigma=1}^2 \int d^3k \,\omega^2 |u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}|^2 \,. \tag{2.27}$$

The complex-valued functions  $u_{k\sigma}$  can then be split into their respective real and imaginary parts as

$$q_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} = \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \left( u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} + u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^* \right) , \qquad p_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} = -i\omega\sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \left( u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} - u_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^* \right) , \qquad (2.28)$$

which finally yields the classical Hamiltonian in the form

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\sigma=1}^{2} \int d^{3}k \left( p_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^{2} + \omega^{2} q_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}^{2} \right) \,. \tag{2.29}$$

In this way, we have converted the Hamiltonian (2.11) of the classical electromagnetic field into an infinite sum of uncoupled harmonic oscillators with frequencies  $\omega = kc$ . The functions  $q_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}$ and  $p_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}$  are thus analogous to the position and momentum of a classical particle of mass mattached to a spring with spring constant  $k = m\omega^2$ .

The conversion of a field Hamiltonian into a set of uncoupled harmonic oscillators is the essence of every free-field quantisation scheme. In cartesian coordinates it is equivalent to a decomposition into uncoupled Fourier modes (or alternatively into Bessel–Fourier modes if cylindrical or spherical coordinates are used). Note that the introduction of mode functions with the completeness and orthogonality relations (2.20) circumvents the usual problem of having to perform field quantisation in a space of finite extent, followed by the limiting procedure to unbounded space at the end of the calculation. The analogy with classical mechanics can be pushed even further by noting that the functions  $q_{k\sigma}$  and  $p_{k\sigma}$  obey the Poisson bracket relation

$$\{q_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}, p_{\mathbf{k}'\sigma'}\} = \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')\delta_{\sigma\sigma'}.$$
(2.30)

Quantisation is then performed by regarding the classical *c*-number functions  $q_{k\sigma}$  and  $p_{k\sigma}$  as operators in an abstract Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , and by replacing the Poisson brackets (2.30) by the respective commutators times  $(i\hbar)^{-1}$  [3]:

$$q_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} \mapsto \hat{q}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}, \qquad p_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} \mapsto \hat{p}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}, \qquad [\hat{q}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}, \hat{p}_{\mathbf{k}'\sigma'}] = i\hbar\delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')\delta_{\sigma\sigma'}.$$
(2.31)

By returning to the complex amplitude functions, now with different normalisation factors,

$$\hat{a}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\frac{\omega}{2\hbar}} \left( \hat{q}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} + \frac{i\hat{p}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}}{\omega} \right) , \qquad \hat{a}_{\sigma}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\frac{\omega}{2\hbar}} \left( \hat{q}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma} - \frac{i\hat{p}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}}{\omega} \right) , \qquad (2.32)$$

which obey the commutation rules

$$\left[\hat{a}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}), \hat{a}_{\sigma'}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')\right] = \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')\delta_{\sigma\sigma'}, \qquad (2.33)$$

we can write the operator of the vector potential in the Schrödinger picture as

$$\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{2} \int \frac{d^{3}k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{2\varepsilon_{0}\omega}} \mathbf{e}_{\sigma} \left[ e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} \hat{a}_{\sigma}(\mathbf{k}) + e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}} \hat{a}_{\sigma}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) \right] \,. \tag{2.34}$$

The plane-wave expansion (2.34) is a special case of the more general mode expansion

$$\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\lambda} \left[ \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \right] \,.$$
(2.35)

The amplitude operators  $\hat{a}_{\lambda}$  and  $\hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\lambda}$  then obey the commutation rules

$$\left[\hat{a}_{\lambda}, \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}\right] = \delta_{\lambda\lambda'} \,. \tag{2.36}$$

Finally, by introducing the amplitude operators via Eq. (2.32), the Hamiltonian (2.29) is converted into diagonal form

$$\hat{H} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} \left( \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \hat{a}_{\lambda} \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \right) = \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} \left( \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \right)$$
(2.37)

where the second equality follows from application of the commutation relation (2.36). The last term in (2.37) is an infinite, but additive, constant, the quantum-mechanical ground-state energy.

With the expansion (2.35) at hand, it is now straightforward to write down the mode expansion of the operators of the electric field and the magnetic induction as

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = i \sum_{\lambda} \omega_{\lambda} \left[ \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{a}_{\lambda} - \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \right], \qquad (2.38)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\lambda} \left[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \right].$$
(2.39)

Using these expressions, we arrive at the (equal-time) commutation relations for the electromagnetic field operators as

$$\begin{bmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}') \end{bmatrix} = i \sum_{\lambda} \omega_{\lambda} \{ \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot [\nabla \times \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}')] + \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot [\nabla \times \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}')] \}$$
$$= -\frac{i\hbar}{\varepsilon_{0}} \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')$$
(2.40)

where we have chosen a normalization factor  $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda} = \hbar/(2\varepsilon_0\omega_{\lambda})$  as in Eq. (2.34) and used the orthogonality relation (2.20). This commutator agrees with the canonical commutator implied by the Poisson bracket (2.15) on imposing the correspondence principle. The commutation rule (2.40) tells us that the quantised electromagnetic field is a bosonic vector field. Its elementary excitations, the photons, of polarisation  $\sigma$  and wavevector **k** are annihilated and created by the amplitude operators  $\hat{a}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}$  and  $\hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\mathbf{k}\sigma}$ .

Note that the operators of the electric field and the magnetic induction describe the electromagnetic degrees of freedom alone. The operators of the dielectric displacement  $\hat{D}(\mathbf{r})$  and the



Fig. 2.1. Simple one-dimensional model of a beam splitter of thickness d, consisting possibly of several layers of different materials.

magnetic field  $\hat{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{r})$ , which in free space are trivially connected to  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r})$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$  via Eqs. (2.8) and (2.9), in general contain both electromagnetic as well as matter degrees of freedom. We will see later in the context of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics that the same commutation rules (2.40) can be upheld even in the presence of magnetoelectric matter. The proof of the validity of this commutation provides a cornerstone of macroscopic QED.

# 2.1.3 Lossless beam splitter

Many propagation problems involving classical as well as quantised light involves finding the eigenmodes of the geometric setup and expanding the electromagnetic fields in terms of those modes. The plane-wave expansion in empty space was the simplest case imaginable. Manipulating light using passive optical elements such as beam splitters, phase shifters or mirrors are classic examples of mode matching problems at interfaces between dielectric or metallic bodies and empty space that can be solved by mode expansion approaches.

In most cases of interest, it is possible to restrict one's attention to a one-dimensional propagation problem by choosing a particular linear polarisation and considering one vector component of the electromagnetic field only. For example, let us consider light propagation along the x-direction in which case the electric-field operator turns into a scalar operator

$$\hat{E}(x) = i \int dk \, c |k| A(k, x) \hat{a}(k) - i \int dk \, c |k| A^*(k, x) \hat{a}^{\dagger}(k) \,.$$
(2.41)

The mode functions A(k, x) satisfy the one-dimensional Helmholtz equation

$$\frac{d^2}{dx^2}A(k,x) + n^2(x)k^2A(k,x) = 0$$
(2.42)

with a spatially dependent (real) refractive index  $n(x) = \sqrt{\varepsilon(x)}$ . The simplest model of a lossless beam splitter involves assuming a refractive index profile with piecewise constant refractive index (Fig. 2.1)

$$n(x) = \begin{cases} n, & |x| \le d/2, \\ 1, & |x| > d/2. \end{cases}$$
(2.43)



Fig. 2.2. A plane wave  $e^{ikx}$  with k > 0 (left figure) or k < 0 (right figure) impinges onto a beam splitter from the left or right, respectively, and splits into transmitted and reflected parts.

The solutions to the Helmholtz equation (2.42) with the refractive index profile (2.43) are once again plane waves that can be constructed similar to the familiar quantum-mechanical problem of wave scattering at a potential barrier (Fig. 2.2). If an incoming plane wave  $e^{ikx}$  from the left (k > 0) impinges onto the barrier, it will split into a reflected wave  $R(\omega)e^{-ikx}$  and a transmitted wave  $T(\omega)e^{ikx}$ . Similarly, if a plane wave  $e^{ikx}$  enters from the right (k < 0), it will split into a reflected wave  $R'(\omega)e^{-ikx}$  and a transmitted wave  $T'(\omega)e^{ikx}$  with as yet unspecified reflection and transmission coefficients  $R(\omega)$ ,  $R'(\omega)$ ,  $T(\omega)$  and  $T'(\omega)$ , respectively. Hence, the mode functions A(k, x) can be written as

$$A(k,x) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{4\pi\varepsilon_0\omega\mathcal{A}}} \begin{cases} e^{ikx} + R(\omega)e^{-ikx}, & x \le -\frac{d}{2} \\ T(\omega)e^{ikx}, & x \ge \frac{d}{2} \end{cases} \qquad k > 0,$$
(2.44)

$$A(k,x) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{4\pi\varepsilon_0\omega\mathcal{A}}} \begin{cases} T'(\omega)e^{ikx}, & x \le -\frac{d}{2} \\ e^{ikx} + R'(\omega)e^{-ikx}, & x \ge \frac{d}{2} \end{cases} \qquad k < 0,$$
(2.45)

where A is a normalisation area. The transmission and reflection coefficients can be obtained by requiring continuity of the vector potential (the quantum-mechanical wave function) and its first derivative at the beam-splitter interfaces. This requirement is analogous to the well-known conditions of continuity in classical electromagnetism. The result can be found in textbooks (see, e.g., [2]) as

$$T(\omega) = \frac{1 - r^2}{1 - r^2 e^{2ind\omega/c}} e^{i(n-1)d\omega/c}, \qquad (2.46)$$

$$R(\omega) = -re^{-id\omega/c} + re^{ind\omega/c}T(\omega), \qquad (2.47)$$

where  $r = (n-1)/(n+1) = \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon}-1}{\sqrt{\varepsilon}+1}$  is the Fresnel reflection coefficient for *p*-polarised waves (see App. A.4.1).

For a single dielectric plate, the transmission coefficients  $T(\omega)$  and  $T'(\omega)$  and the reflection coefficients  $R(\omega)$  and  $R'(\omega)$  are identical. For multilayered dielectrics, this is not necessarily the case. There are, however, a number of physical principles that restrict the form of these coefficients. For example, Onsager reciprocity [4] requires the magnitudes of the transmission coefficients to be identical,  $|T(\omega)| = |T'(\omega)|$ . In Sec. A.1 we will give details how this can be seen from general properties of the dyadic Green tensor. Moreover, energy conservation (photon number conservation, probability conservation) dictates that the squared moduli of transmission and reflection coefficients must add up to unity,

$$|T(\omega)|^2 + |R(\omega)|^2 = 1.$$
(2.48)

The correctness of Eq. (2.48) can be immediately checked by applying Eqs. (2.46) and (2.47).

We see from Fig. 2.1 that the electric field can be decomposed into its incoming and outgoing parts associated with the photonic amplitude operators  $\hat{a}_i(\omega)$  and  $\hat{b}_i(\omega)$ , respectively. The total electric field is thus the sum of field components travelling to the right (k > 0) and to the left (k < 0), whose amplitudes transform as

$$\hat{b}_1(\omega) = T(\omega)\hat{a}_1(\omega) + R'(\omega)\hat{a}_2(\omega), \qquad (2.49)$$

$$b_2(\omega) = R(\omega)\hat{a}_1(\omega) + T'(\omega)\hat{a}_2(\omega). \qquad (2.50)$$

For the transformed amplitude operators to represent photons, they have to obey similar commutation rules as the untransformed operators, hence we must have

$$\left[\hat{b}_{i}(\omega),\hat{b}_{j}^{\dagger}(\omega')\right] = \delta_{ij}\delta(\omega-\omega').$$
(2.51)

It follows that  $|T(\omega)|^2 + |R'(\omega)|^2 = |T'(\omega)|^2 + |R(\omega)|^2 = 1$  and  $T(\omega)R^*(\omega) + R'(\omega)T'^*(\omega) = 0$ . These requirements can be fulfilled if we set  $T'(\omega) = T^*(\omega)$  and  $R'(\omega) = -R^*(\omega)$ . The transformation rules of the photonic amplitude operators can thus be combined to a matrix equation of the form  $[\hat{a}(\omega) = [\hat{a}_1(\omega), \hat{a}_2(\omega)]^T$ ,  $\hat{b}(\omega) = [\hat{b}_1(\omega), \hat{b}_2(\omega)]^T$ ]

$$\hat{\mathbf{b}}(\omega) = \mathbf{T}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}(\omega) \tag{2.52}$$

where the transformation matrix

$$\mathbf{T}(\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} T(\omega) & R(\omega) \\ -R^*(\omega) & T^*(\omega) \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.53)

is defined upto a global phase. Because of its structure,  $T(\omega)$  is a unitary matrix, and in particular,  $T(\omega) \in SU(2)$  [5–10]. The unitarity of the transformation matrix reflects the energy conservation requirement.

The input-output relations (2.52) can be converted from a matrix relation to an operator equation as

$$\hat{\mathbf{b}}(\omega) = \hat{U}^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbf{a}}(\omega) \hat{U}$$
(2.54)

where the unitary operator  $\hat{U}$  is given by

$$\hat{U} = \exp\left[-i\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \left[\hat{\mathbf{a}}^{\dagger}(\omega)\right]^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\Phi}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}(\omega)\right], \qquad \boldsymbol{T}(\omega) = \exp\left[-i\boldsymbol{\Phi}(\omega)\right].$$
(2.55)

Using that operator, the quantum state of light impinging onto the beam splitter transforms as

$$\hat{\varrho}_{\rm out} = \hat{U}\hat{\varrho}_{\rm in}\hat{U}^{\dagger} \,. \tag{2.56}$$

This can be easily verified by noting that the expectation value of any operator that depends functionally on the amplitude operators  $\hat{\mathbf{a}}(\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{a}}^{\dagger}(\omega)$  can be computed either by transforming the amplitude operators using the input-output relations (2.54), or by transforming the quantum state using Eq. (2.56). The input-output relations would then correspond to the Heisenberg picture, whereas the quantum-state transformation could be regarded as its Schrödinger picture equivalent.

Note that, despite the fact that the matrix  $T(\omega)$  describes an SU(2) transformation, the unitary operator  $\hat{U}$  in general does not. As the *n*-photon Fock space is the symmetric subspace of the *n*-fold tensor product of single-photon Hilbert spaces [11], the quantum-state transformation (2.56) can be regarded as a transformation according to a subgroup of SU(2*n*) where *n* is the total number of photons impinging onto the beam splitter. For example, in the basis  $\{|0,0\rangle, |1,0\rangle, |0,1\rangle, |2,0\rangle, |1,1\rangle, |0,2\rangle\}$  the unitary operator  $\hat{U}$  has the matrix representation

$$\boldsymbol{U} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & T & -R^* & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & R & T^* & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & T^2 & \sqrt{2}T^*R^* & R^{*2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{2}TR & (|T|^2 - |R|^2) & -\sqrt{2}T^*R^* \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & R^2 & -\sqrt{2}TR & T^{*2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.57)

which is block-diagonal with respect to the Fock layers of total photon numbers (0, 1, 2). This again expresses photon-number conservation. The unitary matrix U thus has the structure of a direct product,

$$U = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} U_n \,. \tag{2.58}$$

The fact that the matrix transforming the quantum states acts on the symmetric subspace of a tensor product Hilbert space means that it can be constructed from permanents of the transmission matrix T [12] that is responsible for the operator transformation (2.52). Let us define the set  $G_{n,N}$  of all non-decreasing integer sequences  $\omega$  as

$$G_{n,N} = \{ \boldsymbol{\omega} : 1 \le \omega_1 \le \ldots \le \omega_n \le N \}.$$
(2.59)

Then the unitary transformation of an N-mode Fock state  $|n_1, \ldots, n_N\rangle$  with a total of n photons can be written as  $[\mathbf{\Omega} = (1^{n_1}, 2^{n_2}, \ldots, N^{n_N})]$  [13,14]

$$\hat{U}|n_1,\ldots,n_N\rangle = \left(\prod_i n_i!\right)^{-1/2} \sum_{\boldsymbol{\omega}\in G_{n,N}} \frac{1}{\mu(\boldsymbol{\omega})} \operatorname{per} \boldsymbol{T}[\boldsymbol{\omega}|\boldsymbol{\Omega}]|m_1(\boldsymbol{\omega}),\ldots,m_N(\boldsymbol{\omega})\rangle \quad (2.60)$$

in which the  $m_i(\omega)$  are the multiplicities of the occurrence of the value *i* in the non-decreasing integer sequence  $\omega$  and  $\mu_i(\omega) = \prod_i m_i(\omega)!$ . The notation  $T[\omega|\Omega]$  thereby stands for the matrix whose row and column indices are drawn from the non-decreasing integer sequences  $\omega$  and  $\Omega$ , respectively, and whose elements are taken from the transformation matrix T. For example,

the matrix T[(1,1)|(1,2)] contains the elements  $\begin{pmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12} \\ T_{11} & T_{12} \end{pmatrix}$ . The symbol per denotes the permanent of a matrix T which is defined as

$$\operatorname{per} \boldsymbol{T} = \sum_{\sigma \in S_n} \prod_{i=1}^n T_{i\sigma_i}$$
(2.61)

where  $S_n$  is the (symmetric) group of permutations.

For example, the probability amplitude of finding exactly one photon in each beam splitter output when feeding two photons into its input ports, is given by the permanent of the beam splitter transformation matrix itself,

$$\langle 1, 1 | U | 1, 1 \rangle = \text{per} \, \mathbf{T} = T_{11} T_{22} + T_{12} T_{21} = |T|^2 - |R|^2 \,.$$

$$(2.62)$$

For a symmetric beam splitter with vanishing permanent, this probability is zero, and the Hong– Ou–Mandel quantum interference effect is observed [15]. The appearance of a matrix function such as the permanent in the context of single or networks of beam splitters is one particular example of the links that exist between quantum optics and matrix theory.

For lossy beam splitters, neither the conservation law (2.48) nor the direct product structure of the matrix representation U of the unitary transformation operator [Eq. (2.57)] hold. They will have to be replaced by a generalized conservation law and a generalized unitary operator that include material absorption (see Sec. 3.2).

#### 2.1.4 Casimir force between two perfectly conducting parallel plates

One of the most intriguing consequences of quantising the electromagnetic field (or indeed any other field theory) is the existence of an infinite ground-state energy

$$E_0 = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} \tag{2.63}$$

which is present even if no photon is. It might be argued that this vacuum energy would not be physically relevant as all photon energies can be referred to this base level. Because no absolute energy measurements can be done, only relative with respect to this ground-state energy, that energy would not be measurable. This reasoning, however, is incorrect. To see why, it is instructive to look at the quantities the ground-state energy depends on. Inspection of Eq. (2.63) reveals that is the mode structure itself that determines its magnitude. In other words, the base level from which photon energies are counted can be changed by altering the number and the structure of the allowed electromagnetic modes. One way to achieve that is to confine the electromagnetic field in a geometric structure with appropriate boundary conditions that limits the number of available modes, for example between two perfectly conducting parallel plates (see Fig. 2.3). Because of the boundary conditions for the electromagnetic field at the plates surfaces, the modes perpendicular to the plates are discrete with wave numbers  $k_z = n\pi/d$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence, the lowest wave number that is supported in the interspace between the plates is  $\propto 1/d$ . After replacing the mode sum in Eq. (2.63) by an integral over wave vectors, we find that the ground-state energy scales as  $1/d^3$ . Because the ground-state energy clearly decreases with decreasing plate separation d,



Fig. 2.3. Electromagnetic modes confined between two perfectly conducting parallel plates of separation d lead to an attractive force. The figure on the right shows some of the allowed modes with the cavity walls.

there exists an attractive force between them. By dimensional arguments, this force per unit area  $L^2$  must be proportional to

$$\frac{F}{L^2} \propto -\frac{\hbar c}{d^4}.$$
(2.64)

A more detailed calculation yields the correct numerical prefactor (we will follow the derivation presented in Chap. 3.2.4 in Ref. [1]). First note that the ground-state energy in a box of volume  $L^2d$  with  $L \gg d$  is

$$E_{0}(d) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} = \frac{\hbar c}{2} \sum_{\lambda} |\mathbf{k}_{\lambda}| = \frac{\hbar c L^{2}}{2} \int \frac{d^{2} k_{\parallel}}{(2\pi)^{2}} \left[ |\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}| + 2 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left( \mathbf{k}_{\parallel}^{2} + \frac{n^{2} \pi^{2}}{d^{2}} \right)^{1/2} \right]$$
(2.65)

where we have used the fact that for  $k_z > 0$  there are two possible polarisations  $\sigma$  whereas there is only one independent polarisation if  $k_z = 0$ . This expression is, of course, infinite. To render this expression finite, we subtract the contribution of free space,

$$E_0(\infty) = \frac{\hbar c L^2}{2} \int \frac{d^2 k_{\parallel}}{(2\pi)^2} \int_0^\infty dn \, 2\sqrt{\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}^2 + \frac{n^2 \pi^2}{d^2}}$$
(2.66)

where the double counting of the polarisation state at n = 0 does not influence the value of the integral. The ground-state energy per unit area  $L^2$  is thus, using polar coordinates,

$$\frac{E_0(d) - E_0(\infty)}{L^2} = \frac{\hbar c}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty dk \, k \left( \frac{k}{2} + \sum_{n=1}^\infty \sqrt{k^2 + \frac{n^2 \pi^2}{d^2}} - \int_0^\infty dn \sqrt{k^2 + \frac{n^2 \pi^2}{d^2}} \right) \,. \tag{2.67}$$

This expression still seems to diverge for large wave numbers k and has to be regularised. For this purpose, we introduce a cut-off function f(k) such that

$$f(k) = \begin{cases} 1, & k < k_{\max} \\ 0, & k \gg k_{\max} \end{cases}$$
(2.68)



Fig. 2.4. Smooth cut-off function f(k) that falls to zero for large enough wave numbers.

where the cut-off wave number  $k_{\text{max}}$  could be chosen to be of the order of the inverse atomic size or, more appropriately, to correspond to a frequency larger than the plasma frequency of the material that the plates consist of (see Fig. 2.4). The physical background to the latter requirement is that the permittivity of a metal is for frequencies larger than the plasma frequency  $\omega_P$  well described by  $\varepsilon(\omega) \approx 1 - \omega_P^2/\omega^2$ . Thus, for  $\omega \gg \omega_P$  even metals become transparent and fail to provide the required boundary conditions.

After change of variables to  $u = d^2k^2/\pi$ , one obtains the convergent expression

$$\frac{E_0(d) - E_0(\infty)}{L^2} = \frac{\hbar c \pi^2}{4d^3} \left[ \frac{1}{2} F(0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} F(n) - \int_0^{\infty} dn F(n) \right]$$
(2.69)

with

$$F(n) = \int_{0}^{\infty} du \sqrt{u + n^2} f\left(\pi \sqrt{u + n^2}/d\right) = \int_{n^2}^{\infty} du \sqrt{u} f\left(\pi \sqrt{u}/d\right) \,.$$
(2.70)

The expression in brackets in Eq. (2.69) can be computed using the Euler-McLaurin resummation formula

$$\frac{1}{2}F(0) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} F(n) - \int_{0}^{\infty} dn F(n) = -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{B_{2m}}{(2m)!} F^{(2m-1)}(0)$$
(2.71)

where the  $B_k$  are the Bernoulli numbers. Since we have constructed the cut-off function such that f(0) = 1 and  $f^{(k)}(0) = 0$ , the only non-zero contribution to Eq. (2.71) arises from F'''(0) = -4, together with  $B_4 = -1/30$ . Hence,

$$\frac{E_0(d) - E_0(\infty)}{L^2} = -\frac{\pi^2}{720} \frac{\hbar c}{d^3}$$
(2.72)

which leads to a force per unit area as

$$\frac{F}{L^2} = -\frac{\pi^2}{240} \frac{\hbar c}{d^4}$$
(2.73)

geometry	ometry Casimir force	
planar	$-\frac{\pi^2 \hbar c L^2}{240 d^4}$	[16]
cylinder	$-\frac{0.02712\hbar cz}{R^3}$	[17]
sphere	$+\frac{0.045\hbar c}{R^2}$	[18]

Tab. 2.1. Casimir forces for parallel plates and cylindrical and spherical shells.

which is precisely Eq. (2.64) upto a numerical factor of  $\pi^2/240 \approx 0.041$ .

Similar calculations yield the Casimir forces for cylindrical and spherical shells as shown in Tab. 2.1. Note here that the Casimir forces in both planar and cylindrical geometries are attractive, whereas in case of a spherical shell it is repulsive. The latter result seems to contradict our intuition that a restriction of the number of modes always leads to an attractive force. In order to resolve this conundrum, one needs to look closer at the mode structure inside and outside a cylindrical or spherical shell.

In the mode-summation approach that forms the basis of the calculations referred to above, one has to regularise the wave number integral at its upper limit by assuming a cut-off frequency above which the plates have to become transparent (for cylindrical and spherical shells one sometimes assumes two half-cylinders or hemispheres whose separation provides the necessary regularisation). This argument already suggests that the interpretation of the Casimir force as a mode restriction between perfect conductors cannot be upheld rigorously, and must be replaced by something that involves the dielectric properties of the plates.

Let us interrupt the flow of the argument at this point and mention a classical analogue that can serve as an intuitive guidance to the problem of Casimir energies: the problem of determining altitudes on land. On literally all geophysical maps, the altitude of landmarks such as mountains, lakes, and human dwellings is given in terms of its altitude with respect to the average sea level. So one could say that the average sea level represents the level of the infinite ground-state energy. And in exactly the same way in which one is not interested in the altitude of a mountain with respect to the sea floor, we shall be content with measuring the photon energies from the infinite ground-state level. On the other hand, one might ask the question how the sea level can be properly defined given that there are tides, wind and waves that distort that level. As we will see later, it is exactly these fluctuations that are responsible for the Casimir effect in the quantummechanical setting.

# 2.2 Interaction of the quantised electromagnetic field with atoms

After we have determined how to quantise the electromagnetic field in free space, we will now couple external sources to the field and focus on the atomic degrees of freedom. For this purpose, let us begin again with classical Maxwell's equations which, in the presence of external sources,

read

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = 0, \qquad (2.74)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}, t), \qquad (2.75)$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t) = \rho(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad (2.76)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},t) + \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t). \qquad (2.77)$$

The charge density  $\rho(\mathbf{r},t)$  and the current density  $\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},t)$  fulfil the equation of continuity

$$\dot{\rho}(\mathbf{r},t) + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},t) = 0 \tag{2.78}$$

which states that any change of the charge distribution within a region of space is accompanied by a flow of current across the boundary of that region.

The charge density for an ensemble of point charges  $q_{\alpha}$  is given by

$$\rho(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \delta[\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{\alpha}(t)]$$
(2.79)

where  $\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}(t)$  denotes their classical trajectory. From the continuity equation (2.78) it then follows that the current density is

$$\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},t) = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}(t) \delta[\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{\alpha}(t)].$$
(2.80)

In order to promote the charges to proper dynamical variables, we have to supplement Maxwell's equations with Newton's equations of motion for particles with mass  $m_{\alpha}$ ,

$$m_{\alpha}\ddot{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} = q_{\alpha} \left[ \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}, t) + \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \times \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}, t) \right].$$
(2.81)

Introducing scalar and vector potentials as in free space,

$$\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) = -\dot{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r},t) - \mathbf{\nabla}\phi(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad (2.82)$$

we obtain their respective wave equations in the Coulomb gauge  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t) = 0$  as

$$\Delta\phi(\mathbf{r},t) = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon_0}\rho(\mathbf{r},t), \qquad (2.83)$$

$$\Delta \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r},t) - \frac{1}{c^2} \ddot{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r},t) = -\mu_0 \left[ \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},t) - \varepsilon_0 \nabla \dot{\phi}(\mathbf{r},t) \right].$$
(2.84)

Equation (2.83) is Poisson's equation with the solution

$$\phi(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \int d^3r' \frac{\rho(\mathbf{r},t)}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'|} = \frac{1}{4\pi\varepsilon_0} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{q_{\alpha}}{|\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}(t)|}$$
(2.85)

where in the second equality we have used Eq. (2.79). The expression on the rhs of Eq. (2.84) is a transverse current density which can be written in terms of the total current density as

$$\mathbf{j}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r},t) = \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},t) - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \int d^3 r' \frac{\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r}',t)}{4\pi |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}$$
(2.86)



Fig. 2.5. Individual charged particles are combined to a coarse-grained system at position  $\mathbf{r}_A$ .

using the continuity equation (2.78).

The above equations of motion for the electromagnetic field and the charged particles can be derived from the classical Hamiltonian function

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int d^3 r \left[ \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) + \frac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{B}^2(\mathbf{r}, t) \right] + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{2m_{\alpha}} \left[ \mathbf{p}_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}) \right]^2 + \sum_{\alpha \neq \alpha'} \frac{q_{\alpha} q_{\alpha'}}{8\pi \varepsilon_0 |\mathbf{r}_{\alpha} - \mathbf{r}_{\alpha'}|}$$
(2.87)

in which the last term describes the Coulomb interaction between the charged particles. Note that the particle momentum  $\mathbf{p}_{\alpha} = m_{\alpha} \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} + q_{\alpha} \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}_{\alpha})$  is different from the mechanical momentum  $m_{\alpha} \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}$  due to the interaction with the electromagnetic field.

The Hamiltonian (2.87) is referred to as the minimal-coupling Hamiltonian because the electromagnetic field couples to the microscopic degrees of freedom of the individual charged particles such as position and momenta. This microscopic description is often rather unwieldy, and an alternative approach in terms of global quantities is sought. A particularly important situation arises if the individual charged particles constitute an ensemble of bound charges such as electrons and nuclei in an atom or a molecule. Let us introduce a coarse-grained charge distribution  $\bar{\rho}$  and current density  $\bar{j}$  associated with that atomic system at centre-of-mass position  $\mathbf{r}_A = \sum_{\alpha} (m_{\alpha}/m_A)\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}$  ( $m_A = \sum_{\alpha} m_{\alpha}$ : total mass) (Fig. 2.5),

$$\bar{\rho}(\mathbf{r},t) = \left(\sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha}\right) \delta[\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{A}(t)], \quad \bar{\mathbf{j}} = \left(\sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha}\right) \dot{\mathbf{r}}_{A}(t) \delta[\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{A}(t)].$$
(2.88)

Note that this charge density is zero for globally neutral systems. In order to make up for the difference between the actual charge distribution (2.79) and Eq. (2.88), we define the microscopic polarisation field via the implicit relation

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{P}_A(\mathbf{r}, t) = -\rho(\mathbf{r}, t) + \bar{\rho}(\mathbf{r}, t) \,. \tag{2.89}$$

Adding this polarisation to the electric field, we define the modified displacement field as

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},t) = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t) + \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t)$$
(2.90)

which obeys the modified Coulomb law

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}, t) = \bar{\rho}(\mathbf{r}, t) \,. \tag{2.91}$$

Note that for globally neutral systems, the displacement field is a transverse vector field. From the implicit relation (2.89), one can show that the polarisation can be written as [19]

$$\mathbf{P}_{A}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \bar{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} ds \,\delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{A} - s\bar{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha})$$
(2.92)

 $(\bar{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} = \mathbf{r}_{\alpha} - \mathbf{r}_{A})$ , relative particle coordinates). Analogously, the magnetisation field is introduced via the relation

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{M}_A(\mathbf{r}) = \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r}) - \bar{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{r}) - \dot{\mathbf{P}}_A(\mathbf{r})$$
(2.93)

which can be written as [19]

$$\mathbf{M}_{A}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} ds \, s \bar{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \times \dot{\bar{\mathbf{r}}}_{\alpha} \delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_{A} - s \bar{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}) \,.$$
(2.94)

As before, field quantisation is performed by replacing the relevant *c*-number quantities by Hilbert space operators and postulating their canonical commutation rules. In contrast to relativistic quantum electrodynamics, the charged particles are not treated within second quantisation, i.e. in quantum optics electrons, atoms, molecules etc. cannot be created or annihilated. Instead, their quantum character is contained in their respective position and momenta, for which we postulate the canonical commutation rules

$$[\mathbf{r}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{p}_{\alpha'}] = i\hbar\delta_{\alpha\alpha'}\boldsymbol{I}.$$
(2.95)

At the moment, it seems as if we have not achieved anything other than rewriting the charge density in terms of a new vector field that itself, by construction, depends on the original microscopic variables. To proceed, one either has to solve the microscopic dynamics explicitly which is only possible for sufficiently small systems, or one can invoke statistical arguments that relate the polarisation field causally to the electric field by means of a (in general nonlinear) response *ansatz*. The latter approach leads to the theory of macroscopic QED (Sec. 3).

A direct treatment of the microscopic dynamics can be considerably simplified by casting the atom-field ineractions appearing in the minimal-coupling Hamiltonian (2.87) into its alternative multipolar form. To that end, we transform the dynamical variables by means of a Power–Zienau transformation  $\hat{O}' = \hat{U}\hat{O}\hat{U}^{\dagger}$ , where the unitary operator [20–22]

$$\hat{U} = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \int d^3 r \,\hat{\mathbf{P}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r})\right]$$
(2.96)

depends on the polarisation (2.92) and the vector potential (2.35) of the electromagnetic field. Expressing the Hamiltonian (2.87) in terms of the transformed variables and applying a leading-order expansion in terms of the relative particle coordinates, one obtains the electric-dipole

Hamiltonian for a neutral atomic system (cf. also Sec. 3.3)

$$\hat{H}' = \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} \left( \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}'^{2}}{2m_{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{0}} \int d^{3}r \, \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) - \hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}'(\mathbf{r}_{A}).$$
(2.97)

Here,

$$\hat{\mathbf{d}} = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \hat{\bar{\mathbf{r}}}_{\alpha} \,. \tag{2.98}$$

is the electric dipole moment operator, and the transformed electric field

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}'(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{P}}_A^{\perp}(\mathbf{r})$$
(2.99)

can be given in terms of the transformed bosonic operators  $\hat{a}'_{\lambda}$  via an expansion analogous to Eq. (2.38). The multipolar Hamiltonian is highly advantageous in comparison to the minimal coupling one (2.87) since the atom-field interaction  $\hat{H}_{int} = -\hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_A)$  consists of a single term. For this reason, we will exclusively employ it throughout the remainder of this section and drop the primes distinguishing the multipolar variables.

# 2.2.1 Heisenberg equations of motion

The electric-dipole interaction Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_{int} = -\hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_A)$ , can again be expanded in modes according to the description given above. In particular, the operator of the electric field strength is given by Eq. (2.38). For the atomic system we choose to expand its free Hamiltonian and the dipole moment in terms of its energy eigenbasis  $|n\rangle$ . The atomic flip operators will be denoted by  $\hat{A}_{mn} \equiv |m\rangle \langle n|$ , and they obey the commutation rule

$$\left[\hat{A}_{mn}, \hat{A}_{kl}\right] = \hat{A}_{ml}\delta_{nk} - \hat{A}_{kn}\delta_{lm} \,. \tag{2.100}$$

With these preparations, the electric-dipole Hamiltonian (2.97) takes the form

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} \left( \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \sum_{n} \hbar \omega_{n} \hat{A}_{nn} - i \sum_{m,n} \omega_{mn} \hat{A}_{mn} \mathbf{d}_{mn} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r}_{A})$$

$$= \sum_{\lambda} \hbar \omega_{\lambda} \left( \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger} \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \right) + \sum_{n} \hbar \omega_{n} \hat{A}_{nn}$$

$$-i \sum_{m,n} \sum_{\lambda} \omega_{mn} \hat{A}_{mn} \mathbf{d}_{mn} \cdot \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) \hat{a}_{\lambda} + \text{h.c.}$$
(2.101)

This Hamiltonian governs the dynamics of the atom-field system via Heisenberg's equation of motion

$$\dot{\hat{O}} = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \left[ \hat{O}, \hat{H} \right]. \tag{2.102}$$

Applying the commutation rules (2.36) and (2.100), the equations of motions for the photonic amplitude operators and the atomic flip operators read

$$\dot{\hat{A}}_{mn} = i\omega_{mn}\hat{A}_{mn} + \frac{1}{\hbar}\sum_{k}\sum_{\lambda}(\omega_{nk}\mathbf{d}_{nk}\hat{A}_{mk} - \omega_{km}\mathbf{d}_{km}\hat{A}_{kn}) \\ \times \left(\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_{A})\hat{a}_{\lambda} - \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{A})\hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}\right), \qquad (2.103)$$

$$\dot{\hat{a}}_{\lambda} = -i\omega_{\lambda}\hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{\hbar}\sum_{m,n}\hat{A}_{mn}\mathbf{d}_{mn}\cdot\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{A}).$$
(2.104)

In most cases of interest it is sufficient to concentrate on two out of the potentially many atomic levels, a ground state  $|g\rangle$  and an excited state  $|e\rangle$  separated by a transition frequency  $\omega_e - \omega_g = \omega_A$ . The three relevant atomic flip operators, the Pauli operators, will be denoted by  $\hat{\sigma} \equiv |g\rangle\langle e|$ ,  $\hat{\sigma}^{\dagger} \equiv |e\rangle\langle g|, \hat{\sigma}_z \equiv |e\rangle\langle e| - |g\rangle\langle g|$ . Together with the identity operator  $\hat{I} \equiv |e\rangle\langle e| + |g\rangle\langle g|$  in that two-dimensional Hilbert space, they generate the group SU(2). Finally, Heisenberg's equations of motion reduce in the rotating-wave approximation to

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}} = -i\omega_A \hat{\sigma} - \frac{i}{\hbar} \mathbf{d} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_A) \hat{\sigma}_z, \qquad (2.105)$$

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}}_z = \frac{2i}{\hbar} \mathbf{d} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_A) \hat{\sigma}^{\dagger} + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.106)$$

$$\dot{\hat{a}}_{\lambda} = -i\omega_{\lambda}\hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{\omega_{\lambda}}{\hbar}\mathbf{d}^{*}\cdot\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{A})\hat{\sigma}, \qquad (2.107)$$

where the positive-frequency part  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_A)$  of the electric field is given by the first term in Eq. (2.38). We can attempt to solve Eq. (2.107) by formally integrating it,

$$\hat{a}_{\lambda}(t) = e^{-i\omega_{\lambda}t}\hat{a}_{\lambda} + \frac{\omega_{\lambda}}{\hbar}\mathbf{d}^{*}\cdot\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{A})\int_{0}^{t}dt'\,e^{-i\omega_{\lambda}(t-t')}\hat{\sigma}(t')\,.$$
(2.108)

The first term in this equation is the free evolution of the photonic amplitude operators whereas the second term is due to the interaction with the two-level atom. The time integral contains the solution to Eq. (2.105) which itself is unknown. Thus, the integral can only be computed approximately. For this purpose, we split up the fast time evolution  $e^{-i\omega_A t}$  from the atomic flip operator and define a slowly-varying quantity  $\hat{\sigma}(t)$  as

$$\hat{\tilde{\sigma}}(t) = \hat{\sigma}(t)e^{i\omega_A t}.$$
(2.109)

Then, the time integral can be approximated as

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' e^{-i\omega_{\lambda}(t-t')} \hat{\sigma}(t') = \int_{0}^{t} dt' e^{-i\omega_{\lambda}(t-t')} e^{-i\omega_{A}t'} \hat{\sigma}(t')$$
$$\approx \hat{\sigma}(t) \int_{0}^{t} dt' e^{-i\omega_{\lambda}(t-t')} e^{-i\omega_{A}t'} = \hat{\sigma}(t) \int_{0}^{t} dt' e^{i(\omega_{A}-\omega_{\lambda})(t-t')}$$
(2.110)



Fig. 2.6. Functions s(x) and c(x) showing how they can be approximated by the functions  $\pi\delta(x)$  and  $\mathcal{P}(1/x)$ , respectively.

where the atomic flip operator has been taken out of the integral at the upper time. This is only possible if the amplitude operator  $\hat{\sigma}(t)$  is almost constant over the time scale  $|\omega_A - \omega_\lambda|^{-1}$ . This in fact also means that the interaction between the electromagnetic field and the two-level atom must not be too large. Because the atomic flip operator has been taken out of the time integral, all memory effects of the atom-field interaction have been neglected. This is known as the Markov approximation.

The remaining integral can be easily evaluated as

$$\int_{0}^{t} dt' e^{i(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})(t - t')} = \frac{\sin(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})t}{\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda}} + i\frac{[1 - \cos(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})t]}{\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda}} \equiv s(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda}) + ic(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})$$
(2.111)

which we have split into its real and imaginary parts. The function  $s(\omega_A - \omega_\lambda)$  is sharply peaked at  $\omega_\lambda = \omega_A$  (Fig. 2.6). If all quantities that contain either of these functions are averaged or cannot be resolved over sufficiently long times, then we can set

$$s(x) \mapsto \pi \delta(x), \qquad c(x) \mapsto \mathcal{P}\frac{1}{x}$$
 (2.112)

 $[\mathcal{P}: principal value]$  thereby introducing little error.

If we re-insert the formal solution to Eq. (2.107) into Eqs. (2.105) and (2.106), we obtain the equations of motion of the atomic flip operators in the Markov approximation as

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}} = -i\left(\omega_A + \delta\omega - i\frac{\Gamma}{2}\right)\hat{\sigma} - \frac{i}{\hbar}\hat{\sigma}_z \hat{\mathbf{E}}_{\text{free}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_A) \cdot \mathbf{d}, \qquad (2.113)$$

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}}_{z} = -\Gamma \left(1 + \hat{\sigma}_{z}\right) + \frac{2i}{\hbar} \hat{\sigma}^{\dagger} \hat{\mathbf{E}}_{\text{free}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) \cdot \mathbf{d} - \frac{2i}{\hbar} \hat{\sigma} \hat{\mathbf{E}}_{\text{free}}^{(-)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) \cdot \mathbf{d}^{*}, \qquad (2.114)$$

,

where  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}_{\text{free}}^{(\pm)}(\mathbf{r}_A, t)$  denotes the freely evolving electric field operator which, for example, describes the action of an external (classical) driving field. The symbols  $\Gamma$  and  $\delta \omega$  are abbreviations for the following objects:

$$\Gamma = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar^2} \sum_{\lambda} \omega_{\lambda}^2 |\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_A) \cdot \mathbf{d}|^2 \delta(\omega_A - \omega_{\lambda}), \qquad (2.115)$$

$$\delta\omega = \frac{1}{\hbar^2} \sum_{\lambda} \mathcal{P}\left(\frac{\omega_{\lambda}^2}{\omega_A - \omega_{\lambda}}\right) |\mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_A) \cdot \mathbf{d}|^2, \qquad (2.116)$$

whose relevance will become clear in the next section.

#### 2.2.2 Spontaneous decay and Lamb shift

The equation of motion for the population inversion operator  $\hat{\sigma}_z$ , Eq. (2.114), can be solved easily if no external electric field is present. In this case the equation of motion reduces to

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}}_z = -\Gamma \left( 1 + \hat{\sigma}_z \right) \,. \tag{2.117}$$

Rewriting the inversion operator in terms of the projectors onto the excited and ground states,  $\hat{\sigma}_z = |e\rangle\langle e| - |g\rangle\langle g| \equiv \hat{\sigma}_{ee} - \hat{\sigma}_{gg}$ , we find for the excited-state projector the simple relation

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}}_{ee} = -\Gamma \hat{\sigma}_{ee} \qquad \mapsto \qquad \hat{\sigma}_{ee}(t) = e^{-\Gamma(t-t')} \hat{\sigma}_{ee}(t') \,. \tag{2.118}$$

Hence, the quantity  $\Gamma$  determines the rate with which a two-level atom decays spontaneously from its excited state to its ground state.

Using the expansion (2.38), the decay rate Eq. (2.115) can be written as

$$\Gamma = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar^2} \sum_{\lambda} \mathbf{d} \cdot \langle 0 | \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_A) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{(-)}(\mathbf{r}_A) | 0 \rangle \cdot \mathbf{d}^* \delta(\omega_A - \omega_\lambda) , \qquad (2.119)$$

which has to be understood in such a way that the  $\delta$  function is placed under the mode sum. Hence, the rate with which the atom loses its excitation depends on the strength of the vacuum fluctuations of the electric field at the frequency of the atomic transition. In a certain sense, spontaneous decay can be viewed as stimulated emission driven by the fluctuating electromagnetic field. Using the plane-wave expansion (2.34), we obtain the well-known result for the spontaneous decay rate in vacuum

$$\Gamma_0 = \frac{2\pi}{\hbar^2} \sum_{\sigma} \int_0^\infty \frac{\omega^2 d\omega}{c^3 (2\pi)^3} \int d\Omega \frac{\hbar\omega}{2\varepsilon_0} |\mathbf{e}_{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{d}|^2 \delta(\omega_A - \omega) = \frac{\omega_A^3 |\mathbf{d}|^2}{3\pi \hbar \varepsilon_0 c^3} \,. \tag{2.120}$$

From the above, it should have become clear that the rate of spontaneous decay can be modified by altering the mode structure of the electromagnetic field. We have seen previously in Sec. 2.1.4 that the presence of boundary conditions for the electromagnetic field modifies the mode structure and hence the strength of the vacuum field fluctuations at the atomic transition frequency  $\omega_A$ . As a simple example, let us consider a radiating dipole located close to a perfectly conducting mirror. Depending on its orientation with respect to the mirror surface, its



Fig. 2.7. An atomic dipole  $\hat{\mathbf{d}}$  in front of a perfectly conducting mirror and its image  $\hat{\mathbf{d}}'$  for (a) parallel and (b) perpendicular orientation of the dipole with respect to the mirror.

rate of spontaneous decay is either completely suppressed or doubled with respect to its free space rate (Fig. 2.7). Suppression occurs when the dipole is parallel to the mirror and hence the dipole and its image are antiparallel and cancel each other [Fig. 2.7(a)]; doubling follows for perpendicular orientation where the dipole and its image are parallel [Fig. 2.7(b)].

The quantity  $\delta \omega$  that arises in the context of weakly interacting systems in the Markov approximation, Eq. (2.116), induces a shift of the atomic transition frequency, the Lamb shift. Rewriting the Lamb shift using the plane-wave expansion (2.34), we find

$$\delta\omega = \frac{1}{\hbar^2 c^3} \sum_{\sigma} \mathcal{P} \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{\omega^2}{\omega_A - \omega} \int d\Omega \frac{\hbar\omega}{2\varepsilon_0} |\mathbf{e}_{\sigma} \cdot \mathbf{d}|^2 = \frac{|\mathbf{d}|^2}{6\pi^2 \hbar \varepsilon_0 c^3} \mathcal{P} \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{\omega^3}{\omega_A - \omega} \quad (2.121)$$

which is clearly infinite. This is yet another artefact of quantum theory in free space which can be remedied by mass renormalisation (for details, see e.g. Ref. [23]). For our purposes it is sufficient to argue that the 'bare' atomic transition frequency  $\omega_A$  is unobservable because the interaction with the electromagnetic vacuum field can never be switched off and hence the only observable quantity is the renormalised frequency  $\omega_A + \delta \omega$ . However, in the following section we will again show how the presence of boundary conditions and, in particular, dielectric matter can modify the Lamb shift by an additional finite (and thus measurable) amount.

At this point it is perhaps interesting to observe that spontaneous decay and the Lamb shift are intimately connected by a causality relation analogous to the Kramers–Kronig relations that we will encounter in the next section. In fact, it is easy to see that  $\Gamma$  and  $\delta\omega$ , taken as functions of the atomic transition frequency  $\omega_A$ , form a Hilbert transform pair. Rewriting the integral (2.111) as

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{0}^{t} dt' e^{i(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})(t - t')} = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau e^{i(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})\tau} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau e^{i(\omega_{A} - \omega_{\lambda})\tau} \Theta(\tau), \qquad (2.122)$$

one observes that this is nothing else than the Fourier transform of the Heaviside step function  $\Theta(t)$ . This in turn can be interpreted at the causal transform of the function  $f(\omega) = 1$ , and the functions s(x) and c(x) are its real and imaginary parts. Due to the definition of a causal transform, and by Titchmarsh's theorem [24], s(x) and c(x) and therefore  $\Gamma$  and  $\delta\omega$  are Hilbert

transform pairs and mutually connected via Kramers–Kronig relations. Hence, knowledge of the spontaneous decay rate at all frequencies gives access to the Lamb shift and vice versa.

# 2.2.3 Optical Bloch equations

In this section we will return to Heisenberg's equations of motion for the atomic quantities in Markov approximation, Eqs. (2.113) and (2.114), and solve them under the assumption of an external driving field prepared in a single-mode coherent state  $|\alpha\rangle$  with frequency  $\omega_{\lambda}$ . Hence, we set

$$\langle \alpha | \hat{\mathbf{E}}_{\text{free}}^{(+)}(\mathbf{r}_A, t) | \alpha \rangle = i \omega_\lambda \mathbf{A}_\lambda(\mathbf{r}_A) \alpha e^{-i\omega_\lambda t}, \qquad \langle \alpha | \hat{\mathbf{E}}_{\text{free}}^{(-)}(\mathbf{r}_A, t) | \alpha \rangle = -i \omega_\lambda \mathbf{A}_\lambda^*(\mathbf{r}_A) \alpha^* e^{i\omega_\lambda t}.$$
(2.123)

In a frame that co-rotates with the angular frequency  $\omega_{\lambda}$ , Heisenberg's equations of motion reduce to

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}} = i\delta\hat{\sigma} - \frac{\Gamma}{2}\hat{\sigma} + \frac{\Omega}{2}\hat{\sigma}_z, \qquad (2.124)$$

$$\dot{\hat{\sigma}}_z = -\Gamma \left(1 + \hat{\sigma}_z\right) - \Omega \hat{\sigma}^{\dagger} - \Omega^* \hat{\sigma} , \qquad (2.125)$$

where  $\delta = \omega_{\lambda} - \omega_A - \delta \omega$  is the detuning and  $\Omega = \frac{2\omega_{\lambda}\alpha}{\hbar} \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_A) \cdot \mathbf{d}$  denotes the Rabi frequency. The density operator of any two-level (or spin-1/2) system can be written in terms of the Pauli operators as

$$\hat{\varrho} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{I} + \mathbf{u} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} \right) \tag{2.126}$$

where  $\mathbf{u} = (u, v, w)^{\mathrm{T}}$  is a real vector with norm  $|\mathbf{u}| \leq 1$  and  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}$  is the vector of Pauli matrices. Converting Eqs. (2.124) and (2.125) into equations of motion for the Bloch vector  $\mathbf{u}$  one finds the matrix equation

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{u} \\ \dot{v} \\ \dot{w} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\delta & \Omega_R \\ \delta & 0 & \Omega_I \\ -\Omega_R & -\Omega_I & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ w \end{pmatrix} - \frac{\Gamma}{2} \begin{pmatrix} u \\ v \\ 2(1+w) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.127)

For negligible spontaneous decay  $\Gamma$ , the Bloch equations take on the form of the gyroscopic equations

$$\dot{\mathbf{u}} = \boldsymbol{\beta} \times \mathbf{u} \tag{2.128}$$

with  $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (-\Omega_I, \Omega_R, \delta)^T$ . Its solution is then given by

$$u(t) = -\frac{\Omega}{\sqrt{\delta^2 + \Omega^2}} \sin(\sqrt{\delta^2 + \Omega^2} t), \qquad (2.129)$$

$$v(t) = -\frac{\delta\Omega}{\delta^2 + \Omega^2} \left[ 1 - \cos(\sqrt{\delta^2 + \Omega^2} t) \right], \qquad (2.130)$$

$$w(t) = -1 + \frac{\Omega^2}{\delta^2 + \Omega^2} \left[ 1 - \cos(\sqrt{\delta^2 + \Omega^2} t) \right].$$
 (2.131)

Hence, the time evolution of the Bloch vector on time scales  $t \ll 1/\Gamma$  is described by precession of the Bloch vector with frequency  $\sqrt{\delta^2 + \Omega^2}$  along the surface of a cone with opening angle  $\frac{1}{2} \arccos[\delta \Omega/(\delta^2 + \Omega^2)]$ .

In the long-time limit,  $t \to \infty$ , the solution of the optical Bloch equations reaches its steadystate value. In the stationary state, when  $\dot{\mathbf{u}} = \mathbf{0}$ , the solution to the full Bloch equations is

$$u_{\rm st} = -\frac{\delta\Omega}{\frac{\Omega^2}{2} + \delta^2 + (\frac{\Gamma}{2})^2}, v_{\rm st} = -\frac{\frac{\Gamma}{2}\Omega}{\frac{\Omega^2}{2} + \delta^2 + (\frac{\Gamma}{2})^2}, w_{\rm st} = -1 + \frac{\frac{\Omega^2}{2}}{\frac{\Omega^2}{2} + \delta^2 + (\frac{\Gamma}{2})^2}.$$
 (2.132)

In the weak driving limit,  $\Omega \ll (\Gamma, \delta)$ , the induced atomic dipole moment  $u_{\rm st} + iv_{\rm st}$  takes the form

$$u_{\rm st} + iv_{\rm st} \approx -\frac{\Omega}{\delta - i\Gamma/2}$$
(2.133)

whose real and imaginary parts fulfil the Kramers–Kronig relations when integrated over the mode frequency  $\omega_{\lambda}$ . Recall that both the spontaneous decay rate  $\Gamma$  and the Lamb shift  $\delta\omega$  (via the detuning  $\delta$ ) are contained in (2.133). In this weak-coupling regime, the induced dipole is thus described by a linear susceptibility. Its imaginary part, being proportional to the spontaneous decay rate  $\Gamma$ , describes a loss channel for the incident field. The concept of linear-response functions and their role in the quantisation of the electromagnetic field in the presence of magnetoelectric matter will be detailed in Sec. 3.

#### 2.2.4 Jaynes–Cummings model

In a sense the opposite limit to the case described in Sec. 2.2.3 is obtained if one considers a situation in which the mode structure of the electromagnetic field has been altered in such a way that discrete field modes interact with the atomic system. We have previously seen in connection with the Casimir effect (Sec. 2.1.4) that this can be achieved in resonators of Fabry-Perot type where the allowed modes in a cavity of length d have discrete wave numbers  $k_z = n\pi/d$ . The half distance between two neighboring modes, c/(2d), is called the free spectral range.

If a two-level atom with transition frequency  $\omega_A$  is almost resonant with one of the cavity modes, one can treat the coupled atom-field system approximately by a single-mode model described by the Jaynes–Cummings Hamiltonian [25–27]

$$\hat{H} = \hbar \omega \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \frac{1}{2} \hbar \omega_A \hat{\sigma}_z - \hbar g \left( \hat{a} \hat{\sigma}^{\dagger} + \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{\sigma} \right) .$$
(2.134)

The coupling constant g, which we have given the dimension of a frequency, can be read off from Heisenberg's equations of motion as  $g = \frac{i\omega_A}{\hbar} \mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{A}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_A)$ . Because we have assumed near resonance between atomic transition and the relevant cavity field mode, we have employed the rotating-wave approximation and subsequently dropped counter-rotating terms in the Hamiltonian (2.134).

The assumption that effectively only a single field mode interacts with the two-level atom implies a sharply peaked, comb-like, density of field modes. This requires a discretisation of the modes inside the cavity that can only be achieved with (almost) perfectly reflecting cavity walls.



Fig. 2.8. Equivalent potential model of a cavity with highly reflecting walls (left panel). The transmission coefficient is sharply peaked at the cavity resonances (right panel). The line widths of these resonances decrease with increasing reflectivity of the cavity walls.

In reality, the material making up the cavity mirrors shows some transmission, part of which is of course wanted in order to be able to probe the cavity field from the outside. In effect, each of the cavity mirrors can be treated as a beam splitter (Sec. 2.1.3). For one-dimensional light propagation the equivalent potential encountered by the vector potential is a double barrier (Fig. 2.8). Analytical solutions for the transmission coefficient have been first obtained in Ref. [28]. However, the problem becomes simpler by assuming that the barriers are  $\delta$  functions with strength g [29]. Then the transmission coefficient near one of the cavity resonances  $\omega_C$  can be written as

$$T(\omega) \simeq \frac{\frac{\Gamma}{2}}{\frac{\Gamma}{2} + i(\omega - \omega_C)}$$
(2.135)

where the line width  $\Gamma$  is inversely proportional to the barrier height g. Associating the barrier height with the squared index of refraction of the mirror material, one finds that the better the reflective properties of the mirrors [recall that  $r = (\sqrt{\varepsilon} - 1)/(\sqrt{\varepsilon} + 1)$ ] the narrower the resonances.

The Jaynes–Cummings model is one of the few exactly solvable models of interacting quantum systems. The Hamiltonian (2.134) is in fact block diagonal in the basis  $\{|n, e\rangle, |n + 1, g\rangle\}$ ,

$$\hat{H}\left(\begin{array}{c}|n,e\rangle\\|n+1,g\rangle\end{array}\right) = \hbar\left(\begin{array}{c}n\omega + \frac{1}{2}\omega_A & -g\sqrt{n+1}\\-g\sqrt{n+1} & (n+1)\omega - \frac{1}{2}\omega_A\end{array}\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}|n,e\rangle\\|n+1,g\rangle\end{array}\right).$$
(2.136)

Its eigenfrequencies are

$$\omega_{n,\pm} = \left(n + \frac{1}{2}\right)\omega \pm \frac{1}{2}\Delta_n \tag{2.137}$$

where we have defined the Rabi splitting  $\Delta_n = \sqrt{\delta^2 + \Omega_n^2}$  which depends on the detuning  $\delta = \omega_A - \omega$  and the *n*-photon Rabi frequency  $\Omega_n = 2g\sqrt{n+1}$ . The eigenstates  $|n, \pm\rangle$  of the Jaynes– Cummings Hamiltonian are superpositions of the unperturbed eigenstates  $\{|n, e\rangle, |n+1, g\rangle\}$ ,

$$\begin{pmatrix} |n,+\rangle\\|n,-\rangle \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\Theta_n & -\sin\Theta_n\\\sin\Theta_n & \cos\Theta_n \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} |n+1,g\rangle\\|n,e\rangle \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.138)



Fig. 2.9. Energy level diagram of the resonant Jaynes–Cummings model. Apart from the collective ground state  $|0, g\rangle$ , the states  $\{|n, e\rangle, |n+1, g\rangle\}$  are doubly degenerate. This degeneracy is lifted by the interaction.

where the rotation angles are

$$\sin \Theta_n = \frac{\Omega_n}{\sqrt{(\Delta_n - \delta)^2 + \Omega_n^2}}, \qquad \cos \Theta_n = \frac{\Delta_n - \delta}{\sqrt{(\Delta_n - \delta)^2 + \Omega_n^2}}.$$
(2.139)

For resonant interaction,  $\delta = 0$ , the unperturbed eigenstates are pairwise degenerate (Fig. 2.9). This degeneracy is lifted by the atom-field interaction. The level splitting  $\Delta_n$  depends on the number of photons. Note that even if there is initially no photon present, the exact eigenstates will be split by an amount  $\Omega_0 = 2g$ , the vacuum Rabi splitting. This splitting, or 'dressing', of the bare energy levels is equivalent to the Lamb shift which we found in Sec. 2.2.2. However, it should be noted that the vacuum Lamb shift was due to the interaction with electromagnetic modes of all frequencies, whereas in the Jaynes–Cummings model the level shift arises from the interaction with a single discrete mode that has been selected by the resonator.

Because the Jaynes–Cummings Hamiltonian can be explicitly diagonalized, the unitary evolution operator is also known explicitly and reads

$$\begin{split} \hat{U}(t) &= e^{-i\hat{H}t\hbar} = e^{i\omega_A t/2} |0,g\rangle \langle 0,g| + \sum_{\sigma=\pm} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-i\omega_{n,\sigma}t} |n,\sigma\rangle \langle n,\sigma| \\ &= e^{i\omega_A t/2} |0,g\rangle \langle 0,g| + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-i(n+1/2)\omega t} \left[ e^{-i\Delta_n t/2} |n,+\rangle \langle n,+| + e^{i\Delta_n t/2} |n,-\rangle \langle n,-| \right] \\ &= e^{i\omega_A t/2} |0,g\rangle \langle 0,g| + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-i(n+1/2)\omega t} \left\{ \left[ \cos \frac{\Delta_n t}{2} + i \frac{\delta}{\Delta_n} \sin \frac{\Delta_n t}{2} \right] |n+1,g\rangle \langle n+1,g| \\ &+ \left[ \cos \frac{\Delta_n t}{2} - i \frac{\delta}{\Delta_n} \sin \frac{\Delta_n t}{2} \right] |n,e\rangle \langle n,e| + i \frac{\Omega_n}{\Delta_n} \sin \frac{\Delta_n t}{2} (|n+1,g\rangle \langle n,e| + |n,e\rangle \langle n+1,g|) \right\}. \end{split}$$

$$(2.140)$$

The last equality in Eq. (2.140) expresses the unitary time evolution in terms of the unperturbed eigenstates.

An important special case is the dispersive limit in which the detuning  $\delta$  is large compared to the relevant *n*-photon Rabi frequency,  $\delta \gg \Omega_n$ . In this limit, the level splitting can be approximated by  $\Delta_n \simeq \delta + \Omega_n^2/(2\delta) = \delta + 2g^2(n+1)\delta$ , and the exact eigenstates are approximately the unperturbed eigenstates,  $|n, +\rangle \simeq |n, e\rangle$  and  $|n, -\rangle \simeq |n+1, g\rangle$ . Under this approximation, the unitary evolution operator can be written as

$$\hat{U} \simeq e^{i\omega_A t/2} |0,g\rangle \langle 0,g| + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} e^{-i(n+1/2)\omega t} \\ \times \left[ e^{-i(\delta/2 + g^2(n+1)/\delta)t} |n,e\rangle \langle n,e| + e^{i(\delta/2 + g^2(n+1)/\delta)t} |n+1,g\rangle \langle n+1,g| \right] (2.141)$$

or, with the free Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_0 = \hbar \omega \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} + \frac{1}{2} \hbar \omega_A \hat{\sigma}_z$ ,

$$\hat{U} \simeq \exp\left(-\frac{i}{\hbar}\hat{H}_0t\right) \left[\exp\left(-\frac{ig^2}{\delta}(\hat{n}+1)t\right)|e\rangle\langle e| + \exp\left(\frac{ig^2}{\delta}\hat{n}t\right)|g\rangle\langle g|\right]$$
(2.142)

It is instructive to note that the evolution operator the dispersive limit, Eq. (2.142), is quadratic in the interaction strength g. This means that it results in an effective nonlinear atom-field interaction. In order to investigate this claim in more detail, let us rewrite Eq. (2.142) in the following form. The term in square brackets contains, apart from a linear Stark shift of the excited state  $|e\rangle$ , a factor  $e^{-ig^2\hat{n}\hat{\sigma}_z t/\delta}$  which is the result of an effective nonlinear Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H}_{\text{eff}} = \hbar \frac{g^2}{\delta} \hat{a}^{\dagger} \hat{a} \hat{\sigma}_z \,. \tag{2.143}$$

Comparing Eq. (2.143) with the Jaynes–Cummings Hamiltonian (2.134) we see that the trilinear Hamiltonian (2.143) does not appear in the original Jaynes–Cummings model. The appearance of such an effective Hamiltonian is solely due the far off-resonant interaction. This is just one example of a generic nonlinear interaction such as those studied in Sec. 3.4.

### 3 Macroscopic quantum electrodynamics

Having established the framework of quantum electrodynamics in free space, we are now in a position to generalise the theory to magnetoelectric background materials. Before we go ahead with our program, let us first discuss the intrinsic difficulties associated with magnetoelectric media.

Let us assume we wanted to naively extend a plane-wave expansion of the electromagnetic field to include dielectrics. We would then try to replace the plane wave solutions  $e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$  to the Helmholtz equation by  $e^{in\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$  where  $n \equiv n(\omega)$  is the index of refraction of the dielectric. In order to conform with standard requirements from statiscical physics, the refractive index must be a complex function of frequency  $n(\omega) = \eta(\omega) + i\kappa(\omega)$  that satisfies the Kramers–Kronig relations

$$\eta(\omega) - 1 = \frac{1}{\pi} \mathcal{P} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega' \frac{\kappa(\omega')}{\omega' - \omega}, \qquad \kappa(\omega) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \mathcal{P} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega' \frac{\eta(\omega') - 1}{\omega' - \omega}.$$
(3.1)

Due to the inevitable imaginary part of the refractive index, the plane waves are generically damped. That in turn means that they do not form a complete set of orthonormal functions needed to perform a Fourier decomposition of the electromagnetic field. The consequences of this failure are quite severe; either one insists on bosonic commutation rules for the photonic amplitude operators  $\hat{a}_{\lambda}$  and  $\hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\lambda}$  which subsequently lead to wrong commutation relations between the operators of the electric field  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r})$  and the magnetic induction  $\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$ , or one postulates the correctness of the latter and ends up with amplitude operators in their Fourier decomposition that do not have the interpretation of annihilation and creation operators of photonic modes.

The reason for the failure of this naive quantisation scheme is easily found. The introduction of the index of refraction  $n(\omega)$  means that there exists an underlying (microscopic) theory that couples the free electromagnetic field to some dielectric matter, the effect of which is taken into account only by means of the response function  $n(\omega)$ . In doing so, the matter-field coupling is hidden from view but is nevertheless present. The damped plane waves  $e^{in\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{r}}$  have therefore to be regarded as eigensolutions of the combined field-matter system, and not of the electromagnetic field alone.

# 3.1 Field quantisation in linear absorbing magnetoelectrics

The above arguments necessarily lead one to consider the electromagnetic field interacting with an atomic system coupled to a reservoir that is responsible for absorption. An explicit matter-field coupling theory that achieves field quantisation in dielectric matter on the basis of a microscopic model has been developed by Huttner and Barnett [30, 31] (Sec. 3.1.1). This Hamiltonian model can be generalised to an effective Langevin noise model (Sec. 3.1.2) which forms the basis of the remainder of this article.

#### 3.1.1 Huttner–Barnett model

Historically, the first successful attempt at quantising the electromagnetic field in an absorbing dielectric material is due to Huttner and Barnett [30,31]. They considered a Hopfield model [32]

of a homogeneous and isotropic bulk dielectric in which a harmonic oscillator field representing the medium polarisation is linearly coupled to a continuum of harmonic oscillators standing for the reservoir (first line in Fig. 3.1). Such a model leads to an essentially unidirectional energy flow — from the medium polarisation to the reservoir — which means that the energy is absorbed. Strictly speaking, because a single harmonic oscillator is coupled to a continuum, the revival time is infinite, hence an excitation stored in the continuum of harmonic oscillators will not return to the medium polarisation in any finite time. The overall system of radiation, matter polarisation, reservoir and their mutual couplings are regarded as a Hamiltonian system whose Lagrangian reads

$$L = \int d^3r \,\mathcal{L} = \int d^3r \,\left(\mathcal{L}_{\rm em} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm mat} + \mathcal{L}_{\rm int}\right) \tag{3.2}$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm em} = \frac{\varepsilon_0}{2} \left[ \left( \dot{\mathbf{A}} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \phi \right)^2 - c^2 \left( \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A} \right)^2 \right], \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{mat}} = \frac{\mu}{2} \left( \dot{\mathbf{X}}^2 - \omega_0^2 \mathbf{X}^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \mu \left( \dot{\mathbf{Y}}_\omega^2 - \omega^2 \mathbf{Y}_\omega^2 \right) \,, \tag{3.4}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{int}} = -\alpha \left( \mathbf{A} \cdot \dot{\mathbf{X}} + \phi \nabla \cdot \mathbf{X} \right) - \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, v(\omega) \mathbf{X} \cdot \dot{\mathbf{Y}}_{\omega} \,. \tag{3.5}$$

Here  $\mathcal{L}_{em}$  and  $\mathcal{L}_{mat}$  are the free Lagrangian densities of the radiation field and the matter, respectively, where  $\phi$  and  $\mathbf{A}$  are the scalar and vector potentials in the Coulomb gauge ( $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$ ), and  $\mathbf{X}$  and  $\mathbf{Y}_{\omega}$  the medium and reservoir oscillator fields with density  $\mu$ , respectively. In the interaction part,  $\mathcal{L}_{int}$ ,  $\alpha$  is the electric polarisability and the medium-reservoir coupling constants  $v(\omega)$  are assumed to be square integrable.

Upon introducing the canonical momenta

$$\mathbf{\Pi} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\mathbf{A}}} = \varepsilon_0 \dot{\mathbf{A}}, \qquad (3.6)$$

$$\mathbf{P} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\mathbf{X}}} = \mu \dot{\mathbf{X}} - \alpha \mathbf{A}, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\omega} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \dot{\mathbf{Y}}_{\omega}} = \mu \dot{\mathbf{Y}}_{\omega} - v(\omega) \mathbf{X}, \qquad (3.8)$$

one can perform the Legendre transformation and construct a Hamiltonian  $H = H_{em} + H_{mat} + H_{int}$ . In Fourier space,

$$\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{r}) \quad \mapsto \quad \mathbf{A}(\mathbf{k}) = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} A_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) \mathbf{e}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}), \qquad (3.9)$$

$$\mathbf{X}(\mathbf{r}) \quad \mapsto \quad \mathbf{X}(\mathbf{k}) = X_{\parallel}(\mathbf{k})\mathbf{e}_{\mathbf{k}} + \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} X_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k})\mathbf{e}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}), \qquad (3.10)$$

are the longitudinal and transverse components of the vector potential and the matter polarisation, respectively. Similar decompositions are made for all other fields.

As in free space, one introduces mode amplitudes according to

$$a_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{0}}{2\hbar\tilde{k}c}} \left[ \tilde{k}cA_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) + \frac{i}{\varepsilon_{0}}\Pi_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) \right], \qquad (3.11)$$

$$b_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) = \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{2\hbar\tilde{\omega}}} \left[ \tilde{\omega}X_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) + \frac{i}{\mu}Q_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) \right], \qquad (3.12)$$

$$b_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{2\hbar\omega}} \left[ -i\omega X_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) + \frac{1}{\mu} Q_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \right]$$
(3.13)

where

$$\tilde{k}^2 = k^2 + \frac{\alpha^2}{\mu\varepsilon_0 c^2}, \qquad \tilde{\omega}^2 = \omega^2 + \int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{v^2(\omega)}{\mu^2}.$$
(3.14)

The expressions (3.14) reflect the level shifts due to the interaction between fields. Indeed, we have encountered such shifts already in vacuum QED (Lamb shift, dressed energy levels in the Jaynes–Cummings model etc.). Similar decompositions can be made for the longitudinal fields which we will not consider here [33].

The amplitude operators are then promoted to Hilbert space operators with the usual bosonic commutation relations

$$\left[\hat{a}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}), \hat{a}_{\lambda'}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')\right] = \delta_{\lambda\lambda'}\delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'), \qquad (3.15)$$

$$\left[\hat{b}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}), \hat{b}_{\lambda'}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')\right] = \delta_{\lambda\lambda'}\delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'), \qquad (3.16)$$

$$\left[\hat{b}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega),\hat{b}_{\lambda'}(\mathbf{k}',\omega')\right] = \delta_{\lambda\lambda'}\delta(\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}')\delta(\omega-\omega').$$
(3.17)

The transverse Hamiltonian can be expressed in terms of the annihilation and creation operators as

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_{\rm em} + \hat{H}_{\rm mat} + \hat{H}_{\rm int} \tag{3.18}$$

with

$$\hat{H}_{\rm em} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \int d^3k \, \hbar \tilde{k} c \, \hat{a}^{\dagger}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) \hat{a}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) \,, \qquad (3.19)$$

$$\hat{H}_{\text{mat}} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \int d^{3}k \left\{ \hbar \tilde{\omega} \, \hat{b}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) \hat{b}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) + \int_{0}^{1} d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{b}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \hat{b}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \right. \\ \left. + \frac{\hbar}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, V(\omega) \left[ \hat{b}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) + \hat{b}_{\lambda}(-\mathbf{k}) \right] \left[ \hat{b}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(-\mathbf{k},\omega) + \hat{b}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \right] \right\}, \qquad (3.20)$$

$$\hat{H}_{\text{int}} = \frac{i\hbar}{2} \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \int d^{3}k \Lambda(k) \left[ \hat{a}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(-\mathbf{k}) + \hat{a}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k}) \right] \left[ \hat{b}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) + \hat{b}_{\lambda}(-\mathbf{k}) \right]$$
(3.21)



Fig. 3.1. Two-step diagonalisation of the Huttner–Barnett model. In the first step, the polarisation field and the harmonic-oscillator heat bath form dressed-matter operators. These are then combined in the second step with the free electromagnetic field to form polariton operators.

where  $V(\omega) = [v(\omega)/\mu](\omega/\tilde{\omega})^{1/2}$  and  $\Lambda(k) = [\tilde{\omega}\alpha^2/(\mu c\varepsilon_0 \tilde{k})]^{1/2}$ . The Hamiltonian is clearly bilinear in all annihilation and creation operators, and can therefore be diagonalised by a Bogoliubov (squeezing) transformation, that is, by a linear transformation involving both annihilation and creation operators. In the present context, the procedure is known as a Fano-type diagonalisation [34]. The diagonalisation is performed in two steps. In the first step, the matter Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_{mat}$  is diagonalised first (second line in Fig. 3.1), leading to

$$\hat{H}_{\text{mat}} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \int d^{3}k \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{B}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \hat{B}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \,.$$
(3.22)

In the second step, the dressed-matter operators  $\hat{B}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega)$  and  $\hat{B}^{\dagger}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega)$  are combined with the photonic operators to the diagonal Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{2} \int d^{3}k \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{f}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \hat{f}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega) \,.$$
(3.23)

Diagonalization of the longitudinal field components can be achieved analogously. Adding the resulting expression to Eq. (3.23) and Fourier transforming gives

$$\hat{H} = \int d^3r \,\hbar\omega \,\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$$
(3.24)

which is depicted in the last line in Fig. 3.1. Due to the bosonic commutation relation of the amplitude operators, the commutation rule for the new dynamical variables are

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega),\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega')\right] = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')\boldsymbol{\delta}(\omega-\omega').$$
(3.25)

Inverting the Bogoliubov transformation that has led to the polariton-like operators  $\hat{C}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega)$ and  $\hat{C}^{\dagger}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\omega)$  and subsequent Fourier transformation leaves one with an expression for the vector potential  $\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r})$  and the polarisation field  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbf{r})$  in terms of the dynamical variables  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$ . The expansion coefficients turn out to be the dyadic Green tensor for a homogeneous and isotropic bulk material with a dielectric permittivity that is constructed from the microscopic coupling parameters  $\alpha$ ,  $v(\omega)$  and  $\mu$  [30, 35]. Later, this theory has been extended to inhomogeneous dielectrics where Laplace transformation techniques have been used to solve the resulting coupled differential equations [36]. However, neither of these expressions for the resulting fields contains any hints towards their underlying microscopic model, so it seems quite natural to start from the source-quantity representation of the electromagnetic field instead.

## 3.1.2 Langevin-noise approach

From now on, we leave the microscopic models behind and concentrate on the phenomenological Maxwell's equations, assuming that the relevant response functions such as dielectric permittivity and magnetic permeability are known from measurements. Maxwell's equations of classical electromagnetism, in the presence of magnetoelectric background media read, in the absence of other external sources or currents,

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) = 0, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}) = -\dot{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.27)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}) = 0, \qquad (3.28)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}) = \dot{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{r}). \tag{3.29}$$

They have to be supplemented by constitutive relations that connect the electric and magnetic field components. Assuming for a moment that the medium under consideration is not bian-isotropic, we can write

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r}) = \varepsilon_0 \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}) + \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r}) - \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r})$$
(3.30)

where P(r) and M(r) denote the polarisation and magnetisation fields, respectively.

Polarisation and magnetisation are themselves complicated functions of the electric field  $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r})$  and the magnetic induction  $\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r})$ . Assuming that the medium responds linearly and locally to externally applied fields, the most general relations between the fields that are consistent with causality and the linear fluctuation-dissipation theorem can be cast into the form

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t) = \varepsilon_0 \int_0^\infty d\tau \, \chi_{\rm e}(\mathbf{r},\tau) \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t-\tau) + \mathbf{P}_{\rm N}(\mathbf{r},t) \,, \tag{3.31}$$

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{r},t) = \frac{1}{\mu_0} \int_0^\infty d\tau \, \chi_{\rm m}(\mathbf{r},\tau) \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},t-\tau) - \mathbf{M}_{\rm N}(\mathbf{r},t)$$
(3.32)

where  $\mathbf{P}_{N}(\mathbf{r}, t)$  and  $\mathbf{M}_{N}(\mathbf{r}, t)$  are the noise polarisation and magnetisation, respectively, that are associated with absorption in the medium with electric and magnetic susceptibilities  $\chi_{e}(\mathbf{r}, \tau)$  and  $\chi_{m}(\mathbf{r}, \tau)$ .
The Fourier transformed expressions (3.31) and (3.32) convert the constitutive relations (3.30) into

$$\mathbf{D}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \quad \mathbf{H}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \kappa_0 \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega) \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},\omega) - \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \quad (3.33)$$

 $[\kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega)=\mu^{-1}(\mathbf{r},\omega)]$  where

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) = 1 + \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \,\chi_{\mathrm{e}}(\mathbf{r},\tau) e^{i\omega\tau}, \qquad \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega) = 1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tau \,\chi_{\mathrm{m}}(\mathbf{r},\tau) e^{i\omega\tau}$$
(3.34)

are the relative dielectric permittivity and (inverse) magnetic permability, respectively. An immediate consequence of the causal relation (3.34) is the validity of Kramers–Kronig (Hilbert transform) relations between the real and imaginary parts of the susceptibilities in Fourier space,

$$\operatorname{Re}\chi(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \frac{1}{\pi} \mathcal{P}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega' \frac{\operatorname{Im}\chi(\mathbf{r},\omega')}{\omega'-\omega}, \quad \operatorname{Im}\chi(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -\frac{1}{\pi} \mathcal{P}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega' \frac{\operatorname{Re}\chi(\mathbf{r},\omega')}{\omega'-\omega}.$$
(3.35)

Using the expressions (3.34) for the dielectric permittivity and the magnetic permeability, Maxwell's equations for the Fourier components can thus be written as

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = 0, \qquad (3.36)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \qquad (3.37)$$

$$\varepsilon_0 \nabla \cdot [\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}, \omega)] = \rho_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}, \omega),$$
(3.38)

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times [\kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega)\mathbf{B}(\mathbf{r},\omega)] + i\frac{\omega}{c^2}\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \mu_0 \mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega).$$
(3.39)

Here we have introduced the noise charge density

$$\rho_{\rm N}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{P}_{\rm N}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \tag{3.40}$$

and noise current density

$$\mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -i\omega\mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{M}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \qquad (3.41)$$

respectively, which by construction obey the continuity equation.

Equations (3.38) and (3.39) now contain source terms. Hence, the electromagnetic field in absorbing media is driven by Langevin noise forces that are due to the presence of absorption itself. Moreover, the particular combination in which the noise polarisation and magnetisation enter Maxwell's equations, Eq. (3.41), suggests that dielectric and magnetic properties cannot be uniquely distinguished. For example, one might include the magnetisation in the transverse polarisation in which case the constitutive relations (3.30) would have to be altered. This simple observation implies that the constitutive relations in the present form cannot be the fundamental relations. Instead, the noise current density appears as the fundamental source of the electromagnetic field. This becomes even more apparent if one allows for spatial dispersion that makes the

dielectric response functions nonlocal in configuration space. It is therefore expedient to rewrite Eqs. (3.38) and (3.39) as

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_0 \omega \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \qquad (3.42)$$

and to consider the most general linear response relation between the current density and the electric field in the form of a generalised Ohm's law as

$$\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \int d^3r' \, \boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) + \mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$$
(3.43)

where  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is the complex conductivity tensor in the frequency domain [37].

The Onsager-Lorentz reciprocity theorem demands the conductivity tensor to be reciprocal,  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = Q^{T}(\mathbf{r}', \mathbf{r}, \omega)$ . The two spatial arguments must be kept separate in general, except for translationally invariant bulk media in which the conductivity only depends on the difference  $\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'$ , i.e. in this case  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \equiv Q(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ . We assume that, for chosen  $\omega$ , the conductivity tensor is sufficiently well-behaved. By that we mean that it tends to zero sufficiently rapidly as  $|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'| \to \infty$  and has no non-integrable singularities. However,  $\delta$  functions and their derivatives must be permitted to allow for the spatially nondispersive limit. The real part of  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ ,

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \operatorname{Re}\boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{1}{2} \left[ \boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) + \boldsymbol{Q}^{+}(\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{r},\omega) \right], \qquad (3.44)$$

is connected with the dissipation of electromagnetic energy and for absorbing media, as an integral kernel, associated with a positive definite operator [37]. Under suitable assumptions on the causality conditions satisfied by its temporal Fourier transform  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', t)$ , the conductivity tensor is analytic in the upper complex  $\omega$  half-plane, satisfies Kramers–Kronig (Hilbert transform) relations, and obeys the Schwarz reflection principle

$$\boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',-\omega^*) = \boldsymbol{Q}^*(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega).$$
(3.45)

We now identify the current density (3.43) as the one entering macroscopic Maxwell's equations in the frequency domain. The medium-assisted electric field thus satisfies an integrodifferential equation of the form

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) - i\mu_0 \omega \int d^3 r' \, \boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) = i\mu_0 \omega \mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \,. \tag{3.46}$$

The unique solution to the Helmholtz equation (3.46) is

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_0\omega \int d^3r' \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(3.47)

where  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is the classical Green tensor that satisfies Eq. (3.46) with a tensorial  $\delta$  function source,

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) - i\mu_0 \omega \int d^3 r' \, \boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}', \mathbf{s}, \omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{s}) \quad (3.48)$$

together with the boundary conditions at infinity. It inherits all properties such as analyticity in the upper complex  $\omega$  half-plane, the validity of the Schwarz reflection principle, as well as Onsager–Lorentz reciprocity from the conductivity tensor, viz.

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{r},\omega) = \boldsymbol{G}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega), \qquad (3.49)$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',-\omega^*) = \boldsymbol{G}^*(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega). \qquad (3.50)$$

In addition, the Green tensor satisfies an important integral relation that can be derived as follows. The integro-differential equation (3.48) can be rewritten as

$$\int d^3s \, \boldsymbol{H}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') \tag{3.51}$$

where the integral kernel  $H(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \nabla \times \nabla \times \delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') - \omega^2 / c^2 \delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') - i\mu_0 \omega Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is reciprocal, from which Eq. (3.49) follows. With that, the complex conjugate of Eq. (3.51) reads

$$\int d^3 s \, \boldsymbol{G}^+(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{H}^+(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') \,.$$
(3.52)

If we now multiply Eq. (3.51) from the left with  $G^+(\mathbf{s}', \mathbf{r}, \omega)$  and integrate over  $\mathbf{r}$ , then multiply Eq. (3.52) from the right with  $G(\mathbf{r}', \mathbf{s}', \omega)$  and integrate over  $\mathbf{r}'$ , and finally subtract the resulting two equations, we find that for real  $\omega$  the integral equation

$$\mu_0 \omega \int d^3 s \int d^3 s' \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{s}', \omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^+(\mathbf{s}', \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$$
(3.53)

holds [38] (see also App. A).

Up until this point, all our investigations regarded classical electrodynamics. In order to quantise the theory, we have to regard the Langevin noise sources  $\mathbf{j}_N(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  as operators with the commutation relation

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{N}(\mathbf{r},\omega),\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{N}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega')\right] = \frac{\hbar\omega}{\pi}\delta(\omega-\omega')\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega), \qquad (3.54)$$

which follows from the fluctuation-dissipation theorem associated with the linear response (3.43). In this way, the operator of the electric field strength is given by the operator-valued version of Eq. (3.47) as

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \text{h.c.} , \quad \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_0 \omega \int d^3 r' \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{j}}_{N}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) . \quad (3.55)$$

The consistency of this quantisation procedure can be proven by checking the fundamental equal-time commutation relation between the operators of the electric field and the magnetic induction. Using Faraday's law, Eq. (3.37), we find the frequency components of the magnetic induction field as

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \,\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \text{h.c.}, \quad \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \mu_0 \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \int d^3 r' \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega).$$
(3.56)

Hence, the equal-time commutator reads, on using the commutation relation (3.54) and the integral formula (3.53), as

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}')\right] = \frac{2i\hbar\mu_0}{\pi} \nabla_{\mathbf{r}'} \times \int_0^\infty d\omega \,\omega \,\mathrm{Im}\, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_0 c^2} \nabla_{\mathbf{r}'} \times \int_{-\infty}^\infty d\omega \,\omega \,\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \,,$$
(3.57)

where the second equality follows from the Schwarz reflection principle. Using the analyticity properties of the Green tensor in the upper complex  $\omega$  half-plane, we then convert the integral along the real  $\omega$  axis into a large semi-circle in the upper half-plane. From the integro-differential equation (3.48) and the properties of the conductivity tensor  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  we find the asymptotic form of the Green tensor for large frequencies as

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \stackrel{|\omega|\to\infty}{\simeq} -\frac{c^2}{\omega^2} \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'), \qquad (3.58)$$

so that the equal-time field commutator takes its final form of

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}')\right] = -\frac{i\hbar}{\varepsilon_0} \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}') = -\frac{i\hbar}{\varepsilon_0} \nabla \times \boldsymbol{\delta}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}').$$
(3.59)

The striking feature is that the field commutator (3.59) is exactly the same as in free-space quantum electrodynamics [Eq. (2.40)], despite the presence of an absorbing dielectric background material. This fact reinforces the view that the fields **E** and **B** represent the degrees of freedom of the electromagnetic field alone and have little to do with any material degrees of freedom. The apparent discrepancy with the notion of the expansion (3.55) as a medium-assisted electric field is resolved by interpreting the Green tensor as the integral kernel of a projection operator onto the electromagnetic degrees of freedom. Finally, the Langevin noise currents  $\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{N}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  can be renormalized to a bosonic vector field by taking the 'square-root' of the tensor  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)$  (which exists because of its positivity in case of absorbing media). Writing

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \int d^3 s \, \boldsymbol{K}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s},\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{K}^+(\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{s},\omega) \,, \tag{3.60}$$

and defining

$$\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \left(\frac{\hbar\omega}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} \int d^3r' \, \boldsymbol{K}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(3.61)

where

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega),\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega')\right] = \delta(\omega-\omega')\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'), \qquad (3.62)$$

the expansion (3.55) of the frequency components of the operator of the electric field strength finally becomes

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_0\omega\sqrt{\frac{\hbar\omega}{\pi}}\int d^3r'\int d^3s\,\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\cdot\boldsymbol{K}(\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{s},\omega)\cdot\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{s},\omega)\,.$$
(3.63)

**Hamiltonian:** In order to complete the quantisation scheme, we need to introduce a Hamiltonian as a function of the Langevin noise sources  $\hat{\mathbf{j}}_N(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{j}}_N^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  or, equivalently, in terms of the bosonic dynamical variables  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$ . Imposing the constraint that the Hamiltonian should generate a time evolution according to

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega),\hat{H}\right] = \hbar\omega\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \qquad (3.64)$$

the Hamiltonian must be of the form [38]

$$\hat{H} = \pi \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \int d^{3}r \int d^{3}r' \,\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{\rho}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(3.65)

where  $\rho(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is the inverse of the integral operator associated with  $\sigma(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ . In terms of the bosonic dynamical variables, the Hamiltonian is diagonal,

$$\hat{H} = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \int d^{3}r \,\hbar\omega \,\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$$
(3.66)

which is its most commonly used form [33, 39, 40]. Perhaps surprisingly, it closely resembles its free-space counterpart, Eq. (2.37), in that it is bilinear in its dynamical variables. The reason behind this behaviour is that any linear reponse theory can be derived from an underlying microscopic model that is bilinear in its constituent amplitude operators which, after a suitable Bogoliubov-type transformation, leads to a Hamiltonian of the form (3.66). An example is provided by the Huttner–Barnett model of a homogeneous, isotropic dielectric (Sec. 3.1.1).

Spatially local, isotropic, inhomogeneous dielectric media: We now apply the general theory to some special cases that are of practical importance. Let us begin with the simplest, and historically first, example of a spatially nondispersive, isotropic and inhomogeneous dielectric material that shows no magnetic response. The neglect of spatial dispersion makes the conductivity tensor  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  strictly local, so that  $\sigma(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \sigma(\mathbf{r}, \omega)\delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')$ . Furthermore, isotropy means that  $\sigma(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = \sigma(\mathbf{r}, \omega)I$ . If we then make the identification  $\sigma(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = \varepsilon_0 \omega \text{Im } \chi(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  where  $\chi(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  is the dielectric susceptibility, Eq. (3.63) becomes

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_0}}\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \int d^3r' \sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\chi(\mathbf{r}',\omega)}\,\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\cdot\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(3.67)

which yields the well-known quantisation scheme for a locally responding dielectric material [33, 39, 41–46].

**Spatially dispersive homogeneous bulk media:** As a second example, we consider an infinitely extended homogeneous material for which  $Q(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is translationally invariant [38,47]. That is, it is only a function of the difference  $\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'$ . In this case, we represent  $\sigma(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  as the spatial Fourier transform

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} \,\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{k},\omega) e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')} \,. \tag{3.68}$$

A similar decomposition can be made for the integral kernel  $K(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ . For an isotropic medium without optical activity, the Fourier components  $\sigma(\mathbf{k}, \omega)$  can be written as [37]

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \sigma_{\parallel}(k,\omega)\frac{\mathbf{k}\otimes\mathbf{k}}{k^2} + \sigma_{\perp}(k,\omega)\left(\boldsymbol{I} - \frac{\mathbf{k}\otimes\mathbf{k}}{k^2}\right)$$
(3.69)

and similarly for  $K(\mathbf{k},\omega)$ , where the expansion coefficients have to be replaced by their positive square-roots  $\sigma_{\parallel}^{1/2}(k,\omega)$  and  $\sigma_{\perp}^{1/2}(k,\omega)$ 

Clearly, the decomposition (3.69) is not unique as  $\sigma(\mathbf{k}, \omega)$  can be equivalently decomposed into

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \sigma_{\parallel}(k,\omega)\boldsymbol{I} - \mathbf{k} \times \gamma(k,\omega)\boldsymbol{I} \times \mathbf{k}$$
(3.70)

where

$$\gamma(k,\omega) = \left[\sigma_{\perp}(k,\omega) - \sigma_{\parallel}(k,\omega)\right]/k^2.$$
(3.71)

Since both  $\sigma_{\parallel}(k,\omega)$  and  $\sigma_{\perp}(k,\omega)$  have to be real and positive to yield a positive definite integral kernel  $\sigma(\mathbf{k},\omega)$ , the new variable  $\gamma(k,\omega)$  is real, too. However, it does not have a definite sign. If, on the other hand, one forces  $\gamma(k,\omega)$  to be positive, then the tensor

$$\boldsymbol{K}'(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \sigma_{\parallel}^{1/2}(k,\omega)\boldsymbol{I} \pm \gamma^{1/2}(k,\omega)\boldsymbol{I} \times \mathbf{k}$$
(3.72)

is the positive square-root of the integral kernel  $\sigma(\mathbf{k}, \omega)$ . The kernels  $\mathbf{K}'(\mathbf{k}, \omega)$  and  $\mathbf{K}(\mathbf{k}, \omega)$ , despite being different, are related by a unitary transformation [38].

**Spatially local magnetoelectric media:** The local limit of the above theory has a rather interesting structure. If one assumes that the functions  $\sigma_{\parallel}(k,\omega)$  and  $\gamma(k,\omega)$  vary sufficiently slowly with k and possess well-defined long-wavelength limits  $\lim_{k\to 0} \sigma_{\parallel}(k,\omega) = \sigma_{\parallel}(\omega) > 0$  and  $\lim_{k\to 0} \gamma(k,\omega) = \gamma(\omega) > 0$ , one finds the approximation

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \sigma_{\parallel}(\omega)\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') - \gamma(\omega)\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')\times\mathbf{\nabla}'.$$
(3.73)

The full conductivity tensor associated with that real part (real and imaginary parts are related by a Hilbert transform) is then

$$\boldsymbol{Q}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = Q^{(1)}(\omega)\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') - Q^{(2)}(\omega)\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'$$
(3.74)

with the identifications

$$Q^{(1)}(\omega) = -i\varepsilon_0 \omega \left[\varepsilon(\omega) - 1\right], \quad Q^{(2)}(\omega) = -i\kappa_0 \left[1 - \kappa(\omega)\right] / \omega, \qquad (3.75)$$

where  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  is the dielectric permittivity and  $\mu(\omega) = 1/\kappa(\omega)$  the (para-)magnetic permeability of the medium. Note that the requirement  $\gamma(\omega) > 0$  implies that  $\text{Im } \kappa(\omega) < 0$  for  $\omega > 0$ , from which it follows that  $\mu(\omega \to 0) > 1$  [4]. This in turn means that this theory can only describe paramagnetic materials. Diamagnetic materials are intrinsically nonlinear as their response functions themselves depend on the magnetic field and thus are excluded from a linear-response formalism. The noise current density that is derived from the kernel

$$\boldsymbol{K}'(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \sigma_{\parallel}^{1/2}(\omega)\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \mp \gamma^{1/2}(\omega)\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')$$
(3.76)

[which follows from Eq. (3.73)] can be decomposed into longitudinal and transverse parts,  $\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}\parallel}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}\perp}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  with

$$\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}\parallel}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}} \omega \sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\omega)}\,\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\parallel}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\,, \qquad (3.77)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{\mathrm{N}\perp}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}}\omega\sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\omega)}\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \mp i\sqrt{\frac{\hbar\kappa_0}{\pi}}\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \left[\sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{Im}\,\mu(\omega)}{|\mu(\omega)|^2}}\,\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\perp}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\right].$$
(3.78)

The distinction between longitudinal and transverse components of the noise current density (and subsequently the bosonic dynamical variables) is essentially a projection formalism, and the  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\parallel(\perp)}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  are termed projective variables [38].

Another, more frequently used decomposition is obtained by redistributing the electric part of the transverse noise current density. In this way, two new sets of independent bosonic variables,  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}_e(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}_m(\mathbf{r},\omega)$ , are introduced that lead to an equivalent decomposition of the noise current according to [33,40]

$$\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{Ne}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}} \omega \sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)} \,\hat{\mathbf{f}}_e(\mathbf{r},\omega) \,, \qquad (3.79)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{Nm}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \mp i \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\kappa_0}{\pi}} \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \left[ \sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{Im}\,\mu(\mathbf{r},\omega)}{|\mu(\mathbf{r},\omega)|^2}} \,\hat{\mathbf{f}}_m(\mathbf{r},\omega) \right] \,, \tag{3.80}$$

in which the possible spatial dependencies of the dielectric permittivity and the paramagnetic permeability have been reinstated (see Ref. [38] for details). The Hamiltonian (3.66) takes the form

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3r \int_0^\infty d\omega \,\hbar\omega \,\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \,.$$
(3.81)

Finally, the electric field (3.63) and the magnetic induction can be written as

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3r' \, \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) \,, \qquad (3.82)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \frac{1}{i\omega} \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3 r' \left[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(3.83)

with the definitions

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{e}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = i\frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}}\sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_{0}}}\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)}\,\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\,, \qquad (3.84)$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{m}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = -i\frac{\omega}{c}\sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_{0}}\frac{\mathrm{Im}\,\mu(\mathbf{r},\omega)}{|\mu(\mathbf{r},\omega)|^{2}}}\left[\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right],\qquad(3.85)$$

where  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is the usual classical Green tensor satisfying Eq. (3.48). The latter Helmholtz equation condenses to (see also App. A)

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega) \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \,. \tag{3.86}$$

For completeness, we mention that the integral relation (3.53) can be cast into the form

$$\sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3 s \, \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s},\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda}^+(\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{s},\omega) = \frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_0} \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \,. \tag{3.87}$$

Alternatively, the electric and magnetic noise current densities (3.79) and (3.80) can be recast into the form of noise polarisation and magnetisation fields

$$\hat{\mathbf{j}}_{Ne}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -i\omega\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{N}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \quad \hat{\mathbf{j}}_{Nm}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{N}(\mathbf{r},\omega).$$
(3.88)

Then, the electromagnetic fields read in terms of these noise fields as

$$\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \frac{\omega^2}{\varepsilon_0 c^2} \int d^3 r' \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) 
-i\mu_0 \omega \int d^3 r' \left[ \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega),$$
(3.89)

$$\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_{0}\omega \int d^{3}r' \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) -\mu_{0} \int d^{3}r' \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega), \qquad (3.90)$$
$$\hat{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -i\frac{\omega}{c^{2}}\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) \int d^{3}r' \left[\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$

$$+\frac{\omega^2}{c^2}\int d^3r' \left[\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) + \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')\right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega), \qquad (3.91)$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -i\frac{\omega}{\mu(\mathbf{r},\omega)} \int d^3r' \left[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) - \int d^3r' \left[ \frac{\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'}{\mu(\mathbf{r},\omega)} + \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega) .$$
(3.92)

**Statistical properties:** Thermal expectation values of the electromagnetic field can be obtained from those of the dynamical variables. Assuming the electromagnetic field in thermal equilibrium with temperature T, it may be described by a (canonical) density operator

$$\hat{\varrho}_T = \frac{e^{-\hat{H}_F/(k_B T)}}{\operatorname{tr} e^{-\hat{H}_F/(k_B T)}}$$
(3.93)

[ $k_B$ : Boltzmann constant]. Thermal averages  $\langle \dots \rangle_T = tr[\dots \hat{\varrho}_T]$  of the dynamical variables are thus given by

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \rangle_{T} = \mathbf{0} = \langle \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \rangle_{T},$$
(3.94)

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda'}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = \mathbf{0} = \langle \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda'}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T}, \qquad (3.95)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda'}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega) \delta_{\lambda\lambda'} \delta(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \delta(\omega-\omega'), \qquad (3.96)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda'}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = [\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega)+1] \,\delta_{\lambda\lambda'} \delta(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}') \delta(\omega-\omega') \,, \tag{3.97}$$

where

$$\bar{n}_{\rm th}(\omega) = \frac{\sum_m m e^{-m\hbar\omega/(k_B T)}}{\sum_m e^{-m\hbar\omega/(k_B T)}} = \frac{1}{e^{\hbar\omega/(k_B T)} - 1}$$
(3.98)

is the average thermal photon number. This translates into the statistical properties of the electromagnetic fields as follows:

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \rangle_T = \mathbf{0} = \langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \rangle_T,$$
 (3.99)

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_T = \mathbf{0} = \langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_T, \qquad (3.100)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = \frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_{0}} \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega) \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \mathrm{Im} \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \delta(\omega-\omega') \,, \qquad (3.101)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = \frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_{0}} \left[ \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega) + 1 \right] \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \mathrm{Im} \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \delta(\omega-\omega') \,, \quad (3.102)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \rangle_T = \mathbf{0} = \langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \rangle_T,$$
 (3.103)

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_T = \mathbf{0} = \langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_T, \qquad (3.104)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{\pi} \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega) \mathrm{Im} \left[ \nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla} \right] \delta(\omega-\omega') (3.105)$$

$$\langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega') \rangle_{T} = \frac{n\mu_{0}}{\pi} \left[ \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega) + 1 \right] \mathrm{Im} \left[ \nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla} \right] \delta(\omega - \omega') \,.$$
(3.106)

These expressions will be needed for the calculation of relaxation rates (Sec. 4) and dispersion forces (Sec. 5).

## 3.1.3 Duality transformations

An important symmetry of the Maxwell's equations in free space is duality where interchanging electric and magnetic fields yields the same differential equations. Here we will show that this type of symmetry can be established even within the framework of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics. At first, we consider macroscopic QED without external charges and currents. We group the fields into dual pairs and rewrite Maxwell's equations as

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{D}} \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{B}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{E}} \\ \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} + \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{D}} \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{B}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.107)$$

where the constitutive relations are combined to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{D}} \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{B}} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{c} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{E}} \\ \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{P}} \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \mu_0 \hat{\mathbf{M}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.108)

A general rotation  $\mathcal{D}(\theta)$  in the space of dual pairs can be written as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{y} \end{pmatrix}^{\star} = \mathcal{D}(\theta) \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{x} \\ \mathbf{y} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{D}(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta & \sin \theta \\ -\sin \theta & \cos \theta \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.109)

It is easily checked that Maxwell's equations (3.107) in free space with constitutive relations (3.108) is invariant under rotations of the form (3.109).

In the presence of spatially local magnetoelectric materials, the constitutive relations in frequency space can be further specified to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{D}} \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{B}} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{c} \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \hat{\mathbf{E}} \\ \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{H}} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}} \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \mu_0 \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(3.110)

Invariance of the constitutive relations (3.110) under the duality transformation (3.109) requires that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon^{\star} & 0\\ 0 & \mu^{\star} \end{pmatrix} = \mathcal{D}(\theta) \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon & 0\\ 0 & \mu \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}^{-1}(\theta) = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon \cos^2 \theta + \mu \sin^2 \theta & (\mu - \varepsilon) \sin \theta \cos \theta\\ (\mu - \varepsilon) \sin \theta \cos \theta & \varepsilon \sin^2 \theta + \mu \cos^2 \theta \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.111)

which can be fulfilled in two ways. The first is obtained if the dielectric permittivity of the material equals its magnetic permeability,  $\varepsilon = \mu$ . This is achieved in free space as well as by certain metamaterials, for example by a perfect lens with  $\varepsilon = \mu = -1$  [48]. In this case duality is a continuous symmetry which holds for all angles  $\theta$ .

Generally, duality holds only for discrete values of the rotation angle,  $\theta = n\pi/2$  with  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . In this case, the transformation results in

$$\begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon \\ \mu \end{pmatrix}^{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos^2 \theta & \sin^2 \theta \\ \sin^2 \theta & \cos^2 \theta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon \\ \mu \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{P}}_N \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \mu_0 \hat{\mathbf{M}}_N \end{pmatrix}^{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta & \mu \sin \theta \\ -\varepsilon^{-1} \sin \theta & \cos \theta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_0} \hat{\mathbf{P}}_N \\ \sqrt{\varepsilon_0} \mu_0 \hat{\mathbf{M}}_N \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.112)

It should be remarked that, not only are Maxwell's equations invariant under the discrete duality transformation, but also the Hamiltonian that generates them. To see this, one can derive the transformation properties of the dynamical variables from the relations (3.112) which read for  $\theta = n\pi/2$  as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{f}}_e \\ \hat{\mathbf{f}}_m \end{pmatrix}^{\star} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta & -i(\mu/|\mu|)\sin\theta \\ -i(|\varepsilon|/\varepsilon)\sin\theta & \cos\theta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\mathbf{f}}_e \\ \hat{\mathbf{f}}_m \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.113)

These transformations obviously leave the Hamiltonian (3.81) invariant. Combining all relevant transformation relations, we can collect the duality relations for all electromagnetic fields, the linear response functions, and dipole moments, in Tab. 3.1. These relations allow one to establish novel results for magnetic (electric) materials and atoms in terms of already known results from

Partners	Transformation					
$\hat{\mathbf{E}}, \hat{\mathbf{H}}:$	$\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\star} = c\mu_0 \hat{\mathbf{H}},$	$\hat{\mathbf{H}}^{\star} = -\hat{\mathbf{E}}/(c\mu_0)$				
$\hat{\mathbf{D}}, \hat{\mathbf{B}}$ :	$\hat{\mathbf{D}}^{\star} = c\varepsilon_0 \hat{\mathbf{B}},$	$\hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\star} = -\hat{\mathbf{D}}/(c\varepsilon_0)$				
$\hat{\mathbf{P}}, \hat{\mathbf{M}}$ :	$\hat{\mathbf{P}}^{\star} = \hat{\mathbf{M}}/c,$	$\hat{\mathbf{M}}^{\star} = -c\hat{\mathbf{P}}$				
$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_A, \hat{\mathbf{M}}_A$ :	$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}^{\star} = \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{A}/c,$	$\hat{\mathbf{M}}_{A}^{\star} = -c\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}$				
$\hat{\mathbf{d}}, \hat{\mathbf{m}}$ :	$\hat{\mathbf{d}}^{\star} = \hat{\mathbf{m}}/c$ ,	$\hat{\mathbf{m}}^{\star} = -c\hat{\mathbf{d}}$				
$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}, \hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}$ :	$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\star}=\mu\hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}/c$ ,	$\hat{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathrm{N}}^{\star} = -c\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{N}}/arepsilon$				
$\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{e},\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{m}$ :	$\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{e}^{\star}=-i(\mu/ \mu )\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{m},$	$\hat{\mathbf{f}}_m^{\star} = -i( \varepsilon /\varepsilon)\hat{\mathbf{f}}_e$				
$\varepsilon, \mu$ :	$\varepsilon^{\star} = \mu$ ,	$\mu^{\star} = \varepsilon$				
$\alpha$ , $\beta$ :	$\alpha^{\star} = \beta/c^2,$	$\beta^{\star} = c^2 \alpha$				

Tab. 3.1. Effect of the duality transformation.

their corresponding dual electric (magnetic) counterparts. Finally, duality does not only hold on the operator level in macroscopic QED without external charges and currents, but can also be established for derived atomic quantities. It is shown in Ref. [49] that dispersion forces as well as decay rates are all duality invariant, provided that the bodies are stationary and located in free space and that local-field corrections are applied when considering atoms embedded in a medium. The duality invariance of dispersion forces is further discussed and exploited in Sec. 5.

### 3.2 Light propagation through absorbing dielectric devices

In a previous section (Sec. 2.1.3) we developed the theory of quantum-state transformation at lossless beam splitters which accounts for a unitary transformation between the photonic amplitude operators associated with incoming and outgoing light. Unitarity is directly related to conservation of photon number during the beam splitter transformation. It is already intuitively clear that in the presence of losses, i.e. absorption, photon-number conservation and thus unitarity cannot be upheld, at least not on the level of the photonic amplitude operators. Having said that, because we have constructed a bilinear Hamiltonian of the electromagnetic field even in the presence of absorbing dielectrics, Eq. (3.81), there will be a unitary evolution associated with the medium-assisted electromagnetic field, but not with the (free) electromagnetic field alone.

In order to see how the restricted evolution emerges, we consider again a one-dimensional model of a beam splitter that consists of a (planarly) multilayered dielectric structure surrounded by free space (see Fig. 2.1). As opposed to a mode decomposition in the lossless case, we seek the Green function associated with the light scattering at the multilayered stack. In this one-dimensional model, the Green function reduces to a scalar function which can be constructed by fitting bulk Green functions at the interfaces between regions of piecewise constant permittivity [50]. Knowledge of the Green function amounts to knowledge of the transmission, reflection and absorption coefficients associated with impinging light of frequency  $\omega$ . Similar decompositions can be made for three-dimensional structures with translational invariance [51].

It turns out that the input-output relations (2.52) have to be amended by a term associated with absorption in the beam splitter,

$$\mathbf{b}(\omega) = \mathbf{T}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{a}}(\omega) + \mathbf{A}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{g}}(\omega), \qquad (3.114)$$

where  $\hat{g}_i(\omega)$  denote (bosonic) variables associated with excitations in the dielectric material (device operators) with complex refractive index  $n(\omega) = \eta(\omega) + i\kappa(\omega)$ , and  $A(\omega)$  the absorption matrix. This expression is a direct consequence of the expansion of the electromagnetic field operators in terms of the dynamical variables. It is shown in Ref. [50] that the device operators are integrated dynamical variables over the beam splitter and read

$$\hat{g}_{1,2}(\omega) = i\sqrt{\frac{\omega}{2c\lambda_{\pm}(d,\omega)}} e^{in(\omega)\omega d/(2c)} \int_{-d/2}^{d/2} dx \left[ e^{in(\omega)\omega x/c} \pm e^{-in(\omega)\omega x/c} \right] \hat{f}(x,\omega)$$
(3.115)

where

$$\lambda_{\pm}(d,\omega) = e^{-\kappa(\omega)\omega d/c} \left\{ \frac{\sinh[\kappa(\omega)\omega d/c]}{\kappa(\omega)} \pm \frac{\sin[\eta(\omega)\omega d/c]}{\eta(\omega)} \right\} .$$
(3.116)

The transmission and absorption matrices obey the relation

$$T(\omega) \cdot T^{+}(\omega) + A(\omega) \cdot A^{+}(\omega) = I$$
(3.117)

which serves as the generalisation of the above-mentioned energy conservation relation (2.48). Equation (3.117) says that the probabilities of a photon being transmitted, reflected or absorbed add up to one. Hence, photon numbers and thus energy is conserved only if one includes absorption. For a single plate of thickness *d* surrounded by vacuum, the matrix elements read [33, 50]

$$T_{11}(\omega) = T_{22}(\omega) = -e^{-i\omega d/c} r(\omega) \left[ 1 - t_1(\omega) e^{2in(\omega)\omega d/c} D(\omega) t_2(\omega) \right], \quad (3.118)$$

$$T_{12}(\omega) = T_{21}(\omega) = e^{-i\omega d/c} t_1(\omega) e^{in(\omega)\omega d/c} D(\omega) t_2(\omega), \qquad (3.119)$$
  

$$A_{11}(\omega) = A_{21}(\omega) = \sqrt{\eta(\omega)\kappa(\omega)} e^{-i\omega d/(2c)} t_1(\omega) D(\omega) \sqrt{\lambda_+(d,\omega)}$$

$$A_{11}(\omega) = A_{21}(\omega) = \sqrt{\eta(\omega)\kappa(\omega)}e^{-i\omega u/(2c)}t_1(\omega)D(\omega)\sqrt{\lambda_+(d,\omega)} \\ \times \left[1 + e^{in(\omega)\omega d/c}r(\omega)\right], \qquad (3.120)$$

$$A_{12}(\omega) = -A_{22}(\omega) = \sqrt{\eta(\omega)\kappa(\omega)}e^{-i\omega d/(2c)}t_1(\omega)D(\omega)\sqrt{\lambda_-(d,\omega)} \times \left[1 - e^{in(\omega)\omega d/c}r(\omega)\right].$$
(3.121)

The interface reflection and transmission coefficients are functions of the index of refraction and are defined as

$$r(\omega) = \frac{n(\omega) - 1}{n(\omega) + 1}, \quad t_1(\omega) = \frac{2}{1 + n(\omega)}, \quad t_2(\omega) = \frac{2n(\omega)}{1 + n(\omega)}, \quad (3.122)$$

and the factor  $D(\omega) = [1 - r^2(\omega)e^{2in(\omega)\omega d/c}]^{-1}$  accounts for multiple reflections inside the plate. These coefficients are special cases of the generalised Fresnel coefficients for *p*-polarisation and normal incidence (see App. A.4).

The input-output relations (3.114) translate into a generalised quantum-state transformation formula. For this purpose, we need to look into an enlarged Hilbert space for the electromagnetic field and the dielectric object. With the four-dimensional vectors  $\hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\omega) = [\hat{\mathbf{a}}(\omega), \hat{\mathbf{g}}(\omega)]^{\mathrm{T}}$  and

 $\hat{\beta}(\omega) = [\hat{\mathbf{b}}(\omega), \hat{\mathbf{h}}(\omega)]^{\mathrm{T}}$ , the input-output relations can be extended to a unitary matrix transformation of the form

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\omega) = \boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\omega) \tag{3.123}$$

where the unitary  $4 \times 4$ -matrix  $\Lambda(\omega)$  is an element of the group SU(4) and can be expressed in terms of the transmission and absorption matrices as [52]

$$\boldsymbol{\Lambda}(\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{T}(\omega) & \boldsymbol{A}(\omega) \\ -\boldsymbol{S}(\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{C}^{-1}(\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{T}(\omega) & \boldsymbol{C}(\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{S}^{-1}(\omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{A}(\omega) \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.124)

where  $C(\omega) = \sqrt{T(\omega) \cdot T^+(\omega)}$  and  $S(\omega) = \sqrt{A(\omega) \cdot A^+(\omega)}$ . Given a density operator  $\hat{\varrho}$  as a functional of the input operators  $\hat{\alpha}$ ,  $\hat{\varrho}_{in} = \hat{\varrho}_{in}[\hat{\alpha}(\omega), \hat{\alpha}^{\dagger}(\omega)]$ , the transformed density operator of the photonic degress of freedom alone is then [52]

$$\hat{\varrho}_{\text{out}}^{(F)} = \text{tr}^{(D)} \left\{ \hat{\varrho}_{\text{in}} \left[ \mathbf{\Lambda}^{+}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}(\omega), \mathbf{\Lambda}^{\text{T}}(\omega) \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}^{\dagger}(\omega) \right] \right\},$$
(3.125)

where  $\operatorname{tr}^{(D)}$  denotes the trace over the device variables. As a first illustrative example, we consider the transformation of coherent states at an absorbing beam splitter. If we assume that both the incoming electromagnetic field as well as the beam splitter are prepared in two-mode coherent states  $|\alpha\rangle$  and  $|\beta\rangle$  with respective amplitudes  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , application of the input-output relations (3.114) [or equivalently, the quantum-state transformation (3.125)] reveals that the outgoing fields are prepared in a two-mode coherent state

$$|\alpha'\rangle = |T \cdot \alpha + A \cdot \beta\rangle.$$
 (3.126)

Hence, the transformed amplitudes are determined not only by the transmission matrix T but also by the absorption matrix A [33].

This theory has wide-ranging applications that include nonclassicality studies of light propagation through optical elements and entanglement degradation in optical fibres [53, 54]. We mention here two important results relating to propagation of two-mode quantum states of light through optical fibres. Consider a two-mode squeezed vacuum state with squeezing parameter  $\xi$ being sent through identical optical fibres of length l that are held at a temperature T. We regard the optical fibres as essentially one-dimensional objects whose effect on the quantum states of light propagating through them can be described by the input-output theory presented above. The optical fibres are characterized by their absorption length  $l_{abs}$  which implies that we approximate their transmission coefficient associated with them by  $|T|^2 = e^{-l/l_{abs}}$ . Furthermore, a nonzero temperature T gives rise to a mean thermal photon number  $\bar{n}_{th} = [e^{\hbar\omega/(k_BT)} - 1]^{-1}$ .

As a two-mode squeezed vacuum is a Gaussian state, it is fully characterized by its first and second moments, the mean and covariances of its Wigner function or characteristic function, respectively. For the quantum state under consideration, the mean is zero and its covariance matrix is

$$\mathbf{\Gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 & s & 0 \\ 0 & c & 0 & -s \\ s & 0 & c & 0 \\ 0 & -s & 0 & c \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{array}{c} c & = & \cosh 2\xi \,, \\ s & = & \sinh 2\xi \,. \end{array}$$
(3.127)

The covariance matrix  $\Gamma$  transforms under an arbitrary completely positive map as

$$\Gamma \mapsto \Gamma' = A \cdot \Gamma \cdot A^{\mathrm{T}} + G \tag{3.128}$$

where G is a positive symmetric matrix and A an arbitrary matrix, provided that the resulting covariance matrix  $\Gamma'$  is a valid covariance matrix, i.e. obeys Heisenberg's uncertainty relation  $\Gamma' + i\Sigma \ge 0$  [ $\Sigma$ : symplectic matrix]. The non-orthogonality of the matrix A is a direct consequence of dissipation, and G is the additional noise as required by the fluctuation-dissipation theorem. The general structure (3.128) clearly also follows from the application of the quantumstate transformation formula (3.125).

Using the input-output relations (3.114), we find that the entries in the covariance matrix  $\Gamma$  change according to [55]

$$c \mapsto c|T|^2 + |R|^2 + (2\bar{n}_{\rm th} + 1)(1 - |T|^2 - |R|^2), \quad s \mapsto s|T|^2, \tag{3.129}$$

which translates into a transformation of the covariance matrix as

$$\mathbf{\Gamma} \mapsto |T|^2 \mathbf{\Gamma} + \left[ |R|^2 + (2\bar{n}_{\rm th} + 1)(1 - |T|^2 - |R|^2) \right] \mathbf{I}$$
(3.130)

from which the matrices A and G can be read off as A = |T|I and  $G = [|R|^2 + (2\bar{n}_{th} + 1)(1 - |T|^2 - |R|^2)]I$ , respectively.

The entanglement content of a two-mode squeezed vacuum state, expressed in terms of its negativity [56], is  $E_N = 2\xi$ . At zero temperature, and neglecting coupling losses into the fibres, the maximal amount of entanglement (in the limit of infinite initial squeezing) that can be transmitted through the fibres is  $E_{N,\max} = -\ln(1 - e^{-l/l_{\text{abs}}})$ . For finite initial squeezing, and at finite temperature T, the state becomes separable, i.e. it loses all its entanglement, after the separability length

$$l_S = \frac{l_{\rm abs}}{2} \ln \left[ 1 + \frac{1}{2\bar{n}_{\rm th}} \left( 1 - e^{-2\xi} \right) \right] \,. \tag{3.131}$$

Note that at zero temperature this separability length is infinite, i.e. in this case it is always possible to transmit some entanglement over arbitrary distances.

#### 3.3 Medium-assisted interaction of the quantised electromagnetic field with atoms

Up until now, our emphasis has been on devising a quantisation scheme for the electromagnetic field in the presence of magnetoelectric background materials, but without external sources. The starting point had been the definition of derived electromagnetic quantities such as the displacement field  $\mathbf{D}$  and the magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}$  in terms of the matter-related quantities  $\mathbf{P}$  and  $\mathbf{M}$ , the polarisation and magnetisation fields [Eq. (3.30)]. However, the definition of the latter is not unique as parts of them may be associated with magnetoelectric background media, whereas other parts could be attributed to additional atomic or molecular sources not included in the background matter. It is these additional sources that give rise to a successful theory of microscopic-dielectric interfaces.

In close analogy to the free-space case, the medium-assisted electromagnetic field can be coupled to an atomic system consisting of non-relativistic spinless charged particles via the minimal-coupling scheme. The dynamics of the combined atom-field system is governed by the Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3 r \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{[\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha} \hat{\mathbf{A}}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha})]^2}{2m_{\alpha}} \\ + \sum_{\alpha \neq \alpha'} \frac{q_{\alpha} q_{\alpha'}}{8\pi\varepsilon_0 |\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha'}|} + \int d^3 r \, \hat{\rho}_A(\mathbf{r}) \hat{\phi}(\mathbf{r})$$
(3.132)

where

$$\hat{\rho}_A(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} \delta(\mathbf{r} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha})$$
(3.133)

is the charge density of the particles. The vector and scalar potentials  $\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r})$  and  $\hat{\phi}(\mathbf{r})$  of the medium-assisted electromagnetic field are expressed in terms of the dynamical variables  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  as

$$\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \frac{1}{i\omega} \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \text{h.c.}, \quad -\boldsymbol{\nabla}\hat{\phi}(\mathbf{r}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\parallel}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \text{h.c.}. \quad (3.134)$$

The total electromagnetic fields are the sums of the medium-assisted fields and the fields associated with the atomic system,

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) - \nabla \hat{\phi}_A(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.135)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{B}}(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.136)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{D}}(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{r}) - \varepsilon_0 \nabla \hat{\phi}_A(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.137)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.138)$$

where

$$\hat{\phi}_A(\mathbf{r}) = \int d^3 r' \frac{\hat{\rho}_A(\mathbf{r}')}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'|}$$
(3.139)

is the scalar potential of the charged particles. In those cases in which the atomic system consists of sufficiently localized particles such as in an atom or molecule, it is expedient to introduce shifted particle coordinates  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} = \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}$  relative to the center of mass  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A} = \sum_{\alpha} (m_{\alpha}/m_{A})\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}$ [with the total mass  $m_{A} = \sum_{\alpha} m_{\alpha}$ ]. Expanding the vector and scalar potentials  $\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r})$  and  $\hat{\phi}(\mathbf{r})$ around the center of mass, the Hamiltonian (3.132) simplifies for globally neutral atomic systems  $[q_{A} = \sum_{\alpha} q_{\alpha} = 0]$  to the electric dipole Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_F + \hat{H}_A + \hat{H}_{AF} \tag{3.140}$$

where

$$\hat{H}_F = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3r \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \,, \qquad (3.141)$$

$$\hat{H}_{A} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}^{2}}{2m_{\alpha}} + \sum_{\alpha \neq \alpha'} \frac{q_{\alpha}q_{\alpha'}}{8\pi\varepsilon_{0}|\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha'}|}, \qquad (3.142)$$

$$\hat{H}_{AF} = \left. \hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \hat{\phi}(\mathbf{r}) \right|_{\mathbf{r} = \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}} - \sum_{\alpha} \frac{q_{\alpha}}{2m_{\alpha}} \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{A}}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{q_{\alpha}^{2}}{2m_{\alpha}} \hat{\mathbf{A}}^{2}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}).$$
(3.143)

Recall that the electric dipole moment is given by Eq. (2.98).

Equations (3.141)–(3.143) could form the starting point for investigations into interaction of the medium-assisted electromagnetic field with atomic systems in the long-wavelength approximation. However, as for free-space QED, the treatment can be considerably simplified by transforming using the alternative multipolar coupling scheme. To this end, we again apply a Power–Zienau transformation [20–22]

$$\hat{U} = \exp\left[\frac{i}{\hbar} \int d^3 r \,\hat{\mathbf{P}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{A}}(\mathbf{r})\right]$$
(3.144)

where the polarisation  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_A$  is still defined by Eq. (2.92), but the vector potential  $\hat{\mathbf{A}}$  is given by Eq. (3.134) in the presence of magnetoelectrics, as opposed to the expansion (2.35) valid in free space. The unitary operator transformation  $\hat{O}' = \hat{U}\hat{O}\hat{U}^{\dagger}$  with the operator (3.144) leads to transformed dynamical variables  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}'_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  as [57]

$$\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}'(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \frac{1}{\hbar\omega} \int d^3r' \,\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}^{\perp}(\mathbf{r}') \cdot \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda}^{+}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(3.145)

and thus transformed electric fields (2.99). The magnetic induction field remains unchanged by this transformation,  $\hat{\mathbf{B}}'(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$ , because it clearly commutes with the operator of the vector potential. Other quantities that remain unchanged are those that depend solely on the atomic position operators  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}'_{\alpha} = \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}$  such as the atomic scalar potential,  $\hat{\phi}'_A(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\phi}_A(\mathbf{r})$ , and the polarisation and magnetisation fields. The atomic momentum operators, however, transform as [57]

$$\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}' = \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha} - q_{\alpha}\hat{\mathbf{A}}(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}) - \int d^3r \,\hat{\mathbf{\Xi}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$$
(3.146)

where we have defined the auxiliary vectors

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\Xi}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) = q_{\alpha}\hat{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{m_{\alpha}}{m_{A}}\sum_{\beta}q_{\beta}\hat{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}_{\beta}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{m_{\alpha}}{m_{A}}\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.147)$$

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\Theta}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \int_{0}^{1} ds \, s \delta(\mathbf{r} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A} - s \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}) \,. \tag{3.148}$$

With these preparations, we can now write down the Hamiltonian (3.132) in terms of the transformed variables as

$$\hat{H}' = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3r \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}'(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_0} \int d^3r \, \hat{\mathbf{P}}_A^2(\mathbf{r}) \\ - \int d^3r \, \hat{\mathbf{P}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}'(\mathbf{r}) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{1}{2m_{\alpha}} \left[ \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}' + \int d^3r \, \hat{\mathbf{\Xi}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \right]^2. \quad (3.149)$$

It should be mentioned that, due to the unitary nature of the Power-Zienau transformation, the commutation relations between the transformed atomic position and momentum operators  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}'$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{\alpha}$  as well as between the transformed dynamical variables  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}'_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}'^{\dagger}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  are unchanged. The fields  $\hat{E}'(r)$  and  $\hat{B}'(r)$  have to be thought of as being expanded in terms of the transformed dynamical variables in the same way as the untransformed fields are expanded in terms of the untransformed dynamical variables.

In the long-wavelength approximation, one replaces the function  $\delta(\mathbf{r} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_A - s\hat{\mathbf{r}}_\alpha)$  by its value at  $s = 0, \, \delta(\mathbf{r} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_A)$ , so that the polarisation and the auxiliary fields reduce to

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}(\mathbf{r}) = \hat{\mathbf{d}}\delta(\mathbf{r} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}), \quad \hat{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{2}\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha}\delta(\mathbf{r} - \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}), \quad \hat{\mathbf{\Xi}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) = q_{\alpha}\hat{\mathbf{\Theta}}_{\alpha}(\mathbf{r}) + \frac{m_{\alpha}}{2m_{A}}\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}(\mathbf{r}). \quad (3.150)$$

Upon using these simplifications, we obtain the multipolar Hamiltonian (3.149) in long-wavelength approximation as

$$\hat{H}' = \hat{H}'_F + \hat{H}'_A + \hat{H}'_{AF} \tag{3.151}$$

where

$$\hat{H}'_F = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3r \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \hbar \omega \, \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\prime}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \,, \qquad (3.152)$$

$$\hat{H}'_{A} = \sum_{\alpha} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}^{\prime 2}}{2m_{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{0}} \int d^{3}r \, \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) \,, \qquad (3.153)$$

$$\hat{H}'_{AF} = -\hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}'(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}) - \hat{\mathbf{m}}' \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}'(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}) + \sum_{\alpha} \frac{q_{\alpha}^{2}}{8m_{\alpha}} \left[\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}'(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A})\right]^{2} + \frac{3}{8m_{A}} \left[\hat{\mathbf{d}} \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}'(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A})\right]^{2} + \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{A}}{m_{A}} \cdot \left[\hat{\mathbf{d}} \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}'(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A})\right], \qquad (3.154)$$

where

$$\hat{\mathbf{m}}' = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha} \frac{q_{\alpha}}{m_{\alpha}} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \times \hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{\alpha}$$
(3.155)

is the magnetic dipole operator,  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}'_A = \sum_{\alpha} \hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{\alpha}$ , and  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{\alpha} = \hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{\alpha} - (m_{\alpha}/m_A)\hat{\mathbf{p}}'_A$ . At the moment, the magnetic dipole moment operator comprises only the contribution from the angular momentum. Spin can be included via a Pauli interaction term in Eq. (3.132) leading

to

$$\hat{\mathbf{m}}' = \sum_{\alpha} \left[ \frac{q_{\alpha}}{2m_{\alpha}} \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{\alpha} \times \hat{\mathbf{p}}'_{\alpha} + \gamma_{\alpha} \hat{\mathbf{s}}_{\alpha} \right]$$
(3.156)

 $(\hat{\mathbf{s}}_{\alpha}: \text{ particle spin}, \gamma_{\alpha}: \text{ gyromagnetic ratio})$  [58].

The scheme can be easily extended to include more than one atomic subensemble. In the minimal-coupling scheme, this leads to interatomic Coulomb interactions in Eq. (3.132) which is why the multipolar-coupling scheme is strongly preferable. In this case, Eq. (3.151) generalises to [130]

$$\hat{H}' = \hat{H}'_F + \sum_A \left[ \hat{H}'_A + \hat{H}'_{AF} \right] \,, \tag{3.157}$$

where the dynamics of each atom is given by a Hamiltonian of the form (3.153) and each atom couples individually to the electromagnetic field via coupling Hamiltonians of the form (3.154).

As in the free-space case, we will henceforth treat all atom-field couplings within the framework of the multipolar coupling scheme and drop all primes denoting multipolar variables.

#### 3.4 Nonlinear quantum electrodynamics

In all previous (as well as all subsequent) sections we have concentrated on magnetoelectric background materials whose dielectric (and magnetic) response to an external perturbation can be described within the framework of linear-response theory. That is, polarisation and magnetisation fields are linearly and causally related to the primary electromagnetic fields. For purely dielectric media, this means that [cf. Eq. (3.31)]

$$\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{r},t) = \varepsilon_0 \int_0^\infty d\tau \, \chi(\mathbf{r},\tau) \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},t-\tau) + \mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},t)$$
(3.158)

where  $\chi(\mathbf{r}, \tau)$  is the dielectric susceptibility. However, many materials show nonlinear behaviour, i.e. their dielectric response has to be described by a polarisation with a component that depends quadratically (cubically, quartically etc.) on the external electric field. In free space where dispersion and absorption are disregarded and a mode expansions of the electromagnetic field can be used, the effect of these nonlinear polarisations is to add interaction Hamiltonians that are cubic (quartic, quintic etc.) in the photonic amplitude operators (see, e.g. [59]). These effective Hamiltonians arise from off-resonant interactions with atomic systems in rotating-wave approximation [see, e.g. Eq. (2.143)]. Our aim is to extend this theory to nonlinear processes in absorbing matter where mode expansions generally do not hold.

For this purpose, we consider an interaction Hamiltonian in its most general normal-ordered form corresponding to a  $\chi^{(2)}$  medium. Using the abbreviation **k** as a short-hand for the collection of spatial and frequency variables  $\mathbf{k} \equiv (\mathbf{r}_k, \omega_k)$ , this interaction Hamiltonian can be written as [60]

$$\hat{H}_{\rm NL} = \int d\mathbf{1} \, d\mathbf{2} \, d\mathbf{3} \, \alpha_{ijk}(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, \mathbf{3}) \hat{f}_i^{\dagger}(\mathbf{1}) \hat{f}_j(\mathbf{2}) \hat{f}_k(\mathbf{3}) + \text{h.c.}$$
(3.159)

with an as yet unknown coupling tensor  $\alpha_{ijk}(\mathbf{1}, \mathbf{2}, \mathbf{3})$  that will eventually have to be (linearly) related to the second-order nonlinear susceptibility  $\chi_{ijk}^{(2)}$ . The integration initially ranges over all frequencies, even including those frequencies that would not guarantee energy conservation.

The Hamiltonian (3.159), together with the Hamiltonian  $\dot{H}_{\rm L}$  of the linear theory (we include the index L here to distinguish it from the nonlinear interaction Hamiltonian), is now used to construct the time-dependent Maxwell equations such as Faraday's law  $\nabla \times \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = -\dot{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$  as

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = -\frac{1}{i\hbar} \left[ \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} + \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}} \right] \,. \tag{3.160}$$

The fields  $\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r})$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$  have to be thought of as being expanded in terms of the dynamical variables  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{f}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)$ . Since Faraday's law is valid irrespective of the presence of matter, and by definition  $[\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\rm L}]/(i\hbar) = \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r})$ , we must have

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}}\right] = \mathbf{0}, \qquad (3.161)$$

which is a condition that is needed in the next step. We write Ampère's law  $\nabla \times \hat{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{r}) = \dot{\hat{\mathbf{D}}}(\mathbf{r})$ , using Faraday's law, as

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = -\mu_0 \ddot{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{r}) = -\mu_0 \ddot{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}) - \mu_0 \ddot{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{r})$$
(3.162)

where we split up the total displacement field  $\hat{\mathbf{D}}(\mathbf{r})$  into its linear part,

$$\hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}) = \varepsilon_0 \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) + \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{L}}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r}), \qquad (3.163)$$

and some nonlinear polarisation  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{NL}(\mathbf{r})$ . Heisenberg's equations of motion then imply that

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{\mu_0}{\hbar^2} \left[ \left[ \hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} \right], \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} \right] + \frac{\mu_0}{\hbar^2} \left[ \left[ \hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} \right], \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}} \right] + \frac{\mu_0}{\hbar^2} \left[ \left[ \hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}} \right], \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} \right] + \frac{\mu_0}{\hbar^2} \left[ \left[ \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} \right], \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}} \right]$$
(3.164)

where we kept only those terms that are at most linear in the coupling tensor  $\alpha_{ijk}$ . The terms that have been left out have to be included into higher order nonlinear processes. The first term on the rhs of Eq. (3.164) is by definition equal to the lhs of the same equation. The second term on its rhs vanishes because of the constraint (3.161). The remaining two terms have to satisfy

$$\left[\hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}}\right] = -\left[\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}}\right]$$
(3.165)

which yields a solution for the nonlinear polarisation  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{NL}(\mathbf{r})$ . Note that the double commutator has been reduced to a single commutator as it turns out that a general solution would have to include functionals that commute with  $\hat{H}_{L}$  whose contributions can be shown to diverge [61] and thus have to be discarded.

The way to solve Eq. (3.165) is to view its rhs as being the Liouvillian generated by  $\hat{H}_{\rm L}$ , i.e.  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{\rm L} \bullet = (i\hbar)^{-1} [\bullet, \hat{H}_{\rm L}]$ , whose inverse can be formally written as

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{r}) = -\frac{1}{i\hbar} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{\mathrm{L}}^{-1} \left[ \hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}} \right].$$
(3.166)

The action of the inverse Liouvillian on an operator  $\hat{O}$  is given by

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{\rm L}^{-1} \hat{O} = \lim_{s \to 0} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, e^{-st} e^{-i\hat{H}_{\rm L}t/\hbar} \hat{O} e^{i\hat{H}_{\rm L}t/\hbar}$$
(3.167)

which can be checked by direct calculation, with the result that

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{\mathrm{NL}}(\mathbf{r}) = -\frac{1}{i\hbar} \lim_{s \to 0} \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \, e^{-st} e^{-i\hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}}t/\hbar} \left[ \hat{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathrm{L}}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{\mathrm{NL}} \right] e^{i\hat{H}_{\mathrm{L}}t/\hbar} \,. \tag{3.168}$$

Before we continue solving this equation, we remark that due to the decomposition of the linear displacement field (3.163) into a reactive part and a Langevin noise contribution  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{L}(\mathbf{r})$ , the nonlinear polarisation also contains a contribution,  $\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{NL}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r}) = -(i\hbar)^{-1}\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{L}^{-1}[\hat{\mathbf{P}}_{L}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r}), \hat{H}_{L}]$ , that disappears identically with vanishing absorption and can thus be regarded as the nonlinear noise polarisation. The result of the Liouvillian inversion can be cast into the form [60,61]

$$\hat{P}_{\mathrm{NL},m}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}} \int d\mathbf{0} \, d\mathbf{2} \, d\mathbf{3} \, \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{0})}}{\omega_2 + \omega_3} \alpha_{njk}(\mathbf{0},\mathbf{2},\mathbf{3}) \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) G_{mn}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{0}) \hat{f}_j(\mathbf{2}) \hat{f}_k(\mathbf{3}) 
+ \frac{1}{i\hbar} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}} \int d\mathbf{0} \, d\mathbf{1} \, d\mathbf{3} \, \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{0})}}{\omega_1 - \omega_3} \alpha^*_{imk}(\mathbf{1},\mathbf{0},\mathbf{3}) \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) G_{mn}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{0}) \hat{f}_k^{\dagger}(\mathbf{3}) \hat{f}_i(\mathbf{1}) 
+ \mathrm{h.c.} + \hat{P}_{\mathrm{NL},m}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r})$$
(3.169)

with

$$\hat{P}_{\mathrm{NL},m}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}} \int d\mathbf{0} \, d\mathbf{2} \, d\mathbf{3} \, \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{0})}}{\omega_2 + \omega_3} \alpha_{njk}(\mathbf{0},\mathbf{2},\mathbf{3}) \delta(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{s}) \hat{f}_j(\mathbf{2}) \hat{f}_k(\mathbf{3}) \\
+ \frac{1}{i\hbar} \sqrt{\frac{\hbar\varepsilon_0}{\pi}} \int d\mathbf{0} \, d\mathbf{1} \, d\mathbf{3} \, \frac{\sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{0})}}{\omega_1 - \omega_3} \alpha_{imk}^*(\mathbf{1},\mathbf{0},\mathbf{3}) \delta(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{s}) \hat{f}_k^{\dagger}(\mathbf{3}) \hat{f}_i(\mathbf{1}) \\
+ \mathrm{h.c.}$$
(3.170)

and the notation  $\mathbf{0} = (\mathbf{s}, \omega)$ .

From Eqs. (3.169) and (3.170) it is hard to see how the coupling tensor  $\alpha_{ijk}$  has to be related to the nonlinear susceptibility. Instead, we invoke comparison with the definition of the nonlinear polarisation from classical nonlinear response theory [59],

$$P_{\mathrm{NL},m}(\mathbf{r},t) = \varepsilon_0 \int_{-\infty}^{t} d\tau' \, d\tau'' \, \chi_{mrs}^{(2)}(\mathbf{r},t-\tau',t-\tau'') E_r(\mathbf{r},\tau') E_s(\mathbf{r},\tau'') + P_{\mathrm{NL},m}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r},t)$$
(3.171)

and introduce slowly varying electric fields whose (non-overlapping) amplitudes are centred at the mid-frequencies  $\Omega_i$  with  $\Omega_0 = \Omega_1 + \Omega_2$  such that

$$\tilde{P}_{\mathrm{NL},m}(\mathbf{r},\Omega,t) = \varepsilon_0 \chi_{mrs}^{(2)}(\mathbf{r},\Omega_0,\Omega_1,\Omega_2) \tilde{E}_r(\mathbf{r},\Omega_1) \tilde{E}_s(\mathbf{r},\Omega_2) + \tilde{P}_{\mathrm{NL},m}^{(N)}(\mathbf{r},\Omega_0,t) .$$
(3.172)

Expressing the electric fields in Eq. (3.172) in terms of slowly varying dynamical variables and comparing with the slowly varying version of Eq. (3.169) yields the sought after relation between  $\alpha_{ijk}$  and  $\chi_{ijk}^{(2)}$  as [60,61]

$$\alpha_{ijk}(\mathbf{r},\Omega_{0},\mathbf{s}_{2},\Omega_{2},\mathbf{s}_{3},\Omega_{3}) = \frac{\hbar^{2}}{i\pi c^{2}}\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\hbar\varepsilon_{0}}}\sqrt{\frac{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{s}_{2},\Omega_{2})\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{s}_{3},\Omega_{3})}{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}_{2},\Omega_{0})}}$$
$$\times H_{li}(\mathbf{r},\Omega_{0})\left[\frac{\chi_{imn}^{(2)}(\mathbf{r},\Omega_{2},\Omega_{3})}{\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\Omega_{0})}G_{mj}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}_{2},\Omega_{2})G_{nk}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}_{3},\Omega_{3})\right] \quad (3.173)$$

where  $H_{li}(\mathbf{r}, \Omega_0)$  are the cartesian components of the Helmholtz operator, or equivalently, the integral operator associated with the inverse dyadic Green function.

Reinserted into the nonlinear interaction Hamiltonian (3.159), and combined with the dynamical variables, Eq. (3.173) will yield a formulation in terms of electromagnetic field operators. What becomes immediately clear, though, is that  $\hat{H}_{\rm NL}$  will not be of the form  $\hat{H}_{\rm NL} \propto \chi_{ijk}^{(2)} \hat{E}_i^{\dagger} \hat{E}_j \hat{E}_k$  as in standard nonlinear optics. Mathematically, the reason is that there is no third Green tensor in Eq. (3.173). Instead, an inverse Green function (or Helmholtz operator) has to be dealt with which, by formally expanding it into a power series, will lead to additional contributions to the standard nonlinear interaction. The physical reason for this behaviour has to be sought in the fact that, from a microscopic point of view, an effective nonlinear interaction does not take place in free space but rather inside the absorbing medium where the local electric field is altered by the presence of the dielectric material. To account for that, local-field corrections such as those discussed in Sec. A.6 have to be included which automatically yields additional contributions to the nonlinear interaction Hamiltonian that are not of the standard form.

## 4 Atomic relaxation rates

The first set of applications we consider in this review regards the theory of atomic transition rates. In this section we discuss the influence of dielectric bodies towards atomic relaxation and heating rates, and some of their experimental ramifications.

To begin, it is necessary to study the dynamics of internal atomic degrees of freedom in the presence of absorbing magnetoelectric matter. In Sec. 3.3 we derived the Hamiltonian of the system comprising the medium-assisted electromagnetic field, the atomic system and their mutual interaction (here taken in the electric dipole approximation) as

$$\hat{H} = \hat{H}_F + \hat{H}_A + \hat{H}_{AF} \tag{4.1}$$

with

$$\hat{H}_F = \sum_{\lambda=e,m} \int d^3r \int_0^\infty d\omega \,\hbar\omega \,\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \tag{4.2}$$

the Hamiltonian of the medium-assisted electromagnetic field [Eq. (3.152)] in the presence of magnetoelectric bodies. The free atomic Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_A$  [Eq. (3.153)] is expanded into atomic energy eigenstates  $|n\rangle$ ,

$$\hat{H}_A = \sum_n \hbar \omega_n \hat{A}_{nn} \,, \tag{4.3}$$

with the corresponding eigenenergies  $\hbar \omega_n$ , and the atomic flip operators  $\hat{A}_{mn} = |m\rangle \langle n|$  obeying the commutation rules

$$\left[\hat{A}_{kl}, \hat{A}_{mn}\right] = \delta_{lm} \hat{A}_{kn} - \delta_{kn} \hat{A}_{ml} \,. \tag{4.4}$$

The electric-dipole interaction Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_{AF}$  which, in multipolar coupling, is given by  $\hat{H}_{AF} = -\hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_A)$  [first term in Eq. (3.154)], is expanded in terms of the energy eigenstates as

$$\hat{H}_{AF} = -\sum_{m,n} \mathbf{d}_{mn} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_A) \hat{A}_{mn}$$
(4.5)

where  $\mathbf{d}_{mn} = \langle m | \hat{\mathbf{d}} | n \rangle$  are the matrix elements of the dipole operator. Recall that we have dropped all primes on the electromagnetic field operators that indicate the multipolar coupling.

In similar fashion to the free-space theory outlined in Sec. 2.2.1, the internal atomic dynamics is governed by the solution to the coupled set of Heisenberg's equations of motion ( $\omega_{mn} = \omega_m - \omega_n$ )

$$\dot{\hat{A}}_{mn} = \frac{i}{\hbar} \left[ \hat{A}_{mn}, \hat{H} \right] = i\omega_{mn} \hat{A}_{mn} 
+ \frac{i}{\hbar} \sum_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \left[ \left( \mathbf{d}_{nk} \hat{A}_{mk} - \mathbf{d}_{km} \hat{A}_{kn} \right) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) 
+ \hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) \cdot \left( \mathbf{d}_{nk} \hat{A}_{mk} - \mathbf{d}_{km} \hat{A}_{kn} \right) \right]$$
(4.6)

and

$$\dot{\hat{\mathbf{f}}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \frac{i}{\hbar} \left[ \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \hat{H} \right] = -i\omega \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \frac{i}{\hbar} \sum_{m,n} \mathbf{d}_{mn} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r},\omega) \hat{A}_{mn} \,. \tag{4.7}$$

We formally integrate Eq. (4.7) as

$$\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega,t) = e^{-i\omega t} \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega) + \frac{i}{\hbar} \sum_{m,n} \int_{0}^{t} d\tau \, e^{-i\omega(t-\tau)} \mathbf{d}_{mn} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{\lambda}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r},\omega) \hat{A}_{mn}(\tau) \qquad (4.8)$$

and reinsert this formal solution into Eq. (4.6) and obtain

$$\dot{\hat{A}}_{mn}(t) = i\omega_{mn}\hat{A}_{mn}(t) + \frac{i}{\hbar}\sum_{k}\int_{0}^{\infty}d\omega \left\{ e^{-i\omega t} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{nk}\hat{A}_{mk}(t) - \mathbf{d}_{km}\hat{A}_{kn}(t) \right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) + e^{i\omega t}\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) \cdot \left[ \mathbf{d}_{nk}\hat{A}_{mk}(t) - \mathbf{d}_{km}\hat{A}_{kn}(t) \right] \right\} + \hat{Z}_{mn}(t)$$

$$(4.9)$$

where

$$\hat{Z}_{mn}(t) = -\frac{\mu_0}{\hbar\pi} \sum_{k,l,j} \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \omega^2 \int_0^t d\tau \\
\times \left\{ \left[ e^{-i\omega(t-\tau)} \hat{A}_{mk}(t) \hat{A}_{lj}(\tau) - e^{i\omega(t-\tau)} \hat{A}_{lj}(\tau) \hat{A}_{mk}(t) \right] \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{lj} \\
- \left[ e^{-i\omega(t-\tau)} \hat{A}_{kn}(t) \hat{A}_{lj}(\tau) - e^{i\omega(t-\tau)} \hat{A}_{lj}(\tau) \hat{A}_{kn}(t) \right] \mathbf{d}_{kn} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{lj} \right\}$$
(4.10)

is the zero-point contribution to the internal atomic dynamics due to the second term in Eq. (4.8). A self-consistent solution is obtained if Eq. (4.9) is formally integrated as

$$\hat{A}_{mn}(t) = e^{i\tilde{\omega}_{mn}t}\hat{A}_{mn}(0) + \frac{i}{\hbar}\sum_{k}\int_{0}^{\infty}d\omega\int_{0}^{t}d\tau e^{i\tilde{\omega}_{mn}(t-\tau)} \\
\times \left\{ e^{-i\omega\tau} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{nk}\hat{A}_{mk}(\tau) - \mathbf{d}_{mk}\hat{A}_{kn}(\tau) \right] \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) \\
+ e^{i\omega\tau}\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) \cdot \left[ \mathbf{d}_{nk}\hat{A}_{mk}(\tau) - \mathbf{d}_{mk}\hat{A}_{kn}(\tau) \right] \right\},$$
(4.11)

reinserted into Eq. (4.9), and (thermal) expectation values being taken. The  $\tilde{\omega}_{mn}$  are the shifted atomic transition frequencies. Using the thermal expectation values for the electromagnetic field operators given in Sec. 3.1.2, Eqs. (3.99)–(3.102), what remains is a set of coupled differential equations for the atomic quantities,

$$\langle \dot{\hat{A}}_{mn} \rangle_T = i\omega_{mn} \langle \hat{A}_{mn} \rangle_T + \langle \hat{Z}_{mn} \rangle_T + \langle \hat{T}_{mn} \rangle_T , \qquad (4.12)$$

where the thermal contributions  $\langle \hat{T}_{mn} \rangle_T$  read  $(\bar{n}_{th} = [e^{\hbar \omega / (k_B T)} - 1]^{-1})$ 

$$\langle \hat{T}_{mn} \rangle_{T} = \frac{\mu_{0}}{\hbar \pi} \sum_{k,l} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \omega^{2} \bar{n}_{th}(\omega) \int_{0}^{t} d\tau \left[ e^{-i\omega(t-\tau)} + e^{i\omega(t-\tau)} \right]$$

$$\times \left\{ e^{i\tilde{\omega}_{mk}(t-\tau)} \left[ \langle \hat{A}_{ml} \rangle_{T} \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kl} - \langle \hat{A}_{lk} \rangle_{T} \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{lm} \right]$$

$$- e^{i\tilde{\omega}_{kn}(t-\tau)} \left[ \langle \hat{A}_{kl} \rangle_{T} \mathbf{d}_{km} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{nl} - \langle \hat{A}_{ln} \rangle_{T} \mathbf{d}_{km} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{lk} \right] \right\},$$

$$(4.13)$$

recall Eq. (4.10). These sets of equations form the basis for all following investigations in internal atomic dynamics.

### 4.1 Modified spontaneous decay and body-induced Lamb shift, local-field corrections

For weak atom-field coupling, these expressions can be further evaluated using the Markov approximation (see Sec. 2.2.1) in which the expectation values at times  $\tau$  can be related to those at the upper limit t of the time integrals as

$$\langle \hat{A}_{mn}(\tau) \rangle_T \simeq e^{-i\tilde{\omega}_{mn}(t-\tau)} \langle \hat{A}_{mn}(t) \rangle_T \,. \tag{4.14}$$

The time integrals themselves are approximated as in the free-space theory by

$$\int_{0}^{t} d\tau \, e^{-i(\omega - \tilde{\omega}_{mn})(t-\tau)} \simeq \pi \delta(\omega - \tilde{\omega}_{mn}) + i\mathcal{P} \frac{1}{\omega - \tilde{\omega}_{mn}} \,. \tag{4.15}$$

Introducing the atomic density matrix elements  $\sigma_{mn} = \langle m | \hat{\sigma} | n \rangle = \langle \hat{A}_{nm} \rangle$ , the set of differential equations reduces to

$$\dot{\sigma}_{nn}(t) = -\Gamma_n \sigma_{nn}(t) + \sum_k \Gamma_{kn} \sigma_{kk}(t), \qquad (4.16)$$

$$\dot{\sigma}_{mn}(t) = \left[-i\tilde{\omega}_{mn} - \frac{1}{2}\left(\Gamma_m + \Gamma_n\right)\right]\sigma_{mn}(t), \quad m \neq n.$$
(4.17)

These equations resemble closely those obtained in free-space theory. One can identify individual decay rates  $\Gamma_{nk}$  from state  $|n\rangle$  to  $|k\rangle$ , and total loss rates  $\Gamma_n = \sum_k \Gamma_{nk}$  of a level  $|n\rangle$ . The individual rates contain zero-point [superscript (Z)] as well as thermal [superscript (T)] contributions,  $\Gamma_{nk} = \Gamma_{nk}^{(Z)} + \Gamma_{nk}^{(T)}$ , with

$$\Gamma_{nk}^{(Z)} = \frac{2\mu_0}{\hbar} \tilde{\omega}_{nk}^2 \Theta(\tilde{\omega}_{nk}) \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \tilde{\omega}_{nk}) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn}, \qquad (4.18)$$

$$\Gamma_{nk}^{(T)} = \frac{2\mu_0}{\hbar} \tilde{\omega}_{nk}^2 \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, |\tilde{\omega}_{nk}|) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn} \left[\Theta(\tilde{\omega}_{nk})\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\tilde{\omega}_{nk}) + \Theta(\tilde{\omega}_{kn})\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\tilde{\omega}_{kn})\right] .$$
(4.19)

Similarly, the shifted atomic transition frequencies  $\tilde{\omega}_{mn} = \omega_{mn} + \delta\omega_m - \delta\omega_n$  depend on the frequency shifts  $\delta\omega_m = \sum_k \delta\omega_{nk}$  where the zero-point and thermal contributions to the level shift induced by a single level  $|k\rangle$  read

$$\delta\omega_{nk}^{(Z)} = \frac{\mu_0}{\pi\hbar} \mathcal{P} \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \omega^2 \frac{\mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn}}{\tilde{\omega}_{nk} - \omega} \,, \tag{4.20}$$

$$\delta\omega_{nk}^{(T)} = \frac{\mu_0}{\pi\hbar} \mathcal{P} \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \omega^2 \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn} \left[ \frac{\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega)}{\tilde{\omega}_{nk} - \omega} + \frac{\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega)}{\tilde{\omega}_{nk} + \omega} \right] \,.$$
(4.21)

In  $\delta \omega_{nk}^{(Z)}$ , we have explicitly used the scattering part  $\mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  of the dyadic Green function because we assume that the vacuum-induced Lamb shift has already been included into the bare atomic transition frequencies  $\omega_{mn}$ .

**Spontaneous decay of a two-level atom:** As an instructive example, let us consider a twolevel atom with energy levels  $|g\rangle$  and  $|e\rangle$  separated by an energy  $\hbar\omega_A = \hbar\omega_{eg}$  which we assume to contain the free-space Lamb shift. At zero temperature, the spontaneous decay rate  $\Gamma \equiv \Gamma^{(Z)}$ of the excited state  $|e\rangle$  is then given by Eq. (4.18) as [62, 63]

$$\Gamma = \frac{2\omega_A^2}{\hbar\varepsilon_0 c^2} \mathbf{d} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_A) \cdot \mathbf{d}^*$$
(4.22)

where we have neglected the shift in the atomic transition frequency  $\omega_A$ . This is the same result one would obtain using perturbation theory, i.e. Fermi's Golden Rule. We have noted previously that the rate of spontaneous decay in free space is proportional to the strength of the vacuum fluctuations of the electric field [Eq. (2.119)] which, by Eq. (3.102), is now seen to be proportional to the imaginary part of the dyadic Green function,

$$\langle 0|\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_A,\omega)\otimes\hat{\mathbf{E}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}_A,\omega_A)|0\rangle = \frac{\hbar}{\pi\varepsilon_0}\frac{\omega_A^2}{c^2} \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A,\mathbf{r}_A,\omega_A)\delta(\omega-\omega_A), \qquad (4.23)$$

which underpins our interpretation of  $\omega_A^2 \text{Im} G(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_A)$  as the local density of states. The rate  $\Gamma_0$  of spontaneous decay in vacuum, Eq. (2.120), is recovered by inserting the free-space Green tensor  $G^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  into Eq. (4.22).

To give a nontrivial example of how Eq. (4.22) can be used for investigating atom-surface interactions, we consider a two-level atom placed near a planar dielectric half-space with permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$ . The Green function for this structure is known (see Appendix A), and the result in the limit  $z_A\omega/c \ll 1$  reads [64,65]

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_0 \frac{3}{8} \left( 1 + \frac{|d_z|^2}{|\mathbf{d}|^2} \right) \left( \frac{c}{\omega_A z_A} \right)^3 \frac{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\omega_A)}{|\varepsilon(\omega_A) + 1|^2} + \mathcal{O}(z_A^{-1}) \,. \tag{4.24}$$

Hence, a dipole oriented perpendicular to a planar surface decays twice as fast as a dipole parallel to it. Note the difference to the spontaneous decay rate near a perfect mirror which approaches



Fig. 4.1. Atom at the centre of a spherical microcavity of radius  $R_{cav}$ .

finite values  $(2\Gamma_0 \text{ for perpendicular dipole orientation}, 0 \text{ for parallel dipole orientation})$  in the onsurface limit. In reality, however, nonradiative decay processes cause the near-field spontaneous decay rate to diverge.

Another important example, which has been used to investigate modified spontaneous decay inside a dielectric host medium [33, 63], is that of an atom in a spherical microcavity of radius  $R_{cav}$  (Fig. 4.1). We use the dyadic Green function presented in Appendix A and note that, if the atom is located at the centre of the microcavity, only the TM-wave spherical vector wave functions  $N_{pm1}(k)$  do not vanish. Inserting the result into Eq. (4.22) yields [33, 63]

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_0 \left[ 1 + \operatorname{Re} r_p^{22} (l=1) \right] \tag{4.25}$$

where the reflection coefficient  $r_p^{22}$  for l = 1 takes the form

$$r_p^{22}(l=1) = \frac{[i+\rho(n+1)-i\rho^2 n - \rho^3 n^2/(n+1)]e^{i\rho}}{\sin\rho - \rho(\cos\rho + in\sin\rho) + i\rho^2 n\cos\rho - \rho^3(\cos\rho - in\sin\rho)n^2/(n^2 - 1)}$$
(4.26)

 $[n = n(\omega) = \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega)}$  and  $\rho = R_{cav}\omega_A/c]$ . In the near-field limit, i.e. when the size of the microcavity is much smaller than the atomic transition wavelength, we can expand in powers of  $\rho = R_{cav}\omega_A/c \ll 1$  and obtain [see also Eq. (A.79)]

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_0 \operatorname{Im} \left\{ \frac{3(\varepsilon - 1)}{2\varepsilon + 1} \left( \frac{c}{\omega_A R_{\text{cav}}} \right)^3 + \frac{9[4\varepsilon^2 - 3\varepsilon - 1]}{5(2\varepsilon + 1)^2} \left( \frac{c}{\omega R_{\text{cav}}} \right) + i \frac{9\varepsilon^2 n}{(2\varepsilon + 1)^2} + \mathcal{O}(R_{\text{cav}}) \right\}$$
(4.27)

 $[\varepsilon \equiv \varepsilon(\omega_A), n \equiv \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega_A)}].$ 

The leading terms in both examples, Eqs. (4.24) and (4.27), are proportional to the inverse cube of the atom-surface distance. This is attributed to resonant energy transfer to the absorbing dielectric surroundings which is a nonradiative decay process [65–69]. The next-to-leading terms, the induction terms, are proportional to the inverse atom-surface distance and correspond to absorption of real photons. The nonradiative decay rates make it impossible to hold atoms or molecules near dielectric or metallic surfaces and use their internal states for coherent manipulation. The correct quantum-statistical description of the dielectric bodies also imply that the

suppression of spontaneous decay of a dipole parallel to a mirror surface (see Sec. 2.2.2) cannot be observed.

As the near-field contributions are proportional to the imaginary part of the permittivity,  $\text{Im }\varepsilon(\omega_A)$ , these terms will vanish if absorption can be disregarded at the atomic transition frequency  $\omega_A$ . In this case, the spontaneous decay rate is modified to [63, 70]

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_0 \left( \frac{3\varepsilon(\omega_A)}{2\varepsilon(\omega_A) + 1} \right)^2 n(\omega_A) \,. \tag{4.28}$$

The results for a small spherical cavity can also be used to study the decay of atoms embedded inside a medium. In this real-cavity model, the cavity implements the local-field correction arising due to the difference between the macroscopic field and the local field experienced by the atom. Using the local-field corrected Green tensor from Appendix A.6 one can show that, for weakly absorbing media, Eq. (4.28) remains valid for arbitrary geometries when written in the form

$$\Gamma_{\rm loc} = \Gamma \left( \frac{3\varepsilon(\omega_A)}{2\varepsilon(\omega_A) + 1} \right)^2 \,, \tag{4.29}$$

where  $\Gamma$  is the uncorrected decay rate. For absorbing media, the more general result

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_C + \frac{2\omega_A^2}{c^2\hbar\varepsilon_0} \mathbf{d} \cdot \operatorname{Im}\left[\left(\frac{3\varepsilon(\omega_A)}{2\varepsilon(\omega_A) + 1}\right)^2 \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_A)\right] \cdot \mathbf{d}^*$$
(4.30)

holds, where  $\Gamma_C$  is the near-field rate (4.27) [71].

#### 4.2 Sum rules for the local density of states

One of the principal cornerstones of macroscopic QED is the validity of Kramers–Kronig relations (3.35) for the response functions such as the dielectric permittivity, the magnetic permeability or the generalised conductivity. Equally important are sum rules that follow from asymptotic limits of these Hilbert transforms. Examples for sum rules in optics are the optical theorem that relates the imaginary part of the forward scattering amplitude to the total scattering cross section [2], or the Thomas–Reiche–Kuhn oscillator strength rule [72]. A particularly relevant relation for our purposes is the integral relation [73]

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \left[\eta(\omega) - 1\right] = 0 \tag{4.31}$$

satisfied by the real part  $\eta(\omega)$  of the complex index of refraction  $n(\omega) = \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega)\mu(\omega)} = \eta(\omega) + i\kappa(\omega)$ . This follows from the superconvergence theorem for Hilbert transform pairs [74]. It means that the propagation properties of light in a dielectric medium are redistributed in such a way that, averaged over the whole frequency axis, the (real part of the) refractive index is the same as in vacuum.

Because macroscopic QED is inherently based on linear response theories, it is conceivable that quantities such as spontaneous decay rates would obey certain sum rules, too. Recall from Sec. 2.2.2 that the rate of spontaneous decay and the Lamb shift form a Hilbert transform pair. We will now try to derive a sum rule for the rate of spontaneous decay, and investigate integrals of the form

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \frac{\Gamma - \Gamma_{0}}{\Gamma_{0}} = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \frac{6\pi c}{\omega |\mathbf{d}|^{2}} \,\mathbf{d} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}^{*}, \qquad (4.32)$$

where  $\Gamma_0$  is the free-space decay rate (2.120) and  $G^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  the scattering part of the dyadic Green function. Hence, we are seeking to compute the integral

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \frac{c}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) = \operatorname{Im} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega \, \frac{c}{2\omega} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega)$$
(4.33)

where we have used the Schwarz reflection principle (3.50).

For the sake of definiteness, we imagine the radiating atom being placed inside a dielectric structure such as the spherical microcavity sketched in Fig. 4.1. In fact, any generic situation will involve an atom in free space surrounded by some dielectric material, although not necessarily in a spherically symmetric way. The scattering part of the dyadic Green function for any arrangement of dielectric bodies can always be expanded into a Born series (see Appendix A.5) as

$$\mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) = \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \int_{V_{\chi}} d^{3}s' \,\chi(\mathbf{s}',\omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{s}',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s}',\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) \\
+ \left(\frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}}\right)^{2} \iint_{V_{\chi}} d^{3}s' d^{3}s'' \,\chi(\mathbf{s}',\omega)\chi(\mathbf{s}'',\omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{s}',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s}',\mathbf{s}'',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s}'',\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) \\
+ \dots \qquad (4.34)$$

where  $G^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is the free-space Green tensor and  $\chi(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  the dielectric susceptibility of the material surrounding the radiating atom. The integration extends over the total volume of the body, but excludes the location of the atom. The free-space Green tensor can be read off from Eqs. (A.18) and (A.19), setting  $q(\omega) = \omega/c$ . The first thing to note is that all terms containing the  $\delta$  function involving the location  $\mathbf{r}_A$  of the atom do not contribute to the Born series.

As a function of  $\omega$ , the free-space Green tensor has single and double poles at  $\omega = 0$  whose contributions to the integral (4.33) give rise to contributions that can be computed as follows. Concentrating on the first term in the Born series expansion, we need to look at contributions of the form  $f(\omega) = \sum_{n} c_n \chi(\mathbf{s}', \omega) e^{2i\omega\rho/c} / \omega^n$  with n = 1, 2, 3 whose residues at  $\omega = 0$  are [75]

$$\operatorname{Res} f(\omega)|_{\omega=0} = \sum_{n=1}^{3} \frac{c_n}{(n-1)!} \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(2i)^m}{m!} \chi^{(n-1-m)}(\mathbf{s}',0) \,.$$
(4.35)

These terms arise from a short-distance or, equivalently, low-frequency expansion of the Green tensor. It is seen from Eq. (A.18) that they can be traced back to the longitudinal part of the free-space Green tensor. Hence, all these pole contributions, in any order of the Born series, arise from either purely longitudinal terms  $\propto \omega^{2j} \mathbf{G}^{(0)\parallel}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{s}', \omega) \cdots \mathbf{G}^{(0)\parallel}(\mathbf{s}^{(j+1)}, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  or

from those in which one (and only one) of the longitudinal Green tensors has been replaced by a transverse part  $G^{(0)\perp}(\mathbf{s}^{(i)}, \mathbf{s}^{(i+1)}, \omega)$  [75]. Subtracting these terms from the total scattering Green tensor,

$$\mathbf{G}^{(S)'}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) = \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) 
- \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \int_{V_{\chi}} d^{3}s' \,\chi(\mathbf{s}', \omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)\parallel}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{s}', \omega) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)\parallel}(\mathbf{s}', \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) 
- \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \int_{V_{\chi}} d^{3}s' \,\chi(\mathbf{s}', \omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)\parallel}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{s}', \omega) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)\perp}(\mathbf{s}', \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) 
- \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \int_{V_{\chi}} d^{3}s' \,\chi(\mathbf{s}', \omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)\perp}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{s}', \omega) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)\parallel}(\mathbf{s}', \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) 
- \left(\frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}}\right)^{2} \iint_{V_{\chi}} d^{3}s' d^{3}s'' \cdots, \qquad (4.36)$$

and noting that all other contributions containing non-negative powers of  $\omega$  vanish after contour integration, it becomes obvious that

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \frac{c}{\omega} \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)'}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) = 0.$$
(4.37)

This in turn means that we can define a modified spontaneous decay rate  $\Gamma'$  which is constructed from  $G^{(S)'}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$ , that obeys the sum rule

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \frac{\Gamma' - \Gamma_0}{\Gamma_0} = 0.$$
(4.38)

From its construction, it is clear that  $\Gamma'$  excludes dipole-dipole interactions. Because nonradiative contributions to the decay rate have been subtracted from  $\Gamma$ , we can also interpret the sum rule (4.38) as a conservation of the integrated local density of states associated with photonic final states. Recalling our discussion following Eq. (4.31) this means that a magnetoelectric medium merely redistributes the photonic density of states across the frequency axis, but remain at the free-space level on average.

Finally, we make the connection to local-field corrections. The local-field corrected singlepoint Green tensor, obtained after discarding the terms containing  $R_{cav}$  in Eq. (A.79), is one example of a modified Green tensor (4.36) that leads to a valid sum rule for spontaneous decay rates. In this way, a connection is established to the theory in Ref. [76] which is strictly valid only in nonabsorbing materials.

# 4.3 Heating of polar molecules

In a previous section we argued that at very small atom-body distances, nonradiative decay will dominate. Given that this would require the atom or molecule to be held at distances much smaller than the (optical) wavelength, this effect will hardly be seen in a controlled experiment.

Tab. 4.1. Properties of various diatomic radicals (electronic ground state, rotation and vibration constants, dipole moment and its derivative at equilibrium bond length, reduced mass) and life times  $\tau_r$  and  $\tau_v$  of their rovibrational ground states against rotational and vibrational heating at room temperature (T = 293K) in free space [78].

Spec.	$B_{\rm e}({\rm GHz})$	$\omega_{\rm e}({\rm THz})$	$\mu_{\rm e}(10^{-30}{\rm Cm})$	$\mu'_{\rm e}(10^{-21}{\rm C})$	$ au_{ m r}({ m s})$	$\tau_{\rm v}({\rm s})$
LiH	222	42.1	19.6	60.5	2.1	25
CaF	10.5	18.4	10.2	172	$3,\!400$	4.7
BaF	6.30	14.1	11.7	285	7,200	1.8
YbF	7.20	15.2	13.1	195	4,400	4.1
LiRb	6.60	5.55	13.5	21.4	4,900	128
NaRb	2.03	3.21	11.7	12.6	70,000	$1,\!400$
KRb	1.15	2.26	0.667	1.89	$6.7 \times 10^7$	120,000
LiCs	5.80	4.92	21.0	28.4	$2,\!600$	80
NaCs	17.7	2.94	19.5	21.4	330	580
KCs	92.8	1.98	8.61	6.93	62	12,000
RbCs	0.498	1.48	7.97	4.41	$2.5\!\times\!10^6$	$63,\!000$

The situation is changed dramatically when the transition wavelength in question is very large, say longer than a centimeter. This is the case for polar molecules since the spacings between neighbouring rotational and vibrational levels are relatively large. Molecules whose projection  $\Lambda$  of the total orbital angular momentum  $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$  vanishes ( $\Lambda = 0$ ) are best described by Hund's coupling case (b) [77]. In this scheme, the molecular eigenstates  $|S, N, J, M\rangle |v\rangle$  are characterized by the quantum numbers J and M of the total angular momentum and its projection on the space-fixed z-axis, the total spin quantum number S ( $\hat{\mathbf{S}}$ ), the rotational quantum number N ( $\hat{\mathbf{N}} = \hat{\mathbf{J}} - \hat{\mathbf{S}}$ ) and the vibrational quantum number v. For deeply bound states, the rotational and vibrational eigenenergies are [77]

$$E_N = hB_{\rm e}N(N+1), N = 0, 1, \dots$$
  $E_v = h\omega_{\rm e}\left(v + \frac{1}{2}\right), v = 0, 1, \dots$  (4.39)

where  $B_e$  and  $\omega_e$  are the rotational and vibrational constants, typical values of which are listed in Tab. 4.1.

Even at room temperature, the first few rotationally and vibrationally excited states may be considerably populated due to heating out of the ground state, placing severe limits on the coherent manipulation of polar molecules in their ground states. According to Eqs. (4.19), the respective heating rate is given by

$$\Gamma = \frac{2\mu_0}{\hbar} \sum_k \omega_{k0}^2 \bar{n}_{\rm th}(\omega_{k0}) \mathbf{d}_{0k} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_{k0}) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{k0}, \tag{4.40}$$

where frequency shifts [Eqs. (4.20) and (4.21)] can typically be neglected. For a molecule in free space, use of the Green tensor (A.20) leads to [78, 79]

$$\Gamma_0 = \sum_k \Gamma_{0k} = \sum_k \frac{\omega_{0k}^3 |\mathbf{d}_{0k}|^2}{3\pi \hbar \varepsilon_0 c^3} \,\bar{n}_{\rm th}(\omega_{k0}). \tag{4.41}$$

In order to evaluate these rates, the relevant dipole matrix elements need to be determined. For rotational transitions, this can best be done using Hund's case (a) basis  $|S, \Lambda, \Sigma, \Omega, J, M\rangle$ , where  $\Lambda, \Sigma$  and  $\Omega$  denote the projections of  $\hat{\mathbf{L}}, \hat{\mathbf{S}}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{J}}$  onto the internuclear axis ( $\Omega = \Lambda + \Sigma$ ). In this basis, one has [77]

$$\mathbf{d}_{mn} = \langle \Omega J M | \hat{\mathbf{d}} | \Omega' J' M' \rangle = \mu_{\mathbf{e}} \langle \Omega J M | \hat{\mathbf{u}} | \Omega' J' M' \rangle$$
  
$$= \mu_{\mathbf{e}} \bigg[ (u_{mn}^{-1} - u_{mn}^{+1}) \frac{\mathbf{e}_x}{\sqrt{2}} + (u_{mn}^{-1} + u_{mn}^{+1}) \frac{i \, \mathbf{e}_y}{\sqrt{2}} + u_{mn}^0 \mathbf{e}_z \bigg], \qquad (4.42)$$

where  $\mu_e$  is the molecular dipole moment at the equilibrium internuclear separation,  $\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \hat{\mathbf{r}}/|\hat{\mathbf{r}}|$  and

$$u_{mn}^{q} = (-1)^{M-\Omega} \sqrt{(2J+1)(2J'+1)} \begin{pmatrix} J & 1 & J' \\ -M & q & M' \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} J & 1 & J' \\ -\Omega & 0 & \Omega' \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.43)

Relating the two bases via

$$|S, N, J, M\rangle = \sum_{\Omega = -S}^{S} (-1)^{J-S} \sqrt{2N+1} \begin{pmatrix} J & S & N \\ \Omega & -\Omega & 0 \end{pmatrix} |\Omega, J, M\rangle$$
(4.44)

one finds

$$\sum_{k} \mathbf{d}_{0k} \otimes \mathbf{d}_{k0} = \frac{1}{3} \mu_{\mathrm{e}}^{2} \boldsymbol{I}$$
(4.45)

for the molecules under consideration. For (ro-)vibrational heating, the dipole matrix elements follow from [77]

$$\langle v \,\Omega JM | \hat{\mathbf{d}} | v' \,\Omega' JM' \rangle = \mu'_{\rm e} \langle \Omega JM | \hat{\mathbf{u}} | \Omega' J'M' \rangle \langle v | \hat{q} | v' \rangle, \tag{4.46}$$

$$\langle v = 1 | \hat{q} | v' = 0 \rangle = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{4\pi m \omega_{\rm e}}} \tag{4.47}$$

 $(\mu'_{e}: \text{ derivative of the dipole moment at equilibrium bond length, } m: \text{ reduced mass})$  to be

$$\sum_{k} \mathbf{d}_{0k} \otimes \mathbf{d}_{k0} = \frac{\hbar \mu_{\mathrm{e}}^{\prime 2}}{12\pi m \omega_{\mathrm{e}}} \mathbf{I}.$$
(4.48)

Combining the above results, one can calculate life times  $\tau_0 = \Gamma_0^{-1}$  of polar molecules in free space against rotational and vibrational heating out of the ground state at room temperature (T = 293 K) which are listed in Tab. 4.1. Since the rotational transition frequencies lie typically well below the maximum of the thermal spectrum (17THz at T = 293 K), rotational heating mostly affects light molecules like LiH whose transition frequency is largest. For this molecule, rotational heating severely limits the life time of the ground state to about 2 seconds. Vibrational heating, on the contrary, mostly affects the fluorides whose vibrational transition frequencies are very close to the peak of the thermal spectrum; associated lifetimes lie in the range of a few seconds only. The rotational and vibrational heating rates exhibit strong temperature-dependences

via the thermal photon number, so the impact of both heating channels can be considerably reduced by lowering the environment temperature.

Just like spontaneous decay, heating can be considerably enhanced when molecules are placed close to surfaces. Using the decomposition  $G = G^{(0)} + G^{(S)}$  of the Green tensor into its free-space part and the scattering part accounting for the presence of the surface and recalling Eqs. (4.45) and (4.48), the ground state heating rate (4.41) can be written as [78]

$$\Gamma(z_A) = \Gamma_0 \left[ 1 + \frac{2\pi c}{\omega_{k0}} \operatorname{Im} \operatorname{tr} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_{k0}) \right]$$
(4.49)

( $z_A$ : atom-surface separation), where  $G^{(S)}$  is given in App. A.4. Note that due to our neglect of the frequency shifts, Eqs. (4.20) and (4.21), the heating rate separates into the temperature-dependent factor  $\Gamma_0$  as given by Eq. (4.41) and a purely position-dependent part.

In the nonretarded limit,  $z_A |\sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega_{nk})}|\omega_{nk}/c \ll 1$ , the position-dependence is approximately given by [78]

$$\Gamma(z_A) = \Gamma_0 \left( 1 + \frac{z_{\rm nr}^3}{z_A^3} \right), \qquad z_{\rm nr} = \frac{c}{\omega_{k0}} \sqrt[3]{\frac{\operatorname{Im} \varepsilon(\omega_{k0})}{2|\varepsilon(\omega_{k0}) + 1|^2}}.$$
(4.50)

For metals with Drude permittivity

$$\varepsilon(\omega) = 1 - \frac{\omega_P^2}{\omega(\omega + i\gamma)} \tag{4.51}$$

and for sufficiently small transition frequencies  $\omega_{k0} \ll \gamma \leq \omega_P$ , one has

$$z_{\rm nr} = c \sqrt[3]{\frac{\gamma}{2\omega_P^2 \omega_{k0}^2}} \tag{4.52}$$

and the condition  $z_A |\sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega_{nk})}| \omega_{nk}/c \ll 1$  is not even valid for very small atom-surface separations. Instead, the heating rate is well approximated by the empirical formula [78]

$$\Gamma(z_A) = \Gamma_0 \left( 1 + \frac{z_c^2}{z_A^2} + \frac{z_{nr}^3}{z_A^3} \right), \qquad z_c \simeq \frac{3c}{4} \sqrt[4]{\frac{\gamma}{2\omega_P^2 \omega_{k0}^3}}$$
(4.53)

which is valid for distances  $z_A \leq z_c$  ( $z_c$  being the critical distance for which surface-induced heating becomes comparable to free-space heating).

In the opposite retarded limit,  $z_A \omega_{nk}/c \gg 1$ , the ground-state heating rate is approximately given by [78]

$$\Gamma(z_A) = \Gamma_0 \left[ 1 + \frac{c}{2z_A \omega_{k0}} \operatorname{Im} \left( \frac{1 - \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega_{k0})}}{1 + \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega_{k0})}} e^{2iz_A \omega_{k0}/c} \right) \right]$$
  
$$= \Gamma_0 \left[ 1 - \frac{c}{2z_A \omega_{k0}} \sin \left( \frac{2z_A \omega_{nk}}{c} \right) \right]$$
(4.54)

where the second equality holds for good conductors. The distance-dependence is thus governed by attenuated oscillations away from the surface where the oscillation period equals twice the molecular transition wavelength.



Fig. 4.2. Heating rates for CaF and NaCs as a function of distance from a gold surface ( $\omega_P = 1.37 \times 10^{16} \text{rad/s}, \gamma = 4.12 \times 10^{13} \text{rad/s}$ ). Solid lines: total heating rate. Dotted lines: vibrational excitation rate. Dashed lines: rotational excitation rate [78].

The spatial dependence of the molecular heating rates over the entire distance rates is shown in Fig. 4.2 for CaF and NaCs. It is seen that vibrational heating dominates for CaF and results in rapid oscillations of the heating rate as a function of distance. For short distances, rotational heating strongly increases and begins to contribute to the total heating rate. For NaCs, rotational heating slightly dominates for moderate distances, although the oscillations associated with vibrational heating are still manifest in the total heating rate. At distance smaller than about  $10\mu$ m, rotational heating becomes stringly dominant. The results show that molecular heating can strongly increase in close proximity to surfaces, thus placing severe limits on the miniaturisation of molecular traps.

## 4.4 Spin-flip rates

In cold-atom physics, where microengineered magnetoelectric or metallic structures are designed to magnetically trap ultracold atoms (e.g. <sup>87</sup>Rb) in a well-defined Zeeman sublevel of



Fig. 4.3. Schematic set-up of a wire trap creating a confining trapping potential for low-field seeking atoms (left figure) (picture taken from Ref. [85]). Typical experimental set-up using a Z-shaped wire and a reflective gold surface (right figure) [picture courtesy of E.A. Hinds].

their respective hyperfine ground states (cf. Fig. 4.3), typical transition frequencies range from  $100 \text{ kHz} \dots 10 \text{ MHz}$  (for reviews, see [80–82]). The equivalent free-space wavelengths are thus on the order of several metres. As typical atom-surface distances are in the sub-millimeter range, the atoms are in the deep near field of the relevant (magnetic) transitions.

In complete analogy to electric-dipole transitions, we can investigate magnetic-dipole transitions using the approximate interaction Hamiltonian (3.154)

$$\hat{H}_{AF} = -\hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}_A) \,. \tag{4.55}$$

From the statistical properties of the electromagnetic field and our previously used arguments regarding Fermi's Golden Rule we already know that the spin transition rate is proportional to the strength of the (thermal) magnetic field fluctuations,  $\Gamma \propto \langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}_A, \omega_A) \rangle_T$ . If we assume an atom to be in its electronic ground state, the magnetic moment vector  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}$  is proportional to the electronic spin operator  $\hat{\mathbf{S}}$  (the nuclear spin operator  $\hat{\mathbf{I}}$  is smaller by a factor of  $m_e/m_p$ , i.e. the ratio between electron and proton mass; we also assume that the ground state has L = 0). It can then be shown that the transition rate between two magnetic sublevels  $|i\rangle$  and  $|f\rangle$  is [84]

$$\Gamma = \frac{2\mu_0}{\hbar} \mathbf{m} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \left[ \nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_A) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \right] \cdot \mathbf{m}^* \left[ \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega_A) + 1 \right]$$

$$= \frac{2\mu_0(\mu_B g_S)^2}{\hbar} \langle f | \hat{\mathbf{S}} | i \rangle \cdot \operatorname{Im} \left[ \nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega_A) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \right] \cdot \langle i | \hat{\mathbf{S}} | f \rangle \left[ \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega_A) + 1 \right]$$

$$(4.56)$$

 $[\mathbf{m} = \langle f | \hat{\mathbf{m}} | i \rangle, \mu_B$ : Bohr magneton,  $g_S \approx 2]$ . Note that this rate corresponds to the rates associated with electric transitions as given by Eqs. (4.18), (4.19) by means of a duality transformation  $\mathbf{d} \leftrightarrow \mathbf{m}/c, \varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$ , cf. the transformation properties (A.8) and (A.9) of the Green tensor given in App. A.2. An experiment using <sup>87</sup>Rb atoms in their  $|F = 2, m_F = 2\rangle$  hyperfine ground state has revealed spin flip lifetimes on the order of seconds for distances between  $20 \dots 100 \mu \text{m}$  [85]. Figure 4.4 shows the experimental data together with the theoretical predictions according to Eq. (4.56) where the Green function for a three-layered cylindrical medium was used [84] (see also App. A.4.2).



Fig. 4.4. Trapping lifetime  $\tau = 1/\Gamma$  as a function of the atom-surface distance z (right figure). Experimental data taken from Ref. [85], theoretical curve taken from Ref. [84]. The geometry is depicted on the left. The wire consisted of a Cu core (inner radius  $a_1 = 185 \,\mu\text{m}$ ) and a 55  $\mu$ m thick Al cladding.

It is instructive to investigate certain asymptotic regimes in which analytical approximations to the expected spin flip lifetime can be given. For this purpose, we consider an atom at a distance d away from a planar metallic surface with skin depth  $\delta$  and with thickness h. Its Green tensor can be found in App. A.4.1. The skin depth  $\delta$  is related to the dielectric permittivity by  $\varepsilon(\omega) = 2ic^2/(\omega^2 \delta^2)$ . Together with the transition wavelength  $\lambda$ , there are four different length scales involved, of which  $\lambda$  is by far the longest and can be taken to be infinite. From the remaining three length scales one can find three experimentally relevant extreme cases that can be summarised in the following expression [86, 87]:

$$\frac{\tau}{\tau_0} = \left(\frac{8}{3}\right)^2 \frac{1}{\bar{n}_{\rm th} + 1} \left(\frac{\omega}{c}\right)^3 \begin{cases} \frac{d^4}{3\delta}, & \delta \ll d, h, \\ \frac{\delta^2 d}{2}, & \delta, h \gg d, \\ \frac{\delta^2 d^2}{2h}, & \delta \gg d \gg h. \end{cases}$$
(4.57)

Here,  $\tau_0 = 1/\Gamma_0$  is the trapping lifetime in free space which, for a transition frequency  $\omega_A = 2\pi 400$ kHz, amounts to  $3 \cdot 10^{25}$ s [88]. For fixed values of (d, h) there are two distinct functional dependencies on the skin depth  $\delta$ . These two scaling laws can be supported by rather intuitive explanations. If the skin depth is larger than the remaining length scales (i.e. the material is more dielectric), the magnetic field fluctuations weaken. As their strength is proportional to the imaginary part of the permittivity and hence the squared inverse skin depth, the lifetime increases quadratically with the skin depth  $\delta$  [second and third lines of Eq. (4.57)]. If, on the other hand, the skin depth is the smallest length scale, the effective volume diminishes from which fluctuations emanate which leads to a lifetime increase with decreasing skin depth [first line in Eq. (4.57)]. This in turn means that there is a pronounced lifetime minimum when the skin depth is on the order of the atom-surface distance (Fig. 4.5). To either side of this minimum, the expected lifetime increases drastically. However, choosing a surface material with larger skin



Fig. 4.5. Left panel: Trapping lifetime as a function of skin depth for a thin substrate layer ( $h = 1\mu$ m, dashed line) and a half-space (solid line). The atom-surface distance was chosen as  $d = 50\mu$ m, the transition frequency is  $\omega_A = 2\pi 560$ kHz [87]. Right panel: Spin flip lifetime  $\tau$  near a superconducting Nb slab ( $T_c = 9.2$ K) as a function of atom-surface distance. Dashed line: two-fluid model; symbols: Eliashberg theory with various elastic scattering rates [89].

depth limits its capability to generate strong enough magnetic traps. On the other hand, natural materials with skin depths below  $50 \,\mu\text{m}$  at room temperature and 1 MHz are impossible to find.

A possible solution is to make use of superconductors on the assumption that due to the supercurrent magnetic field fluctuations are shielded away from the vacuum-superconductor interface, and hence spin transitions are suppressed. For a bulk superconductor with conductivity  $\sigma(\omega) = \sigma'(\omega) + i\sigma''(\omega)$  and  $\sigma''(\omega) \ll \sigma'(\omega)$ , we can rewrite the first line of Eq. (4.57) as [89]

$$\frac{\tau}{\tau_0} = \left(\frac{8}{3}\right)^2 \frac{(\omega\mu_0)^{1/2} d^4}{\bar{n}_{\rm th} + 1} \left(\frac{\omega}{c}\right)^3 \frac{[\sigma''(\omega)]^{3/2}}{\sigma'(\omega)} \,. \tag{4.58}$$

In the London two-fluid model [90] one assumes that the two types of charge carriers, *n*ormal and superconducting, react to an external field according to Ohm's law  $\mathbf{j}_n = \sigma_n \mathbf{E}$  and the London relation  $\Lambda \frac{\partial \mathbf{j}_s}{\partial t} = \mathbf{E}$ , respectively. As a function of temperature, the fraction of normal conducting electrons follows the Gorter–Casimir expression  $n_n(T)/n_0 = (T/T_c)^4$  [91]. With the plasma frequency  $\omega_P$  and the elastic scattering rate  $\gamma$  of the electrons, the conductivity can be written in the form

$$\sigma(\omega) = \varepsilon_0 \omega_P^2 \left\{ \frac{1}{\gamma} \left( \frac{T}{T_c} \right)^4 + \frac{i}{\omega} \left[ 1 - \left( \frac{T}{T_c} \right)^4 \right] \right\}.$$
(4.59)

Although the two-fluid model does not fully capture the rich dynamics of superconductors (as it neglects coherence effects and dissipation), it gives a relatively accurate and intuitive picture of the strength of the magnetic field fluctations. More elaborate models such as the Eliashberg theory prove that with regards to spin transitions the two-fluid model is perfectly adequate [89]. In Fig. 4.5 we show the distance-dependence of the spin flip lifetime for the two-fluid model of superconducting Nb (dashed line) and the corresponding results for an Eliashberg calculation with varying elastic scattering rates (symbols).
# 5 Dispersion forces

Dispersion forces such as Casimir forces between bodies [16, 92], Casimir–Polder (CP) forces between atoms and bodies [93, 94] and van der Waals (vdW) forces between atoms [94, 95] are effective electromagnetic forces that arise as immediate consequences of correlated quantum ground-state fluctuations. The total Lorentz force on an arbitrary macroscopic or atomic charge distribution characterised by a charge density  $\hat{\rho}$  and a current density  $\hat{j}$  occupying a volume V is given by

$$\hat{\mathbf{F}} = \int_{V} d^{3}r \, \left[ \hat{\rho}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) + \hat{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \right].$$
(5.1)

To see how this quantum force acquires a nonzero average even in the absence of external electromagnetic fields due to correlated zero-point fluctuations, let us consider the example of a neutral, stationary ground-state atom A. Expressing the atomic charge and current densities in terms of polarisation and magnetisation [recall Eqs. (2.92) and (2.93)], the Lorentz force can equivalently be represented as [57,96,97]

$$\hat{\mathbf{F}} = \boldsymbol{\nabla}_A \int d^3 r \left[ \hat{\mathbf{P}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) + \hat{\mathbf{M}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \right]$$
(5.2)

 $(\nabla_A$ : derivative with respect to the atomic centre-of-mass position). The quantum averages of both the electric and the magnetic field vanish in the absence of external fields,  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{E}} \rangle = \langle \hat{\mathbf{B}} \rangle = \mathbf{0}$ , and for an unpolarised and unmagnetised atom so do the atomic polarisation and magnetisation,  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{P}}_A \rangle = \langle \hat{\mathbf{M}}_A \rangle = \mathbf{0}$ . In the absence of correlations, this would imply that the average net force on the atom is vanishing,  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{F}} \rangle = \mathbf{0}$ . However, both the electromagnetic and atomic fields are subject to nonvanishing zero-point fluctuations,  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{E}}^2 \rangle$ ,  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{B}}^2 \rangle$ ,  $\langle \hat{\mathbf{M}}_A^2 \rangle \neq 0$ . These quantities are mutually correlated and thus lead to a nonvanishing dispersion force: For a nonmagnetic atom, one can show that this force is given by ([98], cf. also Sec. 5.2.1 below)

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{4\pi i} \nabla_A \int_0^\infty d\omega \,\omega^2 \operatorname{Im} \left[ \alpha(\omega) \operatorname{tr} \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \right]$$

$$= \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{4\pi i} \nabla_A \int_0^\infty d\omega \,\omega^2 \left[ \operatorname{Im} \alpha(\omega) \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{Re} \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) + \operatorname{Re} \alpha(\omega) \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \right].$$
(5.3)

In accordance with the fluctuation-dissipation theorem, the real and imaginary parts of the atomic and field response functions (i.e. atomic polarisability and the Green tensor of the electromagnetic field) represent the reactive and fluctuating behaviours of these systems. Hence, the first term in the above equation correspond to the atomic zero-point fluctuations (Im  $\alpha$ ) giving rise to an induced electromagnetic field (Re G), while the second term is due to the fluctuations of the electromagnetic field (Im G) giving rise to an induced atomic polarisation (Re  $\alpha$ ). Both fluctuation sources thus contribute equally to the CP force. This interpretation is in contrast to the mode summation picture in which only the electromagnetic field fluctuations are taken into account, and the only role of the matter is to provide the perfect boundary conditions.

It is worth noting that for small separations, dispersion forces are primarily due to the atomic zero-point fluctuations which interact via the instantaneous Coulomb interaction. Dispersion forces where first postulated by J. D. van der Waals [99] and theoretically analysed by F. London

[95] and J. E. Lennard-Jones [93] in this nonretarded limit. The zero-point fluctuations of the transverse electromagnetic field become important in the retarded limit of large separations, as was shown by H. B. G. Casimir and D. Polder [94]. To honour these two major steps, one often uses the notion vdW forces for all nonretarded dispersion forces on atoms and the term CP force for fully retarded ones — in contrast to the naming convention adopted throughout this work.

# 5.1 Casimir forces

The Casimir force (for general literature and reviews, see Refs. [23,97,100–104]) on a body of permittivity  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  occupying a volume V can be found by calculating the ground-state expectation value of the Lorentz force (5.1)

$$\mathbf{F} = \int_{V} d^{3}r \left\{ \langle \{0\} | \left[ \hat{\rho}(\mathbf{r}) \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}') + \hat{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}') \right] | \{0\} \rangle \right\}_{\mathbf{r}' \to \mathbf{r}}$$
(5.4)

 $(|\{0\}\rangle$ : ground-state of the body-assisted electromagnetic field) where the coincidence limit  $\mathbf{r}' \rightarrow \mathbf{r}$  must be performed in such a way that unphysical divergent self-force contributions are discarded after the vacuum expectation value has been evaluated. Using the relations

$$\underline{\hat{\rho}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -\varepsilon_0 \nabla \cdot \left\{ [\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) - 1] \underline{\hat{\mathbf{E}}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \right\} + \frac{1}{i\omega} \nabla \cdot \underline{\hat{\mathbf{j}}}_{\mathrm{N}}(\mathbf{r},\omega),$$
(5.5)

$$\hat{\underline{\mathbf{j}}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = -i\omega\varepsilon_0[\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) - 1]\underline{\hat{\mathbf{E}}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) 
+ \nabla \times \left\{ \kappa_0[1 - \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega)]\underline{\hat{\mathbf{B}}}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \right\} + \underline{\hat{\mathbf{j}}}_{N}(\mathbf{r},\omega),$$
(5.6)

the field expansions (3.82), (3.83) and the expectation values (3.99)–(3.106), one finds for a homogeneous body at zero temperature [105]

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{\hbar}{\pi} \int_{V} d^{3}r \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \left( \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \nabla \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \omega) + \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \boldsymbol{I} \times \left[ \nabla \times \nabla \times - \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \right] \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \right\} \right)$$
$$= -\frac{\hbar}{\pi} \int_{V} d^{3}r \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \left( \frac{\xi^{2}}{c^{2}} \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi) - \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \boldsymbol{I} \times \left[ \nabla \times \nabla \times + \frac{\xi^{2}}{c^{2}} \right] \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \right\} \right), \quad (5.7)$$

where the coincidence limit has been performed by replacing the Green tensor with its scattering part. Here and in the following, the gradients  $\nabla$  and  $\overleftarrow{\nabla}'$  are understood to act on the first and second arguments of the Green tensor, respectively.

Alternatively, the Casimir force can be equivalently expressed in terms of a surface integral rather than a volume integral. To that end, one makes use of the relation

$$\hat{\rho}(\mathbf{r})\hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) + \hat{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) = \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \hat{\boldsymbol{T}}(\mathbf{r}) - \varepsilon_0 \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left[ \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \right]$$
(5.8)

with the Maxwell stress tensor

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{T}}(\mathbf{r}) = \varepsilon_0 \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) + \mu_0^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) - \frac{1}{2} \left[ \varepsilon_0 \hat{\mathbf{E}}^2(\mathbf{r}) + \mu_0^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{B}}^2(\mathbf{r}) \right] \boldsymbol{I}.$$
(5.9)

This can be used to rewrite Eq. (5.4) in the form

$$\mathbf{F} = \int_{\partial V} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \langle \{0\} | \{ \varepsilon_0 \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}') + \mu_0^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \otimes \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}') - \frac{1}{2} [\varepsilon_0 \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}') + \mu_0^{-1} \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}')] \mathbf{I} \} | \{0\} \rangle \quad (5.10)$$

[note that the last term in Eq. (5.8) does not contribute in the stationary case]. Evaluating the field expectation values according to Eqs. (3.99)–(3.106), one finds that (T = 0) [106]

$$\mathbf{F} = \frac{\hbar}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \int_{\partial V} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \left\{ \left[ \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \omega) - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right] - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \omega) - \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right] \boldsymbol{I} \right\}$$

$$= -\frac{\hbar}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \int_{\partial V} d\mathbf{a} \cdot \left\{ \left[ \frac{\xi^{2}}{c^{2}} \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi) + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right] - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \frac{\xi^{2}}{c^{2}} \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi) + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right] \boldsymbol{I} \right\}.$$
(5.11)

The general expressions (5.7) and (5.11) can be used to calculate Casimir forces between bodies of arbitrary shape. In particular, Eq. (5.11) in connection with the Green tensor for planar multilayered dielectrics (App. A.4.1) immediately leads to the famous Lifshitz formula [92] for the Casimir force between two dielectric half-spaces [107]. In the limit of perfectly conducting plates, one recovers the mode summation formula (2.73).

## 5.2 Casimir–Polder forces

Similarly to the Casimir force, the Casimir–Polder force on a single atom (for a general overview, see Refs. [23, 26, 100, 108, 109]) can be calculated as an effective Lorentz force starting from expression (5.1), where the electromagnetic field acts on the atomic charge and current distributions. In general, this force is a time-dependent quantity which can only be found by solving the coupled atom-field dynamics [57, 96, 97]. In this section, we restrict our attention to the force on a ground-state atom with the body-assisted field being in its vacuum state, and we ignore the effect of motion on the CP force. For this stationary problem, the CP force can alternatively be derived from the atom-field coupling energy, following the approach originally used by Casimir and Polder [94].

Such an approach can be justified by means of a Born–Oppenheimer approximation by assuming that the fast internal (electronic) motion effectively decouples from the slow centre-ofmass motion. To see this, we express the total multipolar Hamiltonian (3.149) in terms of the centre-of-mass momentum  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A = \sum_{\alpha \in A} \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}$  and the internal momenta  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha} = \hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha} - (m_{\alpha}/m_A)\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A$ to obtain

$$\hat{H} = \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{A}^{2}}{2m_{A}} + \hat{H}_{A}^{\text{int}} + \hat{H}_{F} + \hat{H}_{AF},$$
(5.12)

where

$$\hat{H}_{A}^{\text{int}} = \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha}^{2}}{2m_{\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2\varepsilon_{0}} \int d^{3}r \, \hat{\mathbf{P}}_{A}^{2}(\mathbf{r}) = \sum_{k} \hbar \omega_{k} \hat{A}_{kk}$$
(5.13)

 $[\hat{A}_{kk} = |k\rangle\langle k|]$  is the internal atomic Hamiltonian associated with the electronic motion and the field Hamiltonian  $\hat{H}_{\rm F}$  is given by Eq. (3.152). The influence of atomic motion on the atom-field interaction can be discarded by formally letting  $m_A \to \infty$ , leading to

$$\hat{H}_{AF} = -\int d^3r \,\hat{\mathbf{P}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) - \int d^3r \,\hat{\mathbf{M}}_A(\mathbf{r}) \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) + \sum_{\alpha \in A} \frac{1}{2m_\alpha} \left[ \int d^3r \,\hat{\mathbf{\Theta}}_\alpha(\mathbf{r}) \times \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}) \right]^2,$$
(5.14)

where the three terms describe the electric, paramagnetic and diamagnetic interactions with the electromagnetic field, respectively. Having thus separated the internal and centre-of-mass motion as far as possible, we can apply the Born–Oppenheimer approximation by integrating out the internal motion for given values of  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A$ , leading to an effective Hamiltonian for the centre-of-mass motion,

$$\hat{H}_{\text{eff}} = \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A^2}{2m_A} + E + \Delta E.$$
(5.15)

Here, E is the energy of the uncoupled atom-field system and  $\Delta E$  is the energy shift due to the atom-field coupling  $\hat{H}_{AF}$ . Since we have neglected the influence of motion on the atom-field interaction, the energy shift does not depend on  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A$  so that we may write

$$\Delta E = \Delta E_0 + \Delta E(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A),\tag{5.16}$$

where  $\Delta E_0$  is the well-known (free-space) Lamb shift (2.121) [23]. By means of the commutation relations  $[\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{\mathbf{p}}_A] = i\hbar \mathbf{I}$ , the effective Hamiltonian thus generates the following equations of motion for the centre-of-mass coordinate:

$$m_A \dot{\mathbf{r}}_A = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \Big[ m_A \hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{H}_{\text{eff}} \Big] = \hat{\mathbf{p}}_A, \tag{5.17}$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{F}} = m_A \ddot{\hat{\mathbf{r}}}_A = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \Big[ m_A \dot{\hat{\mathbf{r}}}_A, \hat{H}_{\text{eff}} \Big] = -\nabla_A U(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A)$$
(5.18)

where the CP potential

$$U(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A) = \Delta E(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A) \tag{5.19}$$

is the position-dependent part of the energy shift, as suggested by Casimir and Polder. In many cases, the centre-of-mass motion is effectively classical and position and velocity in Eqs. (5.17) and (5.18) can be treated as *c*-number parameters. In the following, it is not necessary to distinguish the classical from the quantum case and we drop the operator hats for convenience.



Fig. 5.1. Schematic representation of single-photon interactions (a) and the second-order energy shift (b). Solid lines represent atomic states and dashed lines stand for photons. We do not distinguish electric and magnetic interactions.

# 5.2.1 Perturbation theory

For weak atom-field coupling, the ground-state energy shift (5.16) can be obtained from a perturbative calculation. While the coupling Hamiltonian (5.14) presents very general basis for this purpose, the calculation can often be simplified by applying the long-wavelength approximation (which is valid provided that the atom-body separations are large with respect to the atomic radius) and neglecting the weak diamagnetic interaction, so that [cf. Eq. (3.154)]

$$\hat{H}_{AF} = -\hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_A) - \hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}_A)$$
(5.20)

This Hamiltonian being linear in both atomic and field variables,  $\Delta E$  is to leading order given by the second-order energy shift

$$\Delta E = \sum_{I \neq G} \frac{\langle 0|\hat{H}_{AF}|I\rangle\langle I|\hat{H}_{AF}|0\rangle}{E_G - E_I}, \qquad (5.21)$$

where  $|G\rangle = |0\rangle|\{0\}\rangle$  denotes the (uncoupled) ground state of  $\hat{H}_A^{\text{int}} + \hat{H}_F$  and the relevant intermediate states  $|I\rangle = |k\rangle|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\rangle$  are those where the atom is excited, with a single-quantum excitation of the field being present,  $|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\rangle = \hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)|\{0\}\rangle$ . The formal sum in Eq. (5.21) thus represents discrete summations over  $\lambda$  and the vector index as well as integrations over  $\mathbf{r}$ and  $\omega$ . Recalling the field expansions (3.82) and (3.83), the matrix elements of the electric and magnetic dipole interactions are found to be

$$\langle 0|\langle \{0\}|\mathbf{d} \cdot \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r}_A)|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\rangle|k\rangle = \mathbf{d}_{0k} \cdot \mathbf{G}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_A,\mathbf{r},\omega), \qquad (5.22)$$

$$\langle 0|\langle \{0\}|\hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}_A)|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\rangle|k\rangle = \frac{\mathbf{m}_{0k} \cdot \mathbf{V}_A \times \mathbf{G}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r}_A,\mathbf{r},\omega)}{i\omega}$$
(5.23)

The matrix elements and the second-order energy shift are schematically depicted in Fig. 5.1. As the energy shift is quadratic in  $\hat{H}_{AF}$ , it contains purely electric, purely magnetic and mixed electric–magnetic contributions. The latter are proportional to  $\mathbf{d}_{0k} \otimes \mathbf{m}_{k0}$ , so for nonchiral atoms,

they can be excluded by means of a parity argument ( $\hat{\mathbf{d}}$  is odd and  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}$  is even under parity). After substitution of Eqs. (5.22) and (5.23), we thus only retain the purely electric and magnetic terms, which upon using the integral relation (3.87) leads to

$$\Delta E = -\frac{\mu_0}{\pi} \sum_k \int_0^\infty \frac{d\omega}{\omega_{k0} + \omega} \left[ \omega^2 \mathbf{d}_{0k} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{k0} \right]$$
$$\mathbf{m}_{0k} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \operatorname{Im} \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \cdot \mathbf{m}_{k0} \right].$$
(5.24)

The Casimir–Polder potential (5.19) can be extracted from this energy shift by discarding the position-independent contribution associated with the bulk part of the Green tensor  $G^{(0)}$  and only retaining its scattering part  $G^{(S)}$ . The result can be further simplified by writing Im  $G = (G - G^*)/(2i)$ , making use of the Schwarz reflection principle, Eq. (3.50), and transforming the integrals along the real axis into ones along the purely imaginary axis (cf. Ref. [57]). The resulting ground-state CP potential is given by [57, 66, 96, 98, 100, 110–113]

$$U(\mathbf{r}_A) = U_e(\mathbf{r}_A) + U_m(\mathbf{r}_A), \tag{5.25}$$

with

$$U_{e}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \mathrm{tr} \big[ \boldsymbol{\alpha}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \big] \\ = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \boldsymbol{\alpha}(i\xi) \mathrm{tr} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi),$$
(5.26)

$$U_{m}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \operatorname{tr} \left[ \boldsymbol{\beta}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right] \\ = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \, \boldsymbol{\beta}(i\xi) \operatorname{tr} \left[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \right],$$
(5.27)

denoting the electric and magnetic parts of the potential and

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}(\omega) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{2}{\hbar} \sum_{k} \frac{\omega_{k0} \mathbf{d}_{0k} \otimes \mathbf{d}_{k0}}{\omega_{k0}^{2} - \omega^{2} - i\omega\epsilon}$$
$$= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{2}{3\hbar} \sum_{k} \frac{\omega_{k0} |\mathbf{d}_{0k}|^{2}}{\omega_{k0}^{2} - \omega^{2} - i\omega\epsilon} \mathbf{I} = \alpha(\omega) \mathbf{I}$$
(5.28)

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}(\omega) = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{2}{\hbar} \sum_{k} \frac{\omega_{k0} \mathbf{m}_{0k} \otimes \mathbf{m}_{k0}}{\omega_{k0}^{2} - \omega^{2} - i\omega\epsilon}$$
$$= \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{2}{3\hbar} \sum_{k} \frac{\omega_{k0} |\mathbf{m}_{0k}|^{2}}{\omega_{k0}^{2} - \omega^{2} - i\omega\epsilon} \boldsymbol{I} = \boldsymbol{\beta}(\omega) \boldsymbol{I}$$
(5.29)

being the atomic polarisability and magnetisability. The second lines of equalities in Eqs. (5.26)–(5.29) above hold for isotropic atoms.

When considering CP forces on atoms that are embedded in a body or a medium, one has to account for the fact that the local electromagnetic field interacting with the atom differs from the

macroscopic one employed in our derivation. This difference gives rise to local-field corrections which can be implemented via the real-cavity model by assuming the atom to be surrounded by a small free-space cavity (recall the discussion in Sec. 4.1). In order to apply this procedure to our results (5.26) and (5.27), one has to replace the Green tensor by its local-field corrected counterpart as given in App. A.6 which, after discarding position-independent terms, results in [58, 114]

$$U_e(\mathbf{r}_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \alpha(i\xi) \left[\frac{3\varepsilon(i\xi)}{2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1}\right]^2 \mathrm{tr} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, i\xi), \tag{5.30}$$

$$U_m(\mathbf{r}_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{2\pi} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\beta(i\xi) \left[\frac{3}{2\mu(i\xi)+1}\right]^2 \mathrm{tr} \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_A, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right], (5.31)$$

where  $\varepsilon(\omega) = \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  and  $\mu(\omega) = \mu(\mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  denote the permittivity and permeability of the host body at the position of the atom. For an atom situated in free space, the local-field correction factors are equal to unity and one recovers Eqs. (5.26) and (5.27).

It is instructive to study the behaviour of the total CP potential under a duality transformation, which in this case amounts to a simultaneous global exchange  $\alpha \leftrightarrow \beta/c^2$  and  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$  (see Tab. 3.1). Using the associated transformation laws (A.8) and (A.9) of the Green tensor as given in App. A.2, one sees that the duality transformation results in an exchange  $U_e \leftrightarrow U_m$  of the free-space potentials (5.26) and (5.27), so that the total potential is invariant with respect to a duality transformation [49]. The transformation laws (A.85) and (A.86) for the local-field corrected Green tensor imply that the same is true for an embedded atom, provided that localfield corrections are taken into account. The duality invariance of the CP potential is very useful when considering specific geometries: Once the electric CP potential of an atom in a particular magnetoelectric environment has been calculated, that of a magnetic one can be obtained by simply replacing  $\alpha \to \beta/c^2$  and exchanging  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$ .

## 5.2.2 Atom in front of a plate

Let us apply the general results to an isotropic atom which is placed above ( $z_A > 0$ ) a magnetoelectric plate of thickness d, permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\omega)$ , see Fig. 5.2. Using the Green tensor of this very simple geometry as given App. A.4.1, the electric CP potential (5.26) reads [96, 115]

$$U_e(z_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \alpha(i\xi) \int_{\xi/c}^\infty d\kappa_z \, e^{-2\kappa_z z_A} \left[ r_s - \left( 2 \,\frac{\kappa_z^2 c^2}{\xi^2} - 1 \right) r_p \right]$$
(5.32)

where  $r_s$  and  $r_p$  are the reflection coefficients of the half space for s- and p-polarised waves and  $\kappa_z = \text{Im } k_z$ , with k being the wave vector of these waves in free space. By virtue of the duality invariance, we can obtain the magnetic potential from the above expression by replacing  $\alpha \rightarrow \beta/c^2$  and exchanging  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$ , which is equivalent to an exchange of  $r_s$  and  $r_p$  [cf. Eq. (A.35) in App. A.4.1] [58, 116]:

$$U_m(z_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{8\pi^2} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \,\frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \int_{\xi/c}^\infty d\kappa_z \,\,e^{-2\kappa_z z_A} \bigg[ r_p - \bigg(2\frac{\kappa_z^2 c^2}{\xi^2} - 1\bigg) r_s \bigg]. \tag{5.33}$$



Fig. 5.2. An atom interacting with a magnetoelectric plate.

**Perfect mirror:** A perfect mirror is realized for a perfectly conducting plate  $(\varepsilon \to \infty)$  or an infinitely permeable one  $(\mu \to \infty)$ , in which cases the reflection coefficients are given by  $r_s = -r_p = \pm 1$ , respectively. In this particularly simple case, the  $\kappa_z$ -integrals in Eqs. (5.32) and (5.33) can be performed, so that the total CP potential (5.25) reads

$$U(z_A) = \mp \frac{\hbar}{16\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^3} \int_0^\infty d\xi \left[ \alpha(i\xi) - \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \right] e^{-2\xi z_A/c} \left[ 1 + 2\frac{\xi z_A}{c} + 2\frac{\xi^2 z_A^2}{c^2} \right], \quad (5.34)$$

where the upper (lower) is valid for the perfectly conducting (infinitely permeable) mirror. This result includes the famous Casimir–Polder potential of a polarisable atom in front of a perfectly conducting wall [94]. In the retarded limit  $z_A \gg c/\omega_{\min}$  ( $\omega_{\min}$ : minimum of all relevant atomic transition frequencies), the  $\xi$ -integral is effectively limited to a region where the approximations  $\alpha(i\xi) \simeq \alpha_A(0)$  and  $\beta_A(i\xi) \simeq \beta(0)$  are valid and after integration one obtains [117]

$$U(z_A) = \mp \frac{3\hbar c\alpha(0)}{32\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^4} \pm \frac{3\hbar \beta(0)}{32\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 c z_A^4} \,. \tag{5.35}$$

In the non-retarded limit  $z_A \ll c/\omega_{\text{max}}$  ( $\omega_{\text{max}}$ : maximum of all relevant atomic transition frequencies), the factors  $\alpha_A(i\xi)$  and  $\beta_A(i\xi)$  limits the  $\xi$ -integral in Eq. (5.34) to a range where we may approximately set  $e^{-2\xi z_A/c} \simeq 1$  and neglect the second and third terms in the square brackets. The integral can then be performed with the aid of the definitions (5.28) and (5.29)

$$U(z_A) = \mp \frac{\langle \hat{\mathbf{d}}^2 \rangle}{48\pi\varepsilon_0 z_A^3} \pm \frac{\langle \hat{\mathbf{m}}^2 \rangle}{48\pi\varepsilon_0 c^2 z_A^3} , \qquad (5.36)$$

with the first term being the Lennard-Jones potential [93].

The results (5.34)–(5.36) show that a perfectly conducting plate attracts polarisable atoms and repels magnetisable ones. For the nonretarded limit, this behaviour can be made plausible



Fig. 5.3. Image dipole construction for an (a) electric (b) magnetic dipole in front of a perfectly conducting plate.

by noting that the CP potential is due to the interaction of the atomic dipole moment with its image in the plate [93]. The image of an electric dipole moment  $\hat{\mathbf{d}}$ , located at a distance  $z_A$  away from a perfectly conducting plate, is constructed by a reflection at the *xy*-plane, together with an interchange of positive and negative charges and is hence given by  $\hat{\mathbf{d}}' = (-\hat{d}_x, -\hat{d}_y, \hat{d}_z)$ , cf. Fig 5.3(a). The average interaction energy of the dipole and its image is hence given by [118]

$$U_e(z_A) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\langle \hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{d}}' - 3\hat{d}_z \hat{d}'_z \rangle}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 (2z_A)^3} = -\frac{\langle \hat{\mathbf{d}}^2 \rangle}{48\pi\varepsilon_0 z_A^3}, \qquad (5.37)$$

in agreement with Eq. (5.36), where the factor 1/2 accounts for the fact that the second dipole is induced by the first one.

On the contrary, a magnetic dipole  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}$  behaves like a pseudo-vector under reflection, so its image is given by  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}' = (\hat{m}_x, \hat{m}_y, -\hat{m}_z)$ , cf. Fig 5.3(b). The interaction energy of the magnetic dipole and its image reads

$$U_m(z_A) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\langle \hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{m}}' - 3\hat{m}_z \hat{m}'_z \rangle}{4\pi\varepsilon_0 (2z_A)^3} = \frac{\langle \hat{\mathbf{m}}^2 \rangle}{48\pi\varepsilon_0 z_A^3},$$
(5.38)

again in agreement with Eq. (5.36). The different signs of the CP potential associated with polarisable/magnetisable atoms can thus be understood from the different reflection behaviour of electric and magnetic dipoles.

**Half space:** Let us next consider a semi-infinite magnetoelectric half space of finite permittivity and permeability, which is a good model for plates whose thickness is large with respect to the atom-surface separation. Using the reflection coefficients (A.35) in App. A.4.1, the electric and

magnetic potentials (5.32) and (5.33) take the forms [58, 96, 115, 116, 119, 120]

$$U_{e}(z_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \xi^{2} \alpha(i\xi) \int_{\xi/c}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \ e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \left[ \frac{\mu(i\xi)\kappa_{z} - \kappa_{1z}}{\mu(i\xi)\kappa_{z} + \kappa_{1z}} - \left( 2\frac{\kappa_{z}^{2}c^{2}}{\xi^{2}} - 1 \right) \frac{\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z} - \kappa_{1z}}{\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z} + \kappa_{1z}} \right]$$

$$U_{m}(z_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \xi^{2} \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{\epsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \ e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \left[ \frac{\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z} - \kappa_{1z}}{\epsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z} - \kappa_{1z}} \right]$$
(5.39)

$$z_A) = \frac{\kappa_{\mu}}{8\pi^2} \int_0^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^2 \,\frac{\rho(\kappa_{\xi})}{c^2} \int_{\xi/c}^{\infty} d\kappa_z \,e^{-2\kappa_z z_A} \left[\frac{\varphi(\kappa_{\xi})\kappa_z}{\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_z + \kappa_{1z}} - \left(2\frac{\kappa_z^2 c^2}{\xi^2} - 1\right) \frac{\mu(i\xi)\kappa_z - \kappa_{1z}}{\mu(i\xi)\kappa_z + \kappa_{1z}}\right]$$
(5.40)

with

$$\kappa_{1z} = \operatorname{Im} k_{1z} = \sqrt{\frac{\xi^2}{c^2} \left[ \varepsilon(i\xi)\mu(i\xi) - 1 \right] + \kappa^2},$$
(5.41)

where  $\mathbf{k}_1$  is the wave vector inside the half space. In the retarded limit  $z_A \gg c/\omega_{\min}$  (with  $\omega_{\min}$  being the minimum of all relevant atom and medium resonance frequencies) the potentials take the asymptotic forms [121]

$$U_{e}(z_{A}) = -\frac{3\hbar c\alpha(0)}{64\pi^{2}\varepsilon_{0}z_{A}^{4}} \int_{1}^{\infty} dv \left[ \left(\frac{2}{v^{2}} - \frac{1}{v^{4}}\right) \frac{\varepsilon(0)v - \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}}{\varepsilon(0)v + \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}} - \frac{1}{v^{4}} \frac{\mu(0)v - \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}}{\mu(0)v + \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}} \right],$$

$$U_{m}(z_{A}) = -\frac{3\hbar\beta(0)}{64\pi^{2}\varepsilon_{0}cz_{A}^{4}} \int_{1}^{\infty} dv \left[ \left(\frac{2}{v^{2}} - \frac{1}{v^{4}}\right) \frac{\mu(0)v - \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}}{\mu(0)v + \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}} - \frac{1}{v^{4}} \frac{\varepsilon(0)v - \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}}{\varepsilon(0)v + \sqrt{n^{2}(0) - 1 + v^{2}}} \right]$$
(5.42)
$$(5.43)$$

 $[n(0) = \sqrt{\varepsilon(0)\mu(0)}]$ , while in the nonretarded limit  $n(0)z_A \ll c/\omega_{\text{max}}$  ( $\omega_{\text{max}}$ : maximum of all relevant atom and medium resonance frequencies), they are well approximated by

$$U_e(z_A) = -\frac{\hbar}{16\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^3} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\alpha(i\xi) \,\frac{\varepsilon(i\xi) - 1}{\varepsilon(i\xi) + 1} \,, \tag{5.44}$$

$$U_m(z_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{32\pi^2 z_A} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \,\frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \,\frac{[\varepsilon(i\xi) - 1][\varepsilon(i\xi) + 3]}{\varepsilon(i\xi) + 1}$$
(5.45)

for a dielectric half space and by

$$U_e(z_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0}{32\pi^2\varepsilon_0 z_A} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \alpha(i\xi) \,\frac{[\mu(i\xi) - 1][\mu(i\xi) + 3]}{\mu(i\xi) + 1} \,, \tag{5.46}$$

$$U_e(z_A) = -\frac{\hbar}{16\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^3} \int_0^\infty d\xi \, \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \, \frac{\mu(i\xi) - 1}{\mu(i\xi) + 1}$$
(5.47)



Fig. 5.4. The potential of a polarisable ground-state two-level atom (transition frequency  $\omega_A$ , dipole matrix element d) in front of a magnetoelectric half space is shown as a function of the distance between the atom and the half space for different values of  $\mu(0)$  ( $\omega_{Pe}/\omega_{10} = 0.75$ ,  $\omega_{Te}/\omega_{10} = 1.03$ ,  $\omega_{Tm}/\omega_{10} = 1$ ,  $\gamma_e/\omega_{10} = \gamma_m/\omega_{10} = 0.001$ ) [115].

for a purely magnetic one. One can summarise these results by stating that the CP potential is attractive for two objects of the same (electric/magnetic) nature, e.g. a polarisable atom interacting with a dielectric half space, while being repulsive for two objects of different nature.

In contrast to what is suggested by the findings for a perfect mirror, the different cases furthermore lead to different power laws in the nonretarded limit, with attractive potentials being proportional to  $1/z_A^3$  and repulsive ones following a much weaker  $1/z_A$  behaviour. When either the atom or the half space simultaneously exhibit electric and magnetic properties, both attractive and repulsive force components are present, which may be combined to form a potential barrier. This is illustrated in Fig. 5.4, where we show the potential (5.39) of a polarisable ground-state two-level atom near a magnetoelectric half space, whose permittivity and permeability have been modelled by the single-resonance forms

$$\varepsilon(\omega) = 1 + \frac{\omega_{Pe}^2}{\omega_{Te}^2 - \omega^2 - i\omega\gamma_e}, \qquad \mu(\omega) = 1 + \frac{\omega_{Pm}^2}{\omega_{Tm}^2 - \omega^2 - i\omega\gamma_m}.$$
(5.48)

It is seen that repulsive force components may lead to a potential barrier at intermediate distances while attractive forces always dominate close to the surface due to their stronger power law. For a polarisable atom, repulsive force components are associated with the magnetic properties of the half space, so the barrier increases in height as  $\mu(0)$  increases. It follows from the retarded limit (5.42) that the threshold for barrier formation is  $\mu(0) - 1 \ge 3.29[\varepsilon(0) - 1]$  for a weakly magnetoelectric half space and  $\mu(0) \ge 5.11\varepsilon(0)$  for a strongly magnetoelectric one.

**Plate of finite thickness:** Finally, we consider a plate of arbitrary thickness d. Use of the appropriate reflection coefficients (A.36) in Eqs. (5.32) and (5.33) leads to the potentials [115]

$$U_{e}(z_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \alpha(i\xi) \int_{\xi/c}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \,e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \\ \times \left\{ \frac{[\mu^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} - \kappa_{1z}^{2}] \tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)}{2\mu(i\xi)\kappa_{z}\kappa_{1z} + [\mu^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} + \kappa_{1z}^{2}] \tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)} - \left(2\frac{\kappa_{z}^{2}c^{2}}{\xi^{2}} - 1\right) \frac{[\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} - \kappa_{1z}^{2}] \tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)}{2\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z}\kappa_{1z} + [\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} + \kappa_{1z}^{2}] \tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)} \right\}, \quad (5.49)$$

$$U_{m}(z_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \,\frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^{2}} \int_{\xi/c}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \,e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \\ \times \left\{ \frac{[\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} - \kappa_{1z}^{2}]\tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)}{2\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z}\kappa_{1z} + [\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} + \kappa_{1z}^{2}]\tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)} \\ - \left( 2 \,\frac{\kappa_{z}^{2}c^{2}}{\xi^{2}} - 1 \right) \frac{[\mu^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} - \kappa_{1z}^{2}]\tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)}{2\mu(i\xi)\kappa_{z}\kappa_{1z} + [\mu^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} + \kappa_{1z}^{2}]\tanh(\kappa_{1z}d)} \right\}.$$
(5.50)

For a sufficiently thick plate,  $d \gg z_A$ , one may approximate  $\tanh(\kappa_{1z}d) \simeq 1$  to recover the half-space results (5.39) and (5.40). In the opposite limit of a thin plate,  $n(0)d \ll z_A$ , the approximation  $\kappa_{1z}d \ll 1$  results in

$$U_{e}(z_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}d}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2}\alpha(i\xi) \int_{\xi/c}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \,e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \left[\frac{\mu^{2}(i\xi)\kappa^{2}-\kappa_{1z}^{2}}{2\mu(i\xi)\kappa} -\left(2\frac{\kappa_{z}^{2}c^{2}}{\xi^{2}}-1\right)\frac{\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2}-\kappa_{1z}^{2}}{2\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z}}\right]$$

$$U_{m}(z_{A}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}d}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \,e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \left[\frac{\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\kappa^{2}-\kappa_{1z}^{2}}{2\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa_{z}}\right]$$
(5.51)

$${}_{n}(z_{A}) = \frac{n\mu_{0}a}{8\pi^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \,\frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^{2}} \int_{\xi/c}^{\infty} d\kappa_{z} \,e^{-2\kappa_{z}z_{A}} \left[\frac{\varepsilon (i\xi)\kappa - \kappa_{1z}}{2\varepsilon(i\xi)\kappa} - \left(2\frac{\kappa_{z}^{2}c^{2}}{\xi^{2}} - 1\right)\frac{\mu^{2}(i\xi)\kappa_{z}^{2} - \kappa_{1z}^{2}}{2\mu(i\xi)\kappa_{z}}\right].$$

$$(5.52)$$

As for the half space, these potentials reduce to simple power laws for large and small atomsurface separations. In the retarded limit, the thin-plate potentials read

$$U_e(z_A) = -\frac{\hbar c \alpha(0) d}{160\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^5} \left[ \frac{14\varepsilon^2(0) - 9}{\varepsilon(0)} - \frac{6\mu^2(0) - 1}{\mu(0)} \right],$$
(5.53)

$$U_m(z_A) = -\frac{\hbar\beta(0)d}{160\pi^2\varepsilon_0 cz_A^5} \left[\frac{14\mu^2(0) - 9}{\mu(0)} - \frac{6\varepsilon^2(0) - 1}{\varepsilon(0)}\right],\tag{5.54}$$

while for nonretarded distances, they become

$$U_e(z_A) = -\frac{3\hbar d}{64\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^4} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\alpha(i\xi) \,\frac{\varepsilon^2(i\xi) - 1}{\varepsilon(i\xi)} \,, \tag{5.55}$$

$$U_m(z_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0 d}{64\pi^2 z_A^2} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \,\frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \,\frac{[\varepsilon(i\xi) - 1][3\varepsilon(i\xi) + 1]}{\varepsilon(i\xi)}$$
(5.56)



Fig. 5.5. The potential of a polarisable ground-state two-level atom in front of a magnetoelectric plate is shown as a function of the atom-plate separation for different values of the plate thickness  $d \ [\mu(0) = 5;$  whereas all other parameters are the same as in Fig. 5.4] [115].

for a purely electric plate and

$$U_e(z_A) = \frac{\hbar\mu_0 d}{64\pi^2 z_A^2} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \alpha(i\xi) \,\frac{[\mu(i\xi) - 1][3\mu(i\xi) + 1]}{\mu(i\xi)} \,, \tag{5.57}$$

$$U_m(z_A) = -\frac{3\hbar d}{64\pi^2 \varepsilon_0 z_A^4} \int_0^\infty d\xi \, \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \, \frac{\mu^2(i\xi) - 1}{\mu(i\xi)}$$
(5.58)

(5.59)

for a purely magnetic one. A comparison with the findings of Sec. 5.2.2 shows that when moving from a thick to a thin plate, all power laws are increased by one inverse power as a result of the linear dependence on  $d/z_A$ . This similarity is due to the common microscopic origins of both forces (Sec. 5.4).

The general behaviour of the CP potential for a thin plate being very similar to that for thick plates, one may expect that repulsive force components may lead to potential barriers regardless of the plate thickness. This is confirmed in Fig. 5.5, where we display the potential (5.49) of a polarisable atom near plates of various thicknesses. We have chosen sufficiently strong magnetic properties to ensure the existence of a potential barrier. It is very low for a thin plate, reaches a maximal height for some intermediate thickness and then lowers slowly towards the asymptotic half space value as the thickness is further increased.



Fig. 5.6. An atom interacting with a magneto-electric sphere.

## 5.2.3 Atom in front of a sphere

As a second application of the general theory, let us consider an atom placed above at distance  $r_A$  from the center of a magneto-electric sphere of radius R, permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\omega)$ , see Fig. 5.6. After substitution of the Green tensor (A.59) from App. A.4.3, the electric potential (5.26) in the presence of the sphere is given by [122]

$$U_{e}(r_{A}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}}{8\pi^{2}c} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{3} \alpha(i\xi) \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} (2l+1) \Biggl\{ \left[ h_{l}^{(1)}(kr_{A}) \right]^{2} r_{s}^{l} + l(l+1) \\ \times \left[ \frac{h_{l}^{(1)}(kr_{A})}{kr_{A}} \right]^{2} r_{p}^{l} + \left[ \frac{1}{kr_{A}} \frac{d[r_{A}h_{l}^{(1)}(kr_{A})]}{dr_{A}} \right]^{2} r_{p}^{l} \Biggr\}, \quad (5.60)$$

where the sphere's reflection coefficients for s- and p-polarised spherical waves read

$$r_{s}^{l} = -\frac{\mu(i\xi)[zj_{l}(z)]'j_{l}(z_{1}) - j_{l}(z)[z_{1}j_{l}(z_{1})]'}{\mu(i\xi)[zh_{l}^{(1)}(z)]'j_{l}(z_{1}) - h_{l}^{(1)}(z)[z_{1}j_{l}(z_{1})]'},$$
(5.61)

$$r_{p}^{l} = -\frac{\varepsilon(i\xi)[zj_{l}(z)]'j_{l}(z_{1}) - j_{l}(z)[z_{1}j_{l}(z_{1})]'}{\varepsilon(i\xi)[zh_{l}^{(1)}(z)]'j_{l}(z_{1}) - h_{l}^{(1)}(z)[z_{1}j_{l}(z_{1})]'}$$
(5.62)

 $[z = kR, k = i\xi/c, z_1 = k_1R, k_1 = n(i\xi)k, n(\omega) = \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega)\mu(\omega)}, h_l^{(1)}(z)$ : spherical Hankel functions of the first kind,  $j_l(z)$ : spherical Bessel functions]. Using the duality invariance discussed in Sec. 5.2.1, the respective magnetic potential (5.27) can be obtained by making the replacements  $\alpha \rightarrow \beta/c^2$  and  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$ , which as in the case of the half space amounts to an exchange  $r_s \leftrightarrow r_p$ :

$$U_m(r_A) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_0}{8\pi^2 c} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^3 \,\frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \sum_{l=1}^\infty (2l+1) \left\{ \left[ h_l^{(1)}(kr_A) \right]^2 r_p^l + l(l+1) \\ \times \left[ \frac{h_l^{(1)}(kr_A)}{kr_A} \right]^2 r_s^l + \left[ \frac{1}{kr_A} \,\frac{d[r_A h_l^{(1)}(kr_A)]}{dr_A} \right]^2 r_s^l \right\}.$$
 (5.63)

Dispersion forces

In the limit of a large sphere,  $R \gg z_A = r_A - R$ , the main contribution to the sums in Eqs. (5.60) and (5.63) is due to terms with large n and one recovers the half-space results (5.44)–(5.47), as expected. For a sufficiently small sphere,  $n(0)R \ll r_A$ , the sums effectively reduce to terms with l = 1, and one finds

$$U_e(r_A) = -\frac{\hbar}{32\pi^3\varepsilon_0^2 r_A^6} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\alpha(i\xi) \Big[\alpha_\odot(i\xi)g(\xi r_A/c) - \frac{\beta_\odot(i\xi)}{c^2} h(\xi r_A/c)\Big], (5.64)$$

$$U_m(r_A) = -\frac{\hbar}{32\pi^3 \varepsilon_0^2 r_A^6} \int_0^{\infty} d\xi \, \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \left[ \frac{\beta_{\odot}(i\xi)}{c^2} g(\xi r_A/c) - \alpha_{\odot}(i\xi)h(\xi r_A/c) \right] \, (5.65)$$

with  $g(x) = 2e^{-2x}(3 + 6x + 5x^2 + 2x^3 + x^4)$  and  $h(x) = 2x^2e^{-2x}(1 + 2x + x^2)$ , where we have introduced the small sphere's polarisability [118]

$$\alpha_{\odot}(\omega) = 4\pi\varepsilon_0 R^3 \frac{\varepsilon(\omega) - 1}{\varepsilon(\omega) + 2}$$
(5.66)

as well as its magnetisability

$$\beta_{\odot}(\omega) = \frac{4\pi R^3}{\mu_0} \frac{\mu(\omega) - 1}{\mu(\omega) + 2}.$$
(5.67)

It is worth noting that in the small-sphere limit the electric and magnetic properties of the sphere completely separate. Furthermore, as will be seen in Sec. 5.3.2 below, the potentials (5.64) and (5.65) of an atom interacting with a small sphere have exactly the same form as that of two atoms, with the sphere's polarisability and magnetisability replacing those of the second atom. In the retarded limit  $r_A \gg c/\omega_{min}$ , the sphere potentials further reduce to

$$U_e(r_A) = -\frac{23\hbar c\alpha(0)\alpha_{\odot}(0)}{64\pi^3\varepsilon_0^2 r_A^7} + \frac{7\hbar\alpha(0)\beta_{\odot}(0)}{64\pi^3\varepsilon_0^2 c^2 r_A^7},$$
(5.68)

$$U_m(r_A) = -\frac{23\hbar c\beta(0)\beta_{\odot}(0)}{64\pi^3\varepsilon_0^2 c^4 r_A^7} + \frac{7\hbar\beta(0)\alpha_{\odot}(0)}{64\pi^3\varepsilon_0^2 c^2 r_A^7}, \qquad (5.69)$$

while in the retarded limit  $r_A \ll c/\omega_{\rm max}$  one has

$$U_e(r_A) = -\frac{3\hbar}{16\pi^3 \varepsilon_0^2 r_A^6} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\alpha(i\xi)\alpha_{\odot}(i\xi) + \frac{\hbar}{16\pi^3 c^3 \varepsilon_0^2 r_A^4} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \alpha(i\xi) \,\frac{\beta_{\odot}(i\xi)}{c^2} \,,$$
(5.70)

$$U_m(r_A) = -\frac{3\hbar}{16\pi^3\varepsilon_0^2 r_A^6} \int_0^\infty d\xi \, \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \, \frac{\beta_{\odot}(i\xi)}{c^2} + \frac{\hbar}{16\pi^3c^3\varepsilon_0^2 r_A^4} \int_0^\infty d\xi \, \xi^2 \, \frac{\beta(i\xi)}{c^2} \, \alpha_{\odot}(i\xi).$$
(5.71)

The hierarchy of signs and power laws of these potentials is closely analogous to that found for a half space or a thin plate: A polarisable atom is attracted to an electric sphere and repelled from a magnetic one, while the findings for a magnetisable atom are exactly opposite. Again, attractive and repulsive potentials follow the same  $(1/r_A^7)$  power laws in the retarded limit, while for short distances attractive potentials (with their  $1/r_A^6$  power law) dominate over the repulsive  $(1/r_A^4)$  ones.

## 5.3 Van der Waals forces

The simultaneous interaction of two atoms with the electromagnetic field leads to the vdW force between them (for general literature and reviews, see [22, 97, 100, 123–127]), which may sensitively depend on their magneto-electric environment. In close analogy to the single-atom case, velocity-independent vdW forces between ground-state atoms can be derived from an atom-field coupling energy. Starting point is the two-atom generalization

$$\hat{H} = \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A^2}{2m_A} + \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_B^2}{2m_B} + \hat{H}_A^{\text{int}} + \hat{H}_B^{\text{int}} + \hat{H}_F + \hat{H}_{AF} + \hat{H}_{BF}$$
(5.72)

of the Hamiltonian (5.12), where the internal dynamics of the atoms is given by Hamiltonians of the type (5.13) and each atom individually interacts with the electromagnetic field via an interaction Hamiltonian of the form (5.14). Applying the Born–Oppenheimer approximation by integrating the internal atomic dynamics for given center-of-mass positions  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A$ ,  $\hat{\mathbf{r}}_B$  and momenta  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A$ ,  $\hat{\mathbf{p}}_B$ , one obtains the effective Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H}_{\text{eff}} = \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A^2}{2m_A} + \frac{\hat{\mathbf{p}}_A^2}{2m_A} + E + \Delta E.$$
(5.73)

Here, E denotes the energy of the two uncoupled atoms and the field, and the energy shift

$$\Delta E = \Delta E_0 + \Delta E(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A) + \Delta E(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_B) + \Delta E(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{\mathbf{r}}_B), \qquad (5.74)$$

can be separated into a position-independent part (which contains the Lamb shifts of both atoms), two parts depending only on the positions of one of the atoms and a genuine two-atom part. The Hamiltonian (5.73) generates the following equations of motion for atom A:

$$m_A \dot{\hat{\mathbf{r}}}_A = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \Big[ m_A \hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{H}_{\text{eff}} \Big] = \hat{\mathbf{p}}_A, \tag{5.75}$$

$$\hat{\mathbf{F}}_{A} = m_{A} \ddot{\hat{\mathbf{r}}}_{A} = \frac{1}{i\hbar} \Big[ m_{A} \dot{\hat{\mathbf{r}}}_{A}, \hat{H}_{\text{eff}} \Big] = -\nabla_{A} U(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}) - \nabla_{A} U(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_{A}, \hat{\mathbf{r}}_{B})$$
(5.76)

(similarly for atom B). The atom is thus subject to two forces, the CP force, which as discussed in the previous Sec. 5.2 can be derived from the CP potential (5.19), and the vdW force which is due to the additional atom. The associated vdW potential is given by the two-atom part of the energy shift

$$U(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{\mathbf{r}}_B) = \Delta E(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{\mathbf{r}}_B)$$
(5.77)

and it describes not only the direct, free-space interaction of the two atoms but also accounts for modifications of this interactions due to the presence of magnetoelectrics. As a consequence, Newton's third law  $\hat{\mathbf{F}}_{AB} = -\hat{\mathbf{F}}_{BA}$  does not necessarily hold for the vdW force  $\hat{\mathbf{F}}_{AB} = -\nabla_A U(\hat{\mathbf{r}}_A, \hat{\mathbf{r}}_B)$ , due to the contribution of the bodies to the momentum balance.

# 5.3.1 Perturbation theory

In close analogy to the single-atom case, the vdW potential can for sufficiently weak atom-field coupling be obtained from a perturbative calculation of the energy shift. With each atom being

Case	$ I\rangle$	$ II\rangle$	$ III\rangle$
(1)	$ k_A, 0_B angle  {f 1}_1 angle$	$ 0_A,0_B angle {f 1}_2,{f 1}_3 angle$	$ 0_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_4 angle$
(2)	$ k_A,0_B angle {f 1}_1 angle$	$ k_A, l_B\rangle \{0\} angle$	$ k_A,0_B angle {f 1}_2 angle$
(3)	$ k_A,0_B angle {f 1}_1 angle$	$ k_A, l_B\rangle \{0\} angle$	$ 0_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_2 angle$
(4)	$ k_A,0_B angle {f 1}_1 angle$	$ k_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_2, {f 1}_3 angle$	$ k_A, 0_B angle  {f 1}_4 angle$
(5)	$ k_A, 0_B angle  {f 1}_1 angle$	$ k_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_2, {f 1}_3 angle$	$ 0_A, l_B \rangle  1_4 \rangle$
(6)	$ 0_A, l_B  angle  1_1  angle$	$ 0_A,0_B angle {f 1}_2,{f 1}_3 angle$	$ k_A, 0_B angle  {f 1}_4 angle$
(7)	$ 0_A, l_B  angle  1_1  angle$	$ k_A, l_B angle \{0\} angle$	$ k_A,0_B angle {f 1}_2 angle$
(8)	$ 0_A, l_B  angle  1_1  angle$	$ k_A, l_B angle \{0\} angle$	$ 0_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_2 angle$
(9)	$ 0_A, l_B \rangle  1_1 \rangle$	$ k_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_2, {f 1}_3 angle$	$ k_A, 0_B angle  {f 1}_4 angle$
(10)	$ 0_A, l_B  angle  1_1  angle$	$ k_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_2, {f 1}_3 angle$	$ 0_A, l_B angle  {f 1}_4 angle$

Tab. 5.1. Intermediate states contributing to the two-atom vdW interaction, where we have used the shorthand notations  $|\mathbf{1}_{\mu}\rangle = |\mathbf{1}_{\lambda_{\mu}i_{\mu}}(\mathbf{r}_{\mu},\omega_{\mu})\rangle, |\mathbf{1}_{\mu}\mathbf{1}_{\nu}\rangle = |\mathbf{1}_{\lambda_{\mu}i_{\mu}}(\mathbf{r}_{\mu},\omega_{\mu})\mathbf{1}_{\lambda_{\nu}i_{\nu}}(\mathbf{r}_{\nu},\omega_{\nu})\rangle.$ 

linearly coupled to the electromagnetic field via an interaction (5.20), two-atom contributions start to appear in the fourth-order energy shift

$$\Delta E = \sum_{I,II,III\neq 0} \frac{\langle G|\hat{H}_{AF} + \hat{H}_{BF}|III\rangle \langle III|\hat{H}_{AF} + \hat{H}_{BF}|II\rangle}{(E_G - E_{III})} \times \frac{\langle II|\hat{H}_{AF} + \hat{H}_{BF}|I\rangle \langle I|\hat{H}_{AF} + \hat{H}_{BF}|0\rangle}{(E_G - E_{II})(E_G - E_I)}, \qquad (5.78)$$

where  $|G\rangle = |0_A\rangle |0_B\rangle |\{0\}\rangle$  is now the (uncoupled) ground state of  $\hat{H}_A^{\text{int}} + \hat{H}_B^{\text{int}} + \hat{H}_F$ . In order to give a nonvanishing contribution to the energy shift, the intermediate states  $|I\rangle$  and  $|III\rangle$  must be such that one of the atoms and a single quantum of the fundamental fields are excited, while three possibilities exist for the intermediate states  $|II\rangle$ : Either both atoms are in the ground state and two field quanta are excited  $[|\mathbf{1}_{\lambda}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\mathbf{1}_{\lambda'}(\mathbf{r}',\omega')\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\hat{\mathbf{f}}_{\lambda'}^{\dagger}(\mathbf{r}',\omega')|\{0\}\rangle]$ , or both atoms are excited and the field is in its ground state or both atoms and two field quanta are excited. When invoking the additional requirement that each atom must undergo exactly two transitions, there is a total of ten possible combinations of intermediate states, which are listed in Tab. 5.1. The fourth-order energy shift (5.78) thus involves both transitions from zero- to single-quantum excitations and those between single- and two-quantum excitations of the electromagnetic field. The former are given by Eqs. (5.22) and (5.23), the latter can, upon recalling

the field expansions (3.82) and (3.83), be found to be

$$\langle k_{A} | \langle I_{\lambda_{1}i_{1}}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\omega_{1}) | \hat{\mathbf{d}}_{A} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) | I_{\lambda_{2}i_{2}}(\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega_{2}) I_{\lambda_{3}i_{3}}(\mathbf{r}_{3},\omega_{3}) \rangle | 0_{A} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{\delta_{(13)}}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{A}^{k_{0}} \cdot \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega_{2}) \right]_{i_{2}} + \frac{\delta_{(12)}}{\sqrt{2}} \left[ \mathbf{d}_{A}^{k_{0}} \cdot \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda_{3}}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{3},\omega_{3}) \right]_{i_{3}}, \qquad (5.79)$$

$$\langle k_{A} | \langle I_{\lambda_{1}i_{1}}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\omega_{1}) | \hat{\mathbf{m}}_{A} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{B}}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) | I_{\lambda_{2}i_{2}}(\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega_{2}) I_{\lambda_{3}i_{3}}(\mathbf{r}_{3},\omega_{3}) \rangle | 0_{A} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{\delta_{(13)}}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\left\{ \mathbf{m}_{A}^{k_{0}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{A} \times \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda_{2}}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega_{2}) \right\}_{i_{2}}}{i\omega_{2}} + \frac{\delta_{(12)}}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\left\{ \mathbf{m}_{A}^{k_{0}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}_{A} \times \boldsymbol{G}_{\lambda_{3}}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{3},\omega_{3}) \right\}_{i_{3}}}{i\omega_{3}}$$

$$(5.80)$$

with

$$\delta_{(\mu\nu)} = \delta_{\lambda_{\mu}\lambda_{\nu}}\delta_{i_{\mu}i_{\nu}}(\mathbf{r}_{\mu} - \mathbf{r}_{\nu})\delta(\omega_{\mu} - \omega_{\nu}).$$
(5.81)

Comparison with Eqs. (5.22) and (5.23) reveals that the matrix element for the one- to twophoton transition is equivalent to the two possible combinations of one photon being created and one propagating freely. This is schematically depicted in Fig. 5.7(a).

The various contributions to the vdW potential can be calculated by substituting the intermediate states from Tab. 5.1 and the matrix elements (5.22), (5.23), (5.79) and (5.80) into Eq. (5.78). Let us begin with the intermediate-state combination (1) from Tab. 5.1, the calculation of which is schematically represented in Fig. 5.7(b). After expanding the product in Eq. (5.78), evaluating the delta functions (5.81) and making use of the integral relation (3.87), one obtains

$$\begin{split} \Delta E_{(1)} &= -\frac{\mu_0^2}{\hbar\pi^2} \sum_{k,l} \int_0^\infty d\omega \int_0^\infty d\omega' \left( \frac{1}{D_{(1a)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(1b)}} \right) \\ &\times \left\{ \omega^2 \omega'^2 \mathbf{d}_A^{0k} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_B^{0l} \mathbf{d}_A^{0k} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B, \omega') \cdot \mathbf{d}_B^{0l} \right. \\ &+ \omega \omega' \left[ \mathbf{d}_A^{0k} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \cdot \mathbf{m}_B^{0l} \right] \left[ \mathbf{m}_B^{0l} \cdot \nabla \times \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_B, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega') \cdot \mathbf{d}_A^{0k} \right] \\ &+ \omega \omega' \left[ \mathbf{m}_A^{0k} \cdot \nabla \times \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B, \omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_B^{0l} \right] \left[ \mathbf{d}_B^{0l} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_B, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega') \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \cdot \mathbf{m}_A^{0k} \right] \\ &+ \left[ \mathbf{m}_A^{0k} \cdot \nabla \times \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \cdot \mathbf{m}_B^{0l} \right] \left[ \mathbf{m}_B^{0l} \cdot \nabla \times \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{r}_B, \mathbf{r}_A, \omega') \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \cdot \mathbf{m}_A^{0k} \right] . \end{aligned}$$
(5.82)

Note that the single- to two-photon transition (5.79) [or (5.80)] with its two possible processes [Fig. 5.7(a)] enters the energy shift quadratically, so after expanding the product, four different terms arise, see Fig. 5.7(b). They can be grouped into pairs of equal terms, so one ends up with only two distinct contributions. After assuming real dipole matrix elements, these two only differ in their frequency denominators  $D_{(1a)}$  and  $D_{(1b)}$  which are given in Tab. 5.2. The energy shift (5.82) contains electric-electric contributions (where both atoms undergo purely electric transitions), magnetic-magnetic contributions (where both atoms undergo magnetic transitions) and mixed electric-magnetic and magnetic-electric ones. As in the single-atom case, we have assumed nonchiral atoms and discarded all those contributions where at least one atom undergoes an electric and a magnetic transition.



Fig. 5.7. Schematic representation of three-photon interactions (a) and the contribution (1) to the fourthorder energy shift (b). Solid lines represent atomic states and dashed lines stand for photons. We do not distinguish electric and magnetic interactions.

The contributions to the energy shift which are associated with the remaining intermediatestate combinations listed in Tab. 5.1 can be calculated in a similar way; all contributions are depicted in Fig. 5.8 (cf. also Ref. [22]). The contributions (4)–(6), (9) and (10) contain twophoton states, so they correspond to two disctinct terms, similar to the contribution (1) studied above. However, for the contributions (4), (5), (9) and (10), one of those two terms separates into two single-atom processes [diagrams (4b), (5b), (9b) and (10b) of Fig. 5.8] and does hence not contribute to the vdW potential. For real dipole matrix elements, all genuine two-atom contributions only differ from Eq. (5.82) by the frequency denominators  $D_{(i)}$  and possibly also by the sign of the terms in the third and fourth lines of the equation; signs and denominators are listed in Tab. 5.2. The total vdW potential  $U(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = \Delta E(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = \sum_i \Delta E_{(i)}$  can be obtained by

Case	Sign	Denominator
(1)	+	$D_{(1a)} = (\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)(\omega + \omega')(\omega_B^{l0} + \omega'),$
	+	$D_{(1b)} = (\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)(\omega + \omega')(\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)$
(2)	±	$D_{(2)} = (\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0})(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega')$
(3)	+	$D_{(3)} = (\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0})(\omega_B^{l0} + \omega')$
(4)	±	$D_{(4a)} = (\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0} + \omega + \omega')(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega')$
(5)	$\pm$	$D_{(5a)} = (\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0} + \omega' + \omega')(\omega_B^{k0} + \omega)$
(6)	+	$D_{(6a)} = (\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)(\omega + \omega')(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega'),$
	+	$D_{(6b)} = (\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)(\omega + \omega')(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)$
(7)	+	$D_{(7)} = (\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0})(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega')$
(8)	±	$D_{(8)} = (\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0})(\omega_B^{l0} + \omega')$
(9)	$\pm$	$D_{(9a)} = (\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0} + \omega + \omega')(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega)$
(10)	±	$D_{(10a)} = (\omega_B^{l0} + \omega)(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0} + \omega + \omega')(\omega_B^{l0} + \omega')$

Tab. 5.2. Signs and frequency denominators associated with the intermediate-state combinations given in Tab. 5.1.

summing all contributions with the aid of the identity

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega' \left[ \frac{1}{D_{(1a)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(1b)}} \pm \frac{1}{D_{(2)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(3)}} \pm \frac{1}{D_{(4)}} \pm \frac{1}{D_{(5)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(5)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(6a)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(6b)}} + \frac{1}{D_{(7)}} \pm \frac{1}{D_{(8)}} \pm \frac{1}{D_{(9)}} \pm \frac{1}{D_{(10)}} \right] f(\omega, \omega')$$

$$= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega' \frac{4(\omega_{A}^{k} + \omega_{B}^{l} + \omega)}{(\omega_{A}^{k} + \omega_{B}^{l})(\omega_{A}^{k} + \omega)(\omega_{B}^{l} + \omega)} \left( \frac{1}{\omega + \omega'} \mp \frac{1}{\omega - \omega'} \right) f(\omega, \omega')$$
(5.83)

which holds because the remaining parts  $f(\omega, \omega')$  of the integrands in Eq. (5.82) are symmetric with respect to an interchange of  $\omega$  and  $\omega'$ . The  $\omega'$ -integral can be performed with the help of

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega' \omega' \left( \frac{1}{\omega + \omega'} + \frac{1}{\omega - \omega'} \right) \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega') = -\frac{\pi}{2} \omega [\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega) + \boldsymbol{G}^{*}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \omega)]. \quad (5.84)$$

Transforming the  $\omega$ -integral to run along the positive imaginary axis, one finds [58,100,128–130]

$$U(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = U_{ee}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) + U_{em}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) + U_{me}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) + U_{mm}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B),$$
(5.85)



Fig. 5.8. Schematic representation of all two-atom contributions to the fourth-order energy shift.

$$U_{ee}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{4} \mathrm{tr} \big[ \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{A}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{B}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi) \big]$$
  
$$= -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{4} \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{A}(i\xi) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{B}(i\xi) \mathrm{tr} \big[ \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi) \big],$$
(5.86)

$$\begin{aligned} U_{em}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) &= -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{\infty}d\xi\,\xi^{2}\mathrm{tr}\Big[\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{A}(i\xi)\cdot\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\cdot\boldsymbol{\beta}_{B}(i\xi)\cdot\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi)\Big] \\ &= -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{\infty}d\xi\,\xi^{2}\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{A}(i\xi)\boldsymbol{\beta}_{B}(i\xi)\mathrm{tr}\Big\{\Big[\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\Big]\cdot\big[\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi)\big]\Big\}, \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.87)$$

$$U_{me}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \mathrm{tr} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\beta}_{A}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}, i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{B}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \Big] \\ = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \boldsymbol{\beta}_{A}(i\xi) \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{B}(i\xi) \mathrm{tr} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}, i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \Big], \quad (5.88)$$

$$U_{mm}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \operatorname{tr} \Big[ \boldsymbol{\beta}_{A}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \cdot \boldsymbol{\beta}_{B}(i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \Big]$$
$$= -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \boldsymbol{\beta}_{A}(i\xi) \boldsymbol{\beta}_{B}(i\xi) \times \operatorname{tr} \Big\{ \big[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big] \cdot \big[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, i\xi) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big] \Big\},$$
(5.89)

where the atomic polarisabilities and magnetisabilities are given by Eqs. (5.28) and (5.29) and the respective second lines of these equalities hold for isotropic atoms. In close similarity to the single-atom CP potential (5.25)–(5.27), the two-atom vdW potential can hence be expressed in terms of the atomic response functions and the Green tensor of the electromagnetic field, where the latter connects the positions of the two atoms.

In order to treat the interaction of atoms which are embedded in a magnetoelectric, we have to generalise the above results by taking into account local-field effects. In close analogy to the single-atom case, this can be achieved via the real-cavity model by substituting the respective local-field corrected Green tensors (A.80), (A.82)–(A.84) from App. A.6 into Eqs. (5.86)–(5.89) resulting in [58, 114]

$$U_{ee}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{4} \alpha_{A}(i\xi) \alpha_{B}(i\xi) \left[\frac{3\varepsilon_{A}(i\xi)}{2\varepsilon_{A}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \left[\frac{3\varepsilon_{B}(i\xi)}{2\varepsilon_{B}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \times \operatorname{tr}\left[\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi)\right],$$
(5.90)

$$U_{em}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \alpha_{A}(i\xi) \beta_{B}(i\xi) \left[\frac{3\varepsilon_{A}(i\xi)}{2\varepsilon_{A}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \left[\frac{3}{2\mu_{B}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \\ \times \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left[\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right]\cdot\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi)\right]\right\},\tag{5.91}$$



Fig. 5.9. Interaction of two atoms embedded in a bulk magneto-dielectric medium.

$$U_{me}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2}\beta_{A}(i\xi)\alpha_{B}(i\xi) \left[\frac{3}{2\mu_{A}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \left[\frac{3\varepsilon_{B}(i\xi)}{2\varepsilon_{B}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \\ \times \operatorname{tr}\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi)\cdot\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right],$$
(5.92)

$$U_{mm}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \beta_{A}(i\xi)\beta_{B}(i\xi) \left[\frac{3}{2\mu_{A}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \left[\frac{3}{2\mu_{B}(i\xi)+1}\right]^{2} \times \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right]\cdot\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\right]\right\},$$
(5.93)

where  $\varepsilon_A(\omega) = \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  and  $\mu_A(\omega) = \mu(\mathbf{r}_A, \omega)$  (and similarly for atom *B*).

The behaviour of the vdW potential under a duality transformation  $\alpha \leftrightarrow \beta/c^2$ ,  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$  follows immediately from the respective transformation laws of the Green tensor derived in Apps. A.2 and A.6. Using Eqs. (A.8)–(A.11), one sees that the free-space potentials (5.86)–(5.89) transform into one another according to  $U_{ee} \leftrightarrow U_{mm}$ ,  $U_{em} \leftrightarrow U_{me}$ , so that the total vdW potential (5.85) is duality invariant [49]. The same is true for embedded atoms when including local-field corrections, as Eqs. (A.87)–(A.90) show. The duality invariance can be exploited when applying the general potentials to specific geometries; e.g., after calculation of  $U_{ee}$  for a certain magnetoelectric body,  $U_{mm}$  can be obtained by replacing  $\alpha \rightarrow \beta/c^2$  and exchanging  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$ .

## 5.3.2 Two atoms inside a bulk medium

Let us first consider the vdW potential of two isotropic atoms that are embedded in an infinite homogeneous bulk medium of permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\omega)$  (Fig. 5.9). Using the bulk Green tensor (A.17), the local-field corrected potentials (5.90) and (5.91) take the forms

[58, 114, 131, 132]

$$U_{ee}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar}{16\pi^{3}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}r_{AB}^{6}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\alpha_{A}(i\xi)\alpha_{B}(i\xi) \,\frac{81\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)}{[2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1]^{4}} \,g[n(i\xi)\xi r_{AB}/c],$$
(5.94)
$$U_{em}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{16\pi^{3}r_{AB}^{4}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2}\alpha_{A}(i\xi)\beta_{B}(i\xi) \,\frac{81\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\mu^{2}(i\xi)}{[2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1]^{2}[2\mu(i\xi)+1]^{2}}$$

$$\times h[n(i\xi)\xi r_{AB}/c],$$
(5.95)

 $[r_{AB} = |\mathbf{r}_A - \mathbf{r}_B|; n(\omega) = \sqrt{\varepsilon(\omega)\mu(\omega)}$ , refractive index of the medium] with  $g(x) = e^{-2x}(3 + 6x + 5x^2 + 2x^3 + x^4)$  and  $h(x) = e^{-2x}(1 + 2x + x^2)$ . Making use of duality invariance, we can apply the replacements  $\alpha \leftrightarrow \beta/c^2$ ,  $\varepsilon \leftrightarrow \mu$  to directly infer the remaining two potentials [58, 114, 131, 132]

$$U_{me}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = \frac{\hbar \mu_{0}^{2}}{16\pi^{3} r_{AB}^{4}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2} \beta_{A}(i\xi) \alpha_{B}(i\xi) \,\frac{81\mu^{2}(i\xi)\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)}{[2\mu(i\xi)+1]^{2}[2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1]^{2}} \\ \times h[n(i\xi)\xi r_{AB}/c],$$
(5.96)

$$U_{mm}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_0^2}{16\pi^3 r_{AB}^6} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\beta_A(i\xi)\beta_B(i\xi) \,\frac{81\mu^2(i\xi)}{[2\mu(i\xi)+1]^4} \,g[n(i\xi)\xi r_{AB}/c].$$
(5.97)

These results and their retarded and nonretarded limits given below generalise the well-known free space potentials [117, 133–136]; in particular,  $U_{ee}$  reduces to the famous Casimir–Polder potential of two polarisable ground state atoms in free space for  $\varepsilon = \mu = 1$  [94]. In free space, the potential between two electric or two magnetic atoms is attractive and that between an electric and a magnetic one is repulsive, in agreement with the general heuristic rule that dispersion forces between objects of the same electric/magnetic nature are attractive and those between objects of opposite nature are repulsive.

An inspection of Eqs. (5.94)–(5.97) reveals that a bulk magneto-electric medium can influence the strengths of the various two-atom interactions, but cannot change their signs. In order to discuss the effect of the medium in more detail, it is useful to consider the limits of large and small interatomic separations. In the retarded limit  $r_{AB} \gg c/\omega_{\min}$ , the potentials are well approximated by

$$U_{ee}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{23\hbar c \alpha_{A}(0) \alpha_{B}(0)}{64\pi^{3} \varepsilon_{0}^{2} r_{AB}^{7}} \frac{81\varepsilon^{2}(0)}{n(0)[2\varepsilon(0)+1]^{4}},$$
(5.98)

$$U_{em}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = \frac{7\hbar c\mu_{0}\alpha_{A}(0)\beta_{B}(0)}{64\pi^{3}\varepsilon_{0}r_{AB}^{7}} \frac{81\varepsilon(0)\mu(0)}{n(0)[2\varepsilon(0)+1]^{2}[2\mu(0)+1]^{2}},$$
(5.99)

$$U_{me}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = \frac{7\hbar c\mu_0 \beta_A(0)\alpha_B(0)}{64\pi^3 \varepsilon_0 r_{AB}^7} \frac{81\mu(0)\varepsilon(0)}{n(0)[2\mu(0)+1]^2[2\varepsilon(0)+1]^2},$$
(5.100)

$$U_{mm}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = -\frac{23\hbar c\mu_0^2 \beta_A(0)\beta_B(0)}{64\pi^3 r_{AB}^7} \frac{81\mu^2(0)}{n(0)[2\mu(0)+1]^4}.$$
(5.101)

In this case, the influence of the medium on all four types of potentials is very similar: The coupling of each atom to the field is screened by a factor  $3\varepsilon(0)/[2\varepsilon(0) + 1]^2$  for polarisable



Fig. 5.10. Interaction of two atoms in the presence of a magnetoelectric half space.

atoms, and a factor  $3\mu(0)/[2\mu(0) + 1]^2$  for magnetisable atoms; in addition, the reduced speed of light in the medium leads to a further reduction of the potential by a factor n(0). In the nonretarded limit  $r_{AB} \ll c/\omega_{\text{max}}$ , the medium-assisted potentials simplify to

$$U_{ee}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{3\hbar}{16\pi^{3}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}r_{AB}^{6}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\alpha_{A}(i\xi)\alpha_{B}(i\xi) \,\frac{81\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)}{[2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1]^{4}}\,, \tag{5.102}$$
$$U_{em}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = \frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{16\pi^{3}r_{AB}^{4}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{2}\alpha_{A}(i\xi)\beta_{B}(i\xi) \,\frac{81\varepsilon^{2}(i\xi)\mu^{2}(i\xi)}{[2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1]^{2}[2\mu(i\xi)+1]^{2}}\,,$$

$$U_{me}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = \frac{\hbar \mu_0^2}{16\pi^3 r_{AB}^4} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\xi^2 \beta_A(i\xi) \alpha_B(i\xi) \,\frac{81\varepsilon^2(i\xi)\mu^2(i\xi)}{[2\varepsilon(i\xi)+1]^2[2\mu(i\xi)+1]^2} \,,$$
(5.104)

$$U_{mm}(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = -\frac{3\hbar\mu_0^2}{16\pi^3 l^6} \int_0^\infty d\xi \,\beta_A(i\xi)\beta_B(i\xi) \,\frac{81\mu^2(i\xi)}{[2\mu(i\xi)+1]^4} \,.$$
(5.105)

The potentials  $U_{ee}$  and  $U_{mm}$  are thus again reduced, where in the nonretarded limit,  $U_{ee}$  is only influenced by the electric properties of the medium and  $U_{mm}$  only by the magnetic ones. On the contrary, the mixed potentials  $U_{em}$  and  $U_{me}$  are enhanced by a factor of up to 81/16 in the nonretarded limit.

# 5.3.3 Two atoms near a half space

A modification of the vdW interaction does not only occur for atoms embedded in a medium, but can also be induced by a magnetoelectric body placed near to atoms in free space. To see this, let us consider the body-assisted vdW interaction of two atoms placed above  $(z_A, z_B > 0)$  a semi-infinite half space of permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\omega)$ , see Fig. 5.10. For simplicity, we assume both atoms to be isotropic and nonmagnetic, so that  $U = U_{ee}$  as given by Eq. (5.86). Separating the Green tensor into its bulk (free-space) and and scattering parts according to G =

771

(5.103)

 $G^{(0)} + G^{(S)}$ , the potential reads [130]

$$U(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{4} \alpha_{A}(i\xi) \alpha_{B}(i\xi) \mathrm{tr} \big[ \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi) \big] -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{4} \alpha_{A}(i\xi) \alpha_{B}(i\xi) \mathrm{tr} \big[ \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi) + \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi) \big] -\frac{\hbar\mu_{0}^{2}}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\xi^{4} \alpha_{A}(i\xi) \alpha_{B}(i\xi) \mathrm{tr} \big[ \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{B},i\xi) \cdot \mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{B},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi) \big] .$$

$$(5.106)$$

The first term is the free-space potential  $U_0(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B)$  which is due to a direct exchange of two photons between the two atoms according to one of the various processes depicted in Fig. 5.8. The second and third terms represent the body-induced modification of the potential; they are due to processes where one or both of the two exchanged photons are scattered of the surface of the half space before being absorbed. The free-space part of the potential is just a special case of the bulk-medium potential (5.94) calculated in Sec. 5.3.2, while the body-induced change can be found by employing the free-space Green tensor (A.20) from App. A.3 together with the scattering tensor of the half space from App. A.4.1. As the resulting expressions are rather involved due to the large number of geometric parameters, we only give analytical formulae for some simple special cases.

**Perfect mirror:** We first consider a perfect mirror, with the reflection coefficients being given by  $r_s = -r_p = -1$  for a perfectly conducting plate and by  $r_s = -r_p = 1$  for an infinitely permeable one. In the retarded limit  $z_A, z_B, r_{AB} \gg c/\omega_{\min}$ , the vdW potential in the special case  $x_{AB} \ll z_A + z_B = z_+$  can be given in closed form [130, 137, 138]

$$U(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = -\frac{23\hbar c \alpha_A(0)\alpha_B(0)}{64\pi^3 \varepsilon_0^2} \left[ \frac{1}{r_{AB}^7} \mp \frac{32}{23} \frac{x_{AB}^2 + 6r_{AB}^2}{r_{AB}^3 z_+ (r_{AB} + z_+)^5} + \frac{1}{z_+^7} \right]$$
(5.107)

 $(r_{AB} = |\mathbf{r}_A - \mathbf{r}_B|, x_{AB} = |x_A - x_B|)$  where the first term in square brackets is the free-space potential due to the direct exchange of two photons and the second and third terms represent the mirror-induced modification of the potential due to scattering of one or two photons of the mirror surface (where the different signs refer to the two cases of a conducting or permeable mirror). An infinitely permeable plate thus always leads to an enhancement of the retarded interaction of two polarisable atoms whereas two cases need to be distinguished for a perfectly conducting one: When the atoms are aligned parallel to the plate  $(z_{AB} = |z_A - z_B| = 0)$ , Eq. (5.107) shows that the potential is always reduced due to the presence of the plate, while for a perpendicular alignment  $(x_{AB} = 0)$ , the potential of reduced if  $z_B/z_A \leq 4.90$  (atom A being closer to the plate than atom B).

In the nonretarded limit  $z_A, z_B, r_{AB} \ll c/\omega_{max}$ , the vdW potential in the presence of a

perfect mirror is found to be [130, 137, 138]

$$U(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = -\frac{3\hbar}{16\pi^{3}\varepsilon_{0}^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\alpha_{A}(i\xi)\alpha_{B}(i\xi) \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{r_{AB}^{6}} \mp \frac{4x_{AB}^{4} - 2z_{AB}^{2}z_{+}^{2} + x_{AB}^{2}(z_{+}^{2} + z_{AB}^{2})}{3r_{AB}^{5}r_{+}^{5}} + \frac{1}{r_{+}^{6}}\right] \quad (5.108)$$

 $(r_+ = \sqrt{x_{AB}^2 + z_+^2})$ . For a parallel alignment of the two atoms, a perfectly conducting plate thus reduces the vdW potential of two polarisable atoms while a permeable plate leads to an enhancement. In particular in the on-surface limit  $z_+ \rightarrow 0$ , the reduction and enhancement factors with respect to the free-space potential are given by 2/3 and 10/3. On the contrary, for a vertical alignment the potential is reduced by a conducting plate while for a permeable plate it is reduced if  $z_B/z_A \lesssim 14.82$  (atom A being closer to the plate than atom B).

The enhancement and reduction of the nonretarded vdW interaction due to a perfect mirror can be understood from the interaction of the fluctuating atomic dipole moments A and B and their images A' and B' in the plate, with

$$\hat{H}_{\rm dipole} = \hat{V}_{AB} + \hat{V}_{AB'} + \hat{V}_{BA'} \tag{5.109}$$

being the corresponding interaction Hamiltonian. Here,  $\hat{V}_{AB}$  denotes the direct interaction between dipole A and dipole B, while  $\hat{V}_{AB'}$  and  $\hat{V}_{BA'}$  denote the indirect interaction between each dipole and the image induced by the other one in the plate. The leading contribution to the two-atom energy shift is of second order in  $\hat{H}_{dipole}$ ,

$$\Delta E(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_B) = -\sum_{(k,l)\neq(0,0)} \frac{\langle 0_A | \langle 0_B | \dot{H}_{\text{int}} | l_B \rangle | k_A \rangle \langle k_A | \langle l_B | \dot{H}_{\text{int}} | 0_B \rangle | 0_A \rangle}{\hbar(\omega_A^{k0} + \omega_B^{l0})} .$$
(5.110)

The three terms in Eq. (5.108) can be identified as different contributions to this energy shift: The first term is due to contributions that are quadratic in the direct interaction  $\hat{V}_{AB}$  and is always attractive due to the global minus sign in Eq. (5.110). The third term which is associated with quadatic contributions of indirect dipole-image interactions  $\hat{V}_{AB'}$  or  $\hat{V}_{BA'}$  is attractive for the same reason and thus always acts as an enhancement of the free-space potential. The second term in Eq. (5.108) is due to mixed direct-indirect interactions, its sign is negative for attractive dipole-image interactions (thus tending to enhance the free-space potential) and positive for repulsive dipole-image interactions (leading to a reduction). The overall effect of the perfect mirror thus depends on the attraction or repulsion of the dipole-image interaction and, in the case of repulsion, on the relative strength of the mixed contributions compared to the purely indirect one.

We begin our investigations with the case of two (polarisable) atoms placed aligned parallely to a perfectly conducting plane. The image-dipole construction [Fig. 5.11(a)] reveals that the indirect interactions  $\hat{V}_{AB'}$  and  $\hat{V}_{BA'}$  are repulsive, explaining why the second term in Eq. (5.108) acts to reduce the interaction. Equation (5.108) shows that it is always dominant over the enhancing purely indirect interaction, leading to an overall reduction of the free-space potential. The image-dipole construction further reveals that the quantity  $r_+$  entering the mirror-induced



Fig. 5.11. Image dipole construction for two (a,b) electric and (c,d) magnetic dipoles in front of a perfectly conducting plate.

modification of the potential is simply the distance between an atom and the image of the other atom. Let us consider next the case of perpendicular alignment of the two atoms. As seen from the image-dipole construction [Fig. 5.11(b)], the indirect interactions are attractive in this case, so that the mirror enhances the potential, in agreement with Eq. (5.108).

The case of two polarisable atoms near an infinitely permeable plate can be addressed by studying the interaction of two magnetisable atoms near a perfectly conducting plate instead, since the two problems are equivalent by virtue of duality. Noting that magnetic dipoles behave as pseudovectors under spatial reflection, one finds that for parallel alignment of the two atoms the dipole-image interaction is attractive [Fig. 5.11(c)] like the dipole-dipole interaction, so all mirror-induced terms enhance the free-space potential as predicted by Eq. (5.108). For perpendicular alignment the indirect dipole-image interaction is seen to be repulsive [Fig. 5.11(d)], so the mixed direct–indirect interaction tends to reduce the interaction [cf. the second term in Eq. (5.108)] while the purely indirect one acts towards an enhancement. For small atom-atom separations, the former clearly dominates due to the enhanced strength of the direct interaction,



Fig. 5.12. The vdW potential for two identical two-level atoms (transition frequency  $\omega_A$ ) aligned parallel  $(z_{AB} = 0)$  to the surface of an (a) purely dielectric half space ( $\omega_{Pe}/\omega_A = 3$ ,  $\omega_{Te}/\omega_A = 1$ ,  $\gamma_e/\omega_A = 0.001$ ) (b) purely magnetic half space ( $\omega_{Pm}/\omega_A = 3$ ,  $\omega_{Tm}/\omega_A = 1$ ,  $\gamma_m/\omega_A = 0.001$ ) is shown as a function of the interatomic separation  $r_{AB}$ . The potential is normalised with respect to the free-space potential  $U_0(r_{AB})$ . The atom-half-space separations are  $z_A = z_B = 0.01c/\omega_A$  (solid line),  $0.2c/\omega_A$  (dashed line), and  $c/\omega_A$  (dotted line) [130].

leading to a reduction of the overall potential while for large atom-atom separations, an enhancement due to the influence of the purely indirect interaction may be expected. The two cases are obviously separated by the inequality given below Eq. (5.108).

**Magnetodielectric half space:** For a semi-infinite half space of finite permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\omega)$ , the vdW potential (5.106) is found by substitution of the free-space Green tensor (A.20) and the scattering Green tensor from App. A.4.1 together with the reflection coefficients (A.35) of the half space. The arising integrals over frequency and wave-vector components have to be solved numerically in order to obtain the half-space assisted potential for arbitrary interactomic and atom-half space distances. The results are shown in Figs. 5.12 and 5.13 for two



Fig. 5.13. The vdW potential for two two-level atoms aligned perpendicular ( $x_{AB} = 0$ ) to an (a) purely dielectric half space and (b) purely magnetic half space is shown as a function of the interatomic separation  $r_{AB}$ . The distance between atom A (which is closer to the surface of the half space than atom B) and the surface is  $z_A = 0.01c/\omega_{10}$  (solid line),  $0.2c/\omega_{10}$  (dashed line), and  $c/\omega_{10}$  (dotted line). All other parameters are the same as in Fig. 5.12 [130].

identical two-level atoms with the permittivity and permeability of the half space being given by the single-resonance models (5.48), where we display the relative modification of the vdW potential with respect to its free-space value  $U_0$  as found from Eq. (5.94).

Figure 5.12 shows the case of the two atoms being aligned parallel to the surface of the half space ( $z_{AB} = 0$ ). In agreement with the findings for a perfect mirror, Eqs. (5.107) and (5.108), the potential is always reduced by a purely dielectric half space [Fig. 5.12(a)] and enhanced by a purely magnetic one [Fig. 5.12(b)]. The relative reduction/enhancement becomes noticeable as soon as the interatomic separation becomes comparable to the atom-surface distance, it saturates for large interatomic separations. The figure further shows that the relative reduction for a dielectric half space has a pronounced minimum, the enhancement due to a magnetic one increases monotonically with interatomic distance.



Fig. 5.14. Two atoms interacting with a magneto-electric sphere.

In Fig. 5.13, we study the case of perpendicular alignment ( $x_{AB} = 0$ ). In agreement with the perfect-mirror results (5.107) and (5.108), a purely dielectric half space is found to always enhance the potential. The enhancement sets in when interatomic and atom-surface distances become equal, reaches a maximum in some cases (i.e., whenever the atom-surface separation of the closer atom A is sufficiently small) and saturates for large interatomic distances. At first glance, the findings for a purely magnetic half-space seem to indicate a global enhancement which monotonically increases with the interatomic separation, thus being in contradiction with the perfect-mirror result (5.108). However, a closer look [cf. inset in Fig. 5.13(b)] reveals that for very small interatomic and atom-surface separations a reduction can indeed be found, as predicted by Eq. (5.108).

### 5.3.4 Two atoms near a sphere

In order to demonstrate the effect of different geometries on the vdW potential, consider next to polarisable atoms placed at distances  $r_A$  and  $r_B$  from the center of a magneto-electric sphere of radius R, permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and permeability  $\mu(\omega)$ , with the separation angle of the two atoms being denoted by  $\theta_{AB}$ , see Fig. 5.14.

The sphere-assisted vdW potential is given by Eq. (5.106) where the scattering Green tensor  $G^{(S)}$  for the sphere can be found in App. A.4.3. For a small sphere  $(R \ll r_A, r_B)$  in the nonretarded limit  $(r_A, r_B, r_{AB} \ll c/\omega_{max})$ , one can show that the sphere-induced part  $U_{\odot} = U - U_0$  of the potential reduces to [139]

$$U_{\odot}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}_{B}) = \frac{3\hbar \left[1 - 3(\mathbf{e}_{A} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{B})(\mathbf{e}_{B} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{AB})(\mathbf{e}_{AB} \cdot \mathbf{e}_{A})\right]}{64\pi^{4}\varepsilon_{0}^{3}r_{A}^{3}r_{AB}^{3}r_{AB}^{3}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\xi \,\alpha_{A}(i\xi)\alpha_{B}(i\xi)\alpha_{\odot}(i\xi)$$
(5.111)

 $[\mathbf{e}_A = \mathbf{r}_A/r_A, \mathbf{e}_B = \mathbf{r}_B/r_B, \mathbf{e}_{AB} = (\mathbf{r}_A - \mathbf{r}_B)/r_{AB}]$  where  $\alpha_{\odot}(\omega)$  is the polarisability of the sphere as given by Eq. (5.66). When replacing the sphere by a third atom  $C (\alpha_{\odot} \rightarrow \alpha_C)$ , our results coincides with the Axilrod–Teller potential of three atoms [140]. The sign of the three-body potential (5.111) depends on the geometric arrangement of the three objects. For instance, an attractive potential is found when they are placed in a straight line while the potential is repulsive when they form an equilateral triangle.



Fig. 5.15. The vdW potential for two identical two-level atoms placed at equal distance  $(r_A = r_B)$  from the center of an (a) purely dielectric sphere (b) purely magnetic sphere is shown as a function of the interatomic angle  $\theta_{AB}$ . The potential is normalised with respect to the free-space potential  $U_0(\theta_{AB})$ . The sphere radius is  $R = c/\omega_A$  and the distances of the atoms from the centre of the sphere are  $r_A = r_B = 1.03c/\omega_A$  (solid line),  $1.3c/\omega_A$  (dashed line), and  $2c/\omega_A$  (dotted line). The medium parameters are the same as in Fig. 5.12 [139].

In Fig. 5.15, we show the total vdW potential of two identical two-level atoms placed at equal distance from a purely dielectric or purely magnetic sphere whose magnetoelectric response is given by Eqs. (5.48). For small separation angles and atom-sphere separations, the sphere-induced modification of the vdW potential is very similar to our findings for two atoms placed in parallel alignment with respect to a half space: A dielectric sphere reduces the potential, while a magnetic one leads to an enhancement. However, the figure also shows that the behaviour is reversed as the angular separation grows. For an electric sphere, this enhancement of the potential for large angular separations can be understood from the fact that the Axilrod–Teller potential is attractive when the atoms and the sphere are situated on a straight line.

## 5.4 Relation between dispersion forces

The three types of dispersion forces considered in the previous three sections have a common origin and are thus closely related. To see this, let us start from the Casimir force (5.7) on a dielectric body of volume  $V_1$  which is situated in free space and interacts with a second dielectric body of volume  $V_2$ . Assuming the first body to consist of a dilute gas of atoms [number density  $\eta_1(\mathbf{r})$ , polarisability  $\alpha(\omega)$ ] such that the linearised Clausius–Mosotti law [118]

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) - 1 = \frac{\eta(\mathbf{r})\alpha(\omega)}{\varepsilon_0}$$
(5.112)

holds, one can make use of the linear Born expansion given in App. A.5 to show that [105]

$$\mathbf{F} = -\int_{V_1} d^3 r \,\eta(\mathbf{r}) \boldsymbol{\nabla} U(\mathbf{r}) \tag{5.113}$$

where  $U(\mathbf{r})$  is the Casimir–Polder potential (5.26). To leading order in the atomic polarisability, the Casimir force on the body is simply the sum of the CP forces on the atoms contained inside it. One can repeat the exercise for the second body to find

$$U(\mathbf{r}_A) = \int_{V_2} d^3 r \,\eta(\mathbf{r}) U(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}),\tag{5.114}$$

so the CP potential  $U(\mathbf{r})$  of each atom in body 1 with body 2 is due to its vdW interactions (5.86) with the atoms in body 2. Combining these results, one has [105]

$$\mathbf{F} = -\int_{V_1} d^3 r \,\eta(\mathbf{r}) \int_{V_2} d^3 r' \,\eta(\mathbf{r}') \boldsymbol{\nabla} U(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}') \,.$$
(5.115)

Hence, to leading order the Casimir force between the two bodies is a sum over all possible vdW forces between atoms in body 1 and atoms in body 2. For weakly dielectric bodies, both Casimir and CP forces may thus be regarded as a consequence of two-atom vdW forces. These results naturally generalise to weakly magnetic bodies and magnetic atoms.

For bodies with a stronger magnetoelectric response, this simple additivity breaks down due to the influence of many-atom interactions [141–144]. For instance, using the exact Clausius–Mosotti law [118]

$$\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) - 1 = \frac{\eta(\mathbf{r})\alpha(\omega)/\varepsilon_0}{1 - \eta(\mathbf{r})\alpha(\omega)/(3\varepsilon_0)},$$
(5.116)

together with the full Born expansion, one can show that the CP potential (5.114) generalises to [143, 144]

$$U(\mathbf{r}_A) = \sum_{K=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{K!} \int \cdots \int d^3 r_1 \, \eta(\mathbf{r}_1) \cdots d^3 r_K \, \eta(\mathbf{r}_K) \, U(\mathbf{r}_A, \mathbf{r}_1, \dots, \mathbf{r}_K)$$
(5.117)

where  $U(\mathbf{r}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{r}_N)$  denotes N-atom vdW potentials [145, 146]. The full CP potential of a single atom in the presence of a body is just due to the whole hierarchy of its 2, 3, ... N-atom interactions with the body atoms.

Tab. 5.3. Asymptotic power laws for the forces between (a) two atoms, (b) an atom and a small sphere, (c)
an atom and a thin ring, (d) an atom an a thin plate, (e) an atom and a half space and (f) for the force per
unit area between two half spaces. In the table heading, $e$ stands for an electric object and $m$ for a magnetic
one. The signs $+$ and $-$ denote repulsive and attractive forces, respectively.

$Distance \rightarrow$	Retarded		Nonretarded	
Object combination $\rightarrow$	$e \leftrightarrow e$	$e \leftrightarrow m$	$e \leftrightarrow e$	$e \leftrightarrow m$
Dual object combination $\rightarrow$	$m \leftrightarrow m$	$m \leftrightarrow e$	$m\leftrightarrow m$	$m \leftrightarrow e$
(a) $r$	$-\frac{1}{r^8}$	$+\frac{1}{r^{8}}$	$-\frac{1}{r^7}$	$+\frac{1}{r^{5}}$
(b) $r_A$	$-\frac{1}{r_A^8}$	$+rac{1}{r_A^8}$	$-rac{1}{r_A^7}$	$+rac{1}{r_A^5}$
(c) $\rho_A$	$-rac{1}{ ho_A^8}$	$+rac{1}{ ho_A^8}$	$-rac{1}{ ho_A^7}$	$+rac{1}{ ho_A^5}$
(d) $z_A$	$-rac{1}{z_A^6}$	$+rac{1}{z_A^6}$	$-rac{1}{z_A^5}$	$+\frac{1}{z_A^3}$
(e) $z_A$	$\boxed{-\frac{1}{z_A^5}}$	$+\frac{1}{z_A^5}$	$-rac{1}{z_A^4}$	$+\frac{1}{z_A^2}$
(f)	$-\frac{1}{z^4}$	$+\frac{1}{z^4}$	$-\frac{1}{z^3}$	$+\frac{1}{z}$

To illustrate the close relation between dispersion forces, let us look at a few simple examples, most of which have already been studied throughout this Sec. 5. In Tab. 5.3, we list signs and leading power laws of the dispersion forces between two atoms (Sec. 5.3.2), an atom interacting with a small sphere (Sec. 5.2.3), a thin ring [144], a thin plate (Sec. 5.2.2) and a semi-infinite half space (Sec. 5.2.2), and that between two half spaces [147, 148]. For weakly magnetoelectric objects, the rows (b)–(f) of the table follow by pairwise summation of the vdW forces displayed in row (a): Summation over the compact volumes of a small sphere (b) or a thin ring (c) does not change the respective power laws, while summation over an infinite volume lowers the leading inverse power according to the number of infinite dimensions. So, the leading inverse powers are lowered by two and three for the interaction of an atom with a thin plate of infinite lateral extension (d) and a half space (e), respectively. The power laws for the force between two half

spaces (f) can then be obtained from the atom-half-space force (e) by integrating over the three infinite dimensions where integration over z lowers the leading inverse powers by one while the trivial integrations over x and y yield an infinite force, i.e., a finite force per unit area. Note that all of these power laws remain valid for objects with stronger magnetoelectric bodies, so we can conclude that many-atom interactions do not change the asymptotic power laws.

The common features of all dispersion forces listed in the table are as follows: Forces between objects of the same (electric/magnetic) nature are attractive while those between objects of opposite nature are repulsive. The combinations  $e \leftrightarrow e$  and  $m \leftrightarrow m$  obviously lead to the same behaviour of the force as an immediate consequence of duality invariance, the same hold for the combinations  $e \leftrightarrow m$  and  $m \leftrightarrow e$ . Attractive and repulsive forces generally follow the same power law in the retarded limit, while in the nonretarded limit attractive forces are stronger by two inverse powers in the object separation.

#### 5.5 Thermal effects

The Casimir–Polder force acting on a stationary atom at finite temperatures can be derived from the Lorentz force (5.2) which for a stationary nonmagnetic atom in electric dipole approximation takes the simple form

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r}_A, t) = \left\langle \left[ \nabla \hat{\mathbf{d}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{r}) \right]_{\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{r}_A} \right\rangle.$$
(5.118)

This expression can be evaluated using the statistical averages of the relevant electromagnetic field operators given in Eqs. (3.99)–(3.102). We use the multipolar-coupling Hamiltonian (3.151) in electric-dipole approximation to solve the coupled dynamics of the electromagnetic field and the atom which, upon using the solutions to the equations of motion for the internal atomic dynamics (Sec. 4), reads as [149]

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r}_{A},t) = \frac{i\mu_{0}}{\pi} \sum_{n,k} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \,\omega^{2} \,\nabla \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn} \Big|_{\mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r}_{A}} \int_{0}^{t} d\tau \,\langle \hat{A}_{nn}(\tau) \rangle \\ \times \left\{ \bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega) e^{[i(\omega+\omega_{nk})-(\Gamma_{n}+\Gamma_{k})/2](t-\tau)} + [\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega)+1] e^{[-i(\omega-\omega_{nk})-(\Gamma_{n}+\Gamma_{k})/2](t-\tau)} \right\} + \mathrm{c.c.}$$
(5.119)

After evaluating the  $\tau$  integral in Markov approximation and the  $\omega$  integral using countourintegral techniques, the thermal Casimir–Polder force on an atom in an incoherent superposition of energy eigenstates is given by  $\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{r}_A, t) = \sum_n \sigma_{nn}(t) \mathbf{F}_n(\mathbf{r}_A)$  with force components

$$\mathbf{F}_{n}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) = -\mu_{0}k_{\mathrm{B}}T\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\delta_{N0}\right)\xi_{N}^{2}$$

$$\times \nabla \mathrm{tr}\left\{\left[\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n}(i\xi_{N}) + \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n}(-i\xi_{N})\right] \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A}, \mathbf{r}, i\xi_{N})\right\}\Big|_{\mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r}_{A}}$$

$$+ \mu_{0}\sum_{k}\left\{\Theta(\tilde{\omega}_{nk})\Omega_{nk}^{2}[\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\Omega_{nk}) + 1]\nabla \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \Omega_{nk}) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn}\Big|_{\mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r}_{A}}$$

$$- \Theta(\tilde{\omega}_{kn})\Omega_{kn}^{*2}\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\Omega_{kn}^{*})\nabla \mathbf{d}_{nk} \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}_{A}, \Omega_{kn}^{*}) \cdot \mathbf{d}_{kn}\Big|_{\mathbf{r}=\mathbf{r}_{A}} + \mathrm{c.c.}\right\} (5.120)$$

 $[\Omega_{nk} = \tilde{\omega}_{nk} + i(\Gamma_n + \Gamma_k)/2]$  and atomic polarisability

$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}_{n}(\omega) = \frac{1}{\hbar} \sum_{k} \left[ \frac{\mathbf{d}_{nk} \otimes \mathbf{d}_{kn}}{-\Omega_{nk} - \omega} + \frac{\mathbf{d}_{kn} \otimes \mathbf{d}_{nk}}{-\Omega_{nk}^{*} + \omega} \right].$$
(5.121)

One important feature of the result (5.120) is the appearance of resonant force contributions proportional to  $\bar{n}_{th}(\omega_{nk})$  and  $\bar{n}_{th}(\omega_{nk}) + 1$  which are due to absorption and emission of photons, respectively. Even for ground-state atoms there exists a resonant force contribution

$$\mathbf{F}_{0}^{\mathrm{res}}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) = -\frac{1}{3}\mu_{0}\omega_{k0}^{2}\bar{n}_{\mathrm{th}}(\omega_{k0})|\mathbf{d}_{0k}|^{2}\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{A}\mathrm{tr}\mathrm{Re}\,\boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{A},\omega_{k0})$$
(5.122)

associated with absorption of thermal photons at the atomic transition frequency  $\omega_{k0}$ . This result is in contrast to the frequently used Lifshitz result [150]

$$\mathbf{F}_{0}^{\text{Lifshitz}}(\mathbf{r}_{A}) = -\mu_{0}k_{\text{B}}T\sum_{N=0}^{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}\delta_{N0}\right)\xi_{N}^{2}\alpha(i\xi_{N})\boldsymbol{\nabla}_{A}\text{tr}\boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{A},\mathbf{r}_{A},i\xi_{N})$$
(5.123)

which only contains the non-resonant force contributions. Clearly, because of the thermalisation of the atom, these resonant forces can only be observed on time scales that are short compared to the inverse ground-state heating rates  $\Gamma_{0k}^{-1}$ . As their magnitude scales with the mean thermal number  $\bar{n}_{th}(\omega_{k0})$ , the atomic transition frequency must not be too large in comparison with the ambient temperature,  $\hbar\omega_{k0} \leq k_B T$ . Ideal candidates to observe these resonant force contributions would therefore be polar molecules whose vibrational and rotational frequencies are small enough to yield large thermal photon numbers at room temperature, and whose heating times can reach several seconds (see also Sec. 4.3) [78].

The atom thermalises after times much longer than  $\Gamma_{0k}^{-1}$  and reaches its stationary (thermal) state

$$\hat{\sigma}_T = \frac{\exp\left[-\sum_n \hbar \tilde{\omega}_n \hat{A}_{nn} / (k_{\rm B}T)\right]}{\operatorname{tr} \exp\left[-\sum_n \hbar \tilde{\omega}_n \hat{A}_{nn} / (k_{\rm B}T)\right]}, \quad \tilde{\omega}_n = \omega_n + \delta \omega_n$$
(5.124)

in the long-time limit. In this limit all resonant force contributions cancel, and the Casimir–Polder force can be written in the form (5.123) only if the atomic polarisability has been identified with the thermal polarisability

$$\alpha_T(\omega) = \sum_n \sigma_{T,nn} \alpha_n(\omega) \,. \tag{5.125}$$

Without this identification, the equilibrium force (5.123) is generally larger than the one obtained from Eq. (5.120). The microscopic degrees of freedom of an atomic system thus give rise to a rich additional structure of CP forces, which is not explicitly present in the macroscopic Casimir force.
## 6 Cavity QED effects

In this final section, we turn our attention to the application of macroscopic QED to strong atomfield coupling scenarios. This is of particular interest in cases when the atom or molecule is confined in resonator-like structures in which the photon round-trip time is short compared to the atomic relaxation time.

#### 6.1 Quantum-state extraction from a high-Q cavity

The interaction of a two-level atom with light in a resonant cavity is of fundamental importance to our understanding of quantum optics, and provides a playground to test ideas of quantum information processing such as the generation of entangled quantum states of two or more atoms [151] or the realization of single-photon sources. In a previous section (Sec. 2.2.4) we described the idealised situation of perfectly coherent atom-light interaction that led to the Jaynes–Cummings model. Within this model it is possible to completely transfer the excitation of a two-model atom to the cavity field and back coherently. The idea to use a high-Q cavity to deterministically generate single photons in well-defined quantum states is at the heart of cavity QED [152,153]. Here we will examine the closely related problem of how to extract a photon from a cavity within the framework of macroscopic QED which provides us with the means to treat leaky cavities in a quantum-theoretically consistent way [51].

For simplicity, we will focus on one-dimensional cavities such as in Fig. 6.1 where region 0 denotes a perfect mirror, region 2 the semi-transparent mirror, region 1 the cavity interspace, and region 3 the free space surrounding the system. In order to calculate the response of the atomcavity system, we assume that the atom is initially being prepared in its excited state  $|e\rangle$  and the cavity field is in its ground state  $|\{0\}\rangle$ . Then, the state vector at a later time can be expanded into

$$|\psi(t)\rangle = C_e(t)|e\rangle|\{0\}\rangle + \int dz \int_0^\infty d\omega \, C_g(z,\omega,t)e^{-i\omega t}|g\rangle|1(z,\omega)\rangle\,. \tag{6.1}$$

The Schrödinger equation with the electric-dipole Hamiltonian (3.154) yields coupled equations



Fig. 6.1. The semi-transparent mirror of the cavity (region 2) is modeled by a dielectric plate, and the atom inside the cavity (region 1) can be embedded in some dielectric medium. Figure taken from Ref. [51].

of motion for the unknown coefficients  $C_e(t)$  and  $C_g(z, \omega, t)$  as

$$\dot{C}_{e}(t) = -\frac{d}{\sqrt{\pi\hbar\varepsilon_{0}\mathcal{A}}} \int_{0}^{\infty} d\omega \, \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \int dz \, \sqrt{\mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(z,\omega)} G(z_{A},z,\omega) C_{g}(z,\omega,t) e^{-i(\omega-\omega_{A})t} \,,$$
(6.2)

$$\dot{C}_g(z,\omega,t) = \frac{d^*}{\sqrt{\pi\hbar\varepsilon_0 \mathcal{A}}} \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \sqrt{\operatorname{Im}\varepsilon(z,\omega)} G^*(z_A,z,\omega) C_e(t) e^{i(\omega-\omega_A)t}$$
(6.3)

[A: cross-sectional area of the cavity]. Inserting the formal solution of Eq. (6.3) into Eq. (6.2) yields an integro-differential equation

$$\dot{C}_e(t) = \int_0^t dt' \, K(t-t') C_e(t') \tag{6.4}$$

with the integral kernel

$$K(t) = -\frac{|d|^2}{\pi\hbar\varepsilon_0 \mathcal{A}} \int_0^\infty d\omega \, \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \, e^{-i(\omega-\omega_A)t} \operatorname{Im} G(z_A, z_A, \omega) \,.$$
(6.5)

The spectral response is carried by the Green function  $G(z, z', \omega)$  which has to be determined by adjusting the boundary conditions at the interfaces between the regions of piecewise constant permittivity. Because of multiple scattering inside the cavity region 1, the Green function has poles at the complex frequencies  $\Omega_k = \omega_k - i\Gamma_k/2$  where the condition

$$D_1(\Omega_k) = 1 + r_{13}(\Omega_k)e^{2i\varepsilon_1(\Omega_k)\Omega_k l/c} = 0$$
(6.6)

[ $r_{13}$ : generalized Fresnel reflection coefficient (A.36)] is met. We assume that the line widths  $\Gamma_k$  are much smaller than the line separations  $\Gamma_k \ll (\omega_{k+1} - \omega_{k-1})/2$  so that the integration over frequency in the kernel can be restricted to subintervals  $\Delta_k = [(\omega_{k-1} + \omega_k)/2, (\omega_k + \omega_{k+1})/2]$ . Near a cavity resonance, the time integral in Eq. (6.4) can then be performed in the Markov approximation to provide the cavity-induced shift of the atomic transition frequency as [51]

$$\delta\omega = \sum_{k'} \frac{\alpha_{k'}}{4|\tilde{\omega}_A - \Omega_{k'}|^2} \left[ \tilde{\omega}_A \omega_{k'} - |\Omega_{k'}|^2 - \frac{\tilde{\omega}_A \Gamma_{k'}}{4\pi} \ln\left(\frac{\omega_{k'}}{\omega_A}\right) \right], \tag{6.7}$$

with

$$\alpha_k = \frac{4|d|^2}{\hbar\varepsilon_0 \mathcal{A}l} \sin^2 \left[\frac{\omega_k z_A}{c}\right]$$
(6.8)

 $[\tilde{\omega}_A = \omega_A - \delta\omega]$ . Within these approximations, the kernel function  $\tilde{K}(t)$  for the excited-state probability amplitude  $\tilde{C}_e(t) = C_e(t)e^{-i\delta\omega t}$  is then

$$\tilde{K}(t) = -\frac{1}{4} \alpha_k \Omega_k e^{-i(\Omega_k - \tilde{\omega}_A)t} \,. \tag{6.9}$$



Fig. 6.2. The efficiency of single-photon Fock state preparation  $\eta(t)$  (solid curve) and the excited-state probability  $|\tilde{C}_e(t)|^2$  (dashed curve) for  $\omega_k = 2 \times 10^8 \Gamma_k$ ,  $\alpha_k = 5 \times 10^{-7} \Gamma_k$ ,  $\omega_k - \tilde{\omega}_A = 0.1 \Gamma_k$ , and the radiative damping rate  $\gamma_k = 0.9 \Gamma_k$ . Taken from Ref. [51].

The solution for  $\tilde{C}_e(t)$  is the prerequisite for the calculation of the photon extraction efficiency  $\eta(t)$  from the cavity [51], which is defined as the probability of having the outgoing field prepared in a single-photon Fock state. The result for a typical situation is shown in Fig. 6.2. For very long times, a sufficiently high-Q cavity and almost exact resonance, the extraction efficiency approaches  $\eta(t) \rightarrow \gamma_{krad}/\Gamma_k$ . Here, the  $\gamma_{krad}$  is the radiative damping rate  $\gamma_{krad} = c/(2l)|T_k|^2$  and  $T_k$  the transmission coefficient  $T_k = t_{13}(\Omega_k)e^{i\omega_k l/c}$ . The decay rate  $\Gamma_k$  of a cavity resonance is the sum of the radiative damping rate  $\gamma_{krad}$  and the absorptive damping rate  $\gamma_{kabs} = c/(2l)|A_k|^2$  where  $A_k$  is the absorption coefficient at the cavity resonance frequency  $\omega_k$ . Hence, the extraction efficiency in the stationary limit is [154, 155]

$$\eta(t) \to \frac{\gamma_{krad}}{\gamma_{krad} + \gamma_{kabs}}.$$
(6.10)

For intermediate times, the efficiency shows an oscillating (tidal) behaviour. Thus, during each emission/re-absorption cycle within the cavity, the single-photon wave function builds up outside the cavity until the steady-state solution (empty cavity) is reached.

#### 6.2 Spherical microcavities

Spherical microresonators possess a rich structure of field resonances to which an atom can be coupled when placed inside (whispering gallery modes) or outside (surface-guided modes) the resonator.

## 6.2.1 Atom inside a spherical microcavity

In cases in which the atom is embedded in a spherical microcavity, we can distinguish between large and small cavities, weak and strong coupling. In Sec. 4.1 we have discussed the case in which an atom was placed inside a very small cavity. This led us to the notion of local-field



Fig. 6.3. Scheme of the spherical cavity with outer radius  $R_1$  and inner radius  $R_2$ .



Fig. 6.4. Spontaneous decay rate  $\Gamma/\Gamma_0$  as a function of frequency (left panel). Excited-state probability  $|C_e(t)|^2$  as a function of decay time (right panel). For parameters, see text. Figures taken from Ref. [156].

corrections. We now have a brief look at a cavity whose radius is much larger than the relevant atomic transition frequency. In view of the three-layered structure depicted in Fig. 6.3, we thus require that  $R_2\omega_A/c \gg 1$ . Then, the rate of spontaneous decay can be calculated from Eq. (4.26) in the limit of thick cavity walls as [156]

$$\Gamma \simeq \Gamma_0 \operatorname{Re} \left[ \frac{n(\omega_A) - i \tan(R_2 \omega_A/c)}{1 - i n(\omega) \tan(R_2 \omega_A/c)} \right].$$
(6.11)

The left panel in Fig. 6.4 depicts the normalized decay rate  $\Gamma/\Gamma_0$  as a function of frequency. We assume a single-resonance Drude-Lorentz model (5.48) with  $\omega_P = 0.5\omega_T$  and  $\gamma = 0.01\omega_T$ . The microresonator has parameters  $R_2 = 30\lambda_T$  and  $R_1 - R_2 = \lambda_T$ . One observes narrow-band enhancement ( $\Gamma/\Gamma_0 \gg 1$ ) alternating with broadband suppression ( $\Gamma/\Gamma_0 \ll 1$ ) of spontaneous decay. The narrow peaks are located at the cavity resonances.

When the atomic transition frequency approaches one of the cavity resonances, the atom-field coupling becomes stronger. At resonance, when  $\omega_A = \omega_C$  where  $\omega_C$  is one of the resonance frequencies of the microcavity, the time evolution for the excited-state occupation probability is the one of a damped oscillator with damping constant  $\delta\omega_C$ , the width of the cavity resonance. For small material absorption,  $\gamma \ll \omega_T, \omega_P, \omega_P^2/\omega_T$ , the cavity resonance line can be approximated

by a Lorentzian with width

$$\delta\omega_C = \frac{c\Gamma_0}{R_2\Gamma(\omega_C)}\,.\tag{6.12}$$

In the strong-coupling regime when the condition  $\Gamma(\omega_C) \gg \delta \omega_C$  is fulfilled, the excited-state probability

$$|C_e(t)|^2 = e^{-\delta\omega_C t} \cos^2\left(\sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(\omega_C)\delta\omega_C}{2}}t\right)$$
(6.13)

shows damped Rabi oscillations with Rabi frequency  $\Omega = \sqrt{2\Gamma(\omega_C)\delta\omega_C}$ . The right panel in Fig. 6.4 shows the temporal evolution of the excited-state occupation probability for  $\omega_A =$  $1.046448\omega_T$ ,  $\Gamma_0\lambda_T/(2c) = 10^{-6}$ , and  $\gamma = 10^{-4}\omega_T$  (solid line),  $\gamma = 5 \times 10^{-4}\omega_T$  (dashed line), and  $\gamma = 10^{-3}\omega_T$  (dotted line). The other parameters are the same as those used for the curves in the left panel. For comparison, the exponential decay in free space is also shown (dashed-dotted line).

## 6.2.2 Atom outside a spherical microcavity

Atoms need not be located inside a closed dielectric or metallic structure in order to be coupled strongly to the electromagnetic field. Instead of whispering gallery modes that are due to total internal reflection inside a sphere, surface-guided modes can be excited on the outside surface of a spherical microcavity [157]. Assuming again a Drude–Lorentz model for the permittivity of the dielectric sphere that features a band gap between the transverse resonance frequency  $\omega_T$  and the longitudinal resonance frequency  $\omega_L = \sqrt{\omega_T^2 + \omega_P^2}$ . It is clear that for frequencies below  $\omega_T (\omega_A < \omega_T)$  whispering gallery modes are excited, whereas for frequencies within the band gap ( $\omega_T < \omega_A < \omega_L$ ) surface-guided modes are excited.

Figure 6.5 shows the rate of spontaneous decay of a radially oriented dipole very close ( $z_A = r_A - R = 0.1\lambda_A$ ) to a microsphere of radius  $R = 2\lambda_A$ . In this near-field limit, the decay rate is approximately given by Eq. (4.24) for a planar interface,

$$\frac{\Gamma^{\perp}}{\Gamma_0} = \frac{3 \mathrm{Im}\,\varepsilon(\omega_A)}{4|\varepsilon(\omega_A) + 1|^2} \left(\frac{c}{\omega_A z_A}\right)^3 + \mathcal{O}(1)\,. \tag{6.14}$$

The strong enhancement in the band-gap region ( $\omega_T < \omega_A < \omega_L$ ) is due to surface-guided modes.

These surface excitations can be used to induce entanglement between two atoms located diametrically opposite around the microsphere [157, 159]. If the two atoms A and B are initially prepared in their respective excited and ground states, their combined initial state can be written in terms of the (entangled) coherent superpositions  $|\pm\rangle = (|e_A, g_B\rangle \pm |g_A, e_B\rangle)/\sqrt{2}$  which are initially equally excited. Associated with these superpositions are decay rates

$$\frac{\Gamma_{\pm}}{\Gamma_{0}} = \frac{3}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Re} \left\{ \frac{l(l+1)(2l+1)}{(k_{A}r_{A})^{2}} h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{A}r_{A}) \times \left[ j_{l}(k_{A}r_{A}) + r_{p,l}^{(11)}(\omega_{A})h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{A}r_{A}) \right] \left[ 1 \mp (-1)^{l} \right] \right\}$$
(6.15)



Fig. 6.5. Left panel: Decay rate as a function of the atomic transition frequency for a radially oscillating dipole near a microsphere of radius  $R = 2\lambda_A$ . The chosen parameters are  $\omega_P = 0.5\omega_T$ ,  $\gamma = 10^{-4}\omega_T$ ,  $\Delta r = 0.1\lambda_A$ . Figure taken from Ref. [158]. Right panel: Frequency dependence of the decay rates  $\Gamma_{\pm}$  for two radially oriented dipoles at  $\Delta r_A = \Delta r_B = 0.02\lambda_A$ . The other parameters are  $\omega_P = 0.5\omega_T$ ,  $\gamma = 10^{-6}\omega_T$ ,  $\gamma = 10^{-6}\omega_T$ ,  $R = 10\lambda_T$  [159].

 $[k_A = \omega_A/c; j_l(z) \text{ and } h_l^{(1)}(z)$ , spherical Bessel and Hankel functions;  $r_{p,l}^{(11)}(\omega_A)$ , generalized reflection coefficient given in Sec. A.4.3]. If the atomic transition frequency  $\omega_A$  coincides with one of the microsphere resonances l, the single-atom decay rate can be approximated by [158]

$$\frac{\Gamma}{\Gamma_0} \simeq \frac{3}{2} l(l+1)(2l+1) \operatorname{Re}\left\{ \left[ \frac{h_l^{(1)}(k_A r_A)}{k_A r_A} \right]^2 r_{p,l}^{(11)}(\omega_A) \right\}$$
(6.16)

and therefore the decay rates of the superposition states reduce to  $\Gamma_{\pm} \simeq \Gamma[1 \mp (-1)^l]$ . This means that if l is even (odd), the state  $|-\rangle$  ( $|+\rangle$ ) decays much faster than the state  $|+\rangle$  ( $|-\rangle$ ). The frequency dependence of  $\Gamma_{\pm}$  is shown on the right panel in Fig. 6.5. Hence, depending on l one of the superposition states  $|\pm\rangle$  is superradiant while the other is subradiant. After the superradiant combination has decayed, the two atoms reside in the subradiant entangled state  $|+\rangle$  or  $|-\rangle$ .

## 7 Outlook

The theory of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics is a powerful tool that provides the link between isolated atomic ensembles and absorbing solid-state surfaces. It extends the well-established field of free-space quantum optics to new horizons. It is remarkable that, at least within the framework of causal linear response, one finds a Hamiltonian description of the medium-assisted electromagnetic field that does not have to fall back onto a master equation description. Instead, unitary evolution equations can be found that take into account absorption processes as well. Examples of such unitary evolutions include the absorbing beam splitter (Sec. 3.2) and internal atomic dynamics (Sec. 4). In many cases, macroscopic quantum electrodynamics can provide more information than perturbative calculations, as exemplified by the theory of thermal Casimir–Polder forces (Sec. 5.5).

Obvious extensions towards nonlinear interaction Hamiltonians (Sec. 3.4) will be further studied to bridge the gap between classical descriptions of nonlinear processes to include both linear and nonlinear absorption, and to establish the connection with microscopic models of effective nonlinear interactions. Such a theory is likely to provide detailed information on the quantum state of light that emerges from, e.g. spontaneous parametric down-conversion crystals, and on the effect of higher-order nonlinearities.

As it is evident from our collection of examples, for the time being we have always assumed that all macroscopic bodies as well as all atomic systems are at rest. Such a restriction is clearly not necessary. Center-of-mass motion of atomic systems can be accounted for by either imposing a classical trajectory or more consistently by solving Newton's equations of motion in addition to Maxwell's equations. To assume a classical trajectory for an atom or a molecule means to neglect the backaction onto the motion which in many cases can be justified.

For example, from our discussion in Sec. 5 it is clear that an atom moving parallel to a planar dielectric surface will not only experience a Casimir–Polder force in the direction perpendicular to its motion, but also in the direction of its motion. This effect is sometimes called quantum friction and can be understood in two ways. In our intuitive picture of Casimir–Polder forces being caused by forces between the atomic dipole and image dipoles in the magnetoelectric material, one can view quantum friction as a drag effect acting on the image dipoles due to finite conductivity or even resonances. Another way to view quantum friction is as an interaction with the surface plasmon at the magnetoelectric interface.

Taking the quantum-mechanical character of atomic position and momentum into account will lead one to a theory of motional heating that is important in particular in ion traps. The opposite effect of cooling to the motional ground state, enhanced by coupling to a resonant microcavity, can also be understood within the framework of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics.

Eventually, understanding how motion affects dispersion forces acting on isolated atomic systems will lead to a theory of a quantum theory of moving dielectric materials which thus far only exists for strictly non-absorbing materials. This in of fundamental interest as it makes contact with the low-energy limit of effective action in quantum field theory.

# Acknowledgment

This work was financially supported partially by the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council and the Alexander von Humboldt foundation. The authors are grateful to all our colleagues who contributed to the theory of macroscopic quantum electrodynamics, in particular D.-G. Welsch who was involved in developing this theory from the very beginning, J.A. Crosse, H.T. Dung, R. Fermani, M. Khanbekyan, L. Knöll, C. Raabe, H. Safari, A. Sambale, M.R. Tarbutt, A. Tip, and M.S. Tomaš. We thank E.A. Hinds and P.L. Knight at Imperial College London for their continuous support, and the staff at the Gloucester Arms for hospitality during our Doppelkopf sessions.

#### A Dyadic Green functions

The notorious problem one perpetually faces in macroscopic QED is to find the Green tensor or dyadic Green function (DGF) associated with the classical electromagnetic scattering problem. This is not unusual as the DGF generalizes the usual mode expansion in free space to the solution of a more general boundary value problem. In what follows we will restrict ourselves to the special case of spatially local magnetoelectric materials. Extensions to materials with spatial dispersion can be found in Ref. [38].

We will need to look for the fundamental solution to the Helmholtz equation

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega) \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times -\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)\right] \mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_0 \omega \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \tag{A.1}$$

with in principle arbitrary dielectric permittivity  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  and inverse magnetic permeability  $\kappa(\mathbf{r}, \omega) = \mu^{-1}(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ . The solution to Eq. (A.1) can be written in terms of the DGF as

$$\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = i\mu_0\omega \int d^3r' \, \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \cdot \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r}',\omega)$$
(A.2)

where the dyadic Green function satisfies

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega)\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times -\frac{\omega^2}{c^2}\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)\right]\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'). \tag{A.3}$$

Together with the boundary condition that  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  vanishes as  $|\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'| \rightarrow \infty$ , Eq. (A.3) has a unique solution provided that the strict inequalities  $\operatorname{Im} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) > 0$  and  $\operatorname{Im} \mu(\mathbf{r}, \omega) > 0$  hold. Physically, these requirements mean that all dielectric materials have to be passive, i.e. absorbing, media.

## A.1 General properties

The dyadic Green function inherits the analytical properties of the permittivity and permeability. That is, it is meromorphic in the upper complex frequency half-plane, and the Schwarz reflection principle

$$\boldsymbol{G}^*(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', -\omega^*) \tag{A.4}$$

holds. The Onsager reciprocity theorem requires that the DGF satisfies the additional relation

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}',\mathbf{r},\omega) = \boldsymbol{G}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega). \tag{A.5}$$

Particularly useful is the following integral relation involving products of Green functions,

$$\int d^{3}s \left\{ \frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \operatorname{Im} \varepsilon(\mathbf{s}, \omega) \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) \cdot \boldsymbol{G}^{*}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) + \operatorname{Im} \kappa(\mathbf{s}, \omega) \left[ \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{s}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}} \right] \cdot \left[ \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{*}(\mathbf{s}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \right] \right\} = \operatorname{Im} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) .$$
(A.6)

This relation is essentially the linear fluctuation-dissipation theorem, written in terms of the dyadic Green function.

#### A.2 Duality relations

Another useful property of the DGF is its behaviour under a duality transformation. The dual DGF is defined by the equation

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \kappa^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times -\frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}}\varepsilon^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\right]\boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}')$$
(A.7)

with  $\varepsilon^* = \mu = 1/\kappa$ ,  $\kappa^* = 1/\mu^* = 1/\varepsilon$ , i.e., it is the solution to the Helmholtz equation with  $\varepsilon$  and  $\mu$  exchanged. By applying the duality transformation to the field expansions (3.89)–(3.92), using the transformation rules listed in Tab. 3.1 and comparing coefficients, one can easily verify the following relations between the original DGF and its dual [49]:

$$\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = -\kappa(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \kappa(\mathbf{r}', \omega) -\kappa(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'), \qquad (A.8)$$

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' = -\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega) \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}',\omega) + \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)\boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'), \quad (A.9)$$

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = -\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \kappa(\mathbf{r}', \omega), \qquad (A.10)$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' = -\kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega)\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}',\omega), \qquad (A.11)$$

In the next subsections, we will list the explicit forms of dyadic Green functions for important highly symmetric geometric arrangements of magnetoelectric bodies.

## A.3 Bulk material

The simplest situation one can envisage is one of a homogeneous, isotropic dielectric medium. In this case, the dielectric permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and magnetic permeability  $\mu(\omega)$  do not depend on the spatial position. This means that the magnetoelectric material and hence the dyadic Green function that describes it must be translationally invariant. Thus, the DGF can only depend on the difference between the coordinates  $\boldsymbol{\varrho} = \mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'$ ,  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \equiv G(\boldsymbol{\varrho}, \omega)$ . We can therefore use Fourier transform techniques to solve Eq. (A.3). Defining

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \, \boldsymbol{G}(\boldsymbol{\varrho},\omega) e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{\varrho}} \,, \tag{A.12}$$

the Fourier transformed Helmholtz equation is

$$-\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{k},\omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\omega) \mu(\omega) \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{k},\omega) = \mu(\omega) \mathbf{I}.$$
(A.13)

This is now an algebraic equation that can be easily solved. To do so, we decompose the unit tensor into its transverse and longitudinal parts with respect to the wave vector  $\mathbf{k}$ ,

$$I = \left(I - \frac{\mathbf{k} \otimes \mathbf{k}}{k^2}\right) + \frac{\mathbf{k} \otimes \mathbf{k}}{k^2}.$$
(A.14)

Note that

$$-\mathbf{k} \times \mathbf{k} \times \equiv k^2 \left( \mathbf{I} - \frac{\mathbf{k} \otimes \mathbf{k}}{k^2} \right) \tag{A.15}$$

is transverse. Hence, the Green tensor is, after inserting into the inverse Fourier transform,

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\boldsymbol{\varrho},\omega) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{\varrho}} \mu(\omega) \left[ \frac{c^2}{k^2c^2 - \omega^2\varepsilon(\omega)\mu(\omega)} \left( \boldsymbol{I} - \frac{\mathbf{k}\otimes\mathbf{k}}{k^2} \right) - \frac{c^2}{\omega^2\varepsilon(\omega)\mu(\omega)} \frac{\mathbf{k}\otimes\mathbf{k}}{k^2} \right]$$
(A.16)

which can be transformed back into configuration space using contour integral methods. Noting that the dielectric permittivity  $\varepsilon(\omega)$  and the magnetic permeability  $\mu(\omega)$  have no poles or zeros in the upper complex frequency half-plane, the result is

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\boldsymbol{\varrho},\omega) = \left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \otimes \boldsymbol{\nabla} + \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\omega) \mu(\omega) \boldsymbol{I}\right] \frac{e^{iq(\omega)\varrho} \mu(\omega)}{4\pi q^2(\omega)\varrho}$$
(A.17)

 $[q^2(\omega) = \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\omega) \mu(\omega)]$ . After evaluating the derivatives one arrives at a decomposition into transverse and longitudinal parts as

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{\parallel}(\boldsymbol{\varrho},\omega) = -\frac{\mu(\omega)}{4\pi q^2} \left[ \frac{4\pi}{3} \delta(\boldsymbol{\varrho}) \boldsymbol{I} + \left( \boldsymbol{I} - \frac{3\boldsymbol{\varrho} \otimes \boldsymbol{\varrho}}{\boldsymbol{\varrho}^2} \right) \frac{1}{\boldsymbol{\varrho}^2} \right], \qquad (A.18)$$

$$\mathbf{G}^{\perp}(\boldsymbol{\varrho},\omega) = \frac{\mu(\omega)}{4\pi q^2} \left\{ \left( \mathbf{I} - \frac{3\boldsymbol{\varrho} \otimes \boldsymbol{\varrho}}{\varrho^2} \right) + q^3 \left[ \left( \frac{1}{q\varrho} + \frac{i}{(q\varrho)^2} - \frac{1}{(q\varrho)^3} \right) \mathbf{I} - \left( \frac{1}{q\varrho} + \frac{3i}{(q\varrho)^2} - \frac{3}{(q\varrho)^3} \right) \frac{\boldsymbol{\varrho} \otimes \boldsymbol{\varrho}}{\varrho^2} \right] e^{iq\varrho} \right\}.$$
(A.19)

In particular, in free space where  $\varepsilon(\omega) = 1$ , we find that

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{(0)}(\boldsymbol{\varrho},\omega) = -\frac{c^2}{3\omega^2}\boldsymbol{\delta}(\boldsymbol{\varrho}) + \frac{\omega}{4\pi c} \left[ f\left(\frac{c}{\omega\varrho}\right) \boldsymbol{I} + g\left(\frac{c}{\omega\varrho}\right) \frac{\boldsymbol{\varrho} \otimes \boldsymbol{\varrho}}{\varrho^2} \right] e^{i\varrho\omega/c}$$
(A.20)

with  $f(x) = x + ix^2 - x^3$  and  $g(x) = x + 3ix^2 - 3x^3$ .

#### A.4 Layered media: planar, cylindrical, spherical

A more challenging situation arises if one considers magnetoelectric materials that are structured to form boundaries of certain symmetry. What we envisage here are examples of stratified materials in planar, cylindrical and spherical geometries. The idea is to expand the dyadic Green function in terms of vector wave functions associated with the symmetry of the problem. The success of this procedure is directly related to the problem of separability of the Helmholtz operator  $\nabla \times \mu^{-1}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\nabla \times -\frac{\omega^2}{c^2}\varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega)$ . There are only a few coordinate systems in which this operator is separable [160], namely the cartesian, cylindrical, spherical and spheroidal coordinate systems. Hence, only there can the solution to the three-dimensional Helmholtz operator be reduced to seeking the scalar solution of a one-dimensional wave equation.

Tab. A.1. Pilot vectors and scalar eigenfunctions that are regular at the origin for cartesian, cylindrical and spherical coordinate systems. The functions  $J_n(kr)$  and  $j_l(kr)$  denote cylindrical and spherical Bessel functions, respectively. The  $P_l^m(\cos \theta)$  are associated Legendre polynomials.

coordinate system	pilot vector	scalar eigenfunctions
cartesian $(x, y, z)$	$\mathbf{e}_z$	$\psi(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r}) = e^{ik_x x} e^{ik_y y} e^{ik_z z}$
cylindrical $(r, \varphi, z)$	$\mathbf{e}_z$	$\psi_n(k_r,k_z,\mathbf{r}) = J_n(k_r r) e^{in\varphi} e^{ik_z z}$
spherical $(r, \theta, \varphi)$	$\mathbf{e}_r$	$\psi_{l,m}(k,\mathbf{r}) = j_l(kr)P_l^m(\cos\theta)e^{im\varphi}$

The scalar Helmholtz equation takes the form

$$\left(\Delta + k^2\right)\psi(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r}) = 0 \tag{A.21}$$

 $[k^2 = \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)]$ . Table A.1 lists the scalar eigenfunctions that are regular at the origin for cartesian, cylindrical and spherical coordinate systems.

The scalar wave function  $\psi(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r})$  is then used to construct the irrotational (L) and solenoidal (M and N) eigenfunctions with respect to a pilot vector c as [161]

$$\mathbf{L}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) = \nabla \psi(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}), \qquad (A.22)$$

$$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) = \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times [\psi(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})\mathbf{c}] , \qquad (A.23)$$

$$\mathbf{N}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) = \frac{1}{k} \nabla \times \nabla \times [\psi(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r})\mathbf{c}] .$$
 (A.24)

Because of the orthogonality of the scalar eigenfunctions,

$$\int d^3 r \,\psi(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{r})\psi(-\mathbf{k}', \mathbf{r}) = (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')\,,\tag{A.25}$$

the vector wave function M, N and L are mutually orthogonal.

Due to the Helmholtz theorem, these three types of eigenfunctions form a complete set of basis functions for the Helmholtz operator. The dyadic Green tensor, written in terms of these eigenfunctions, takes the form of a Fourier integral

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \int d^3k \left[ \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) \otimes \mathbf{a}(\mathbf{k}) + \mathbf{N}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) \otimes \mathbf{b}(\mathbf{k}) + \mathbf{L}(\mathbf{k},\mathbf{r}) \otimes \mathbf{c}(\mathbf{k}) \right]$$
(A.26)

with yet unknown expansion coefficients  $\mathbf{a}(\mathbf{k})$ ,  $\mathbf{b}(\mathbf{k})$  and  $\mathbf{c}(\mathbf{k})$  which can be obtained using the mutual orthogonality of the vector wave functions. The interested reader is referred to the excellent textbook [161] for further details.

For us, it suffices to know that these vector wave functions can be used to determine the (unbounded) dyadic Green function in various coordinate systems. Our interest is now focussed onto some physically relevant situations in which two (or more) dielectric materials form a planarly, cylindrically or spherically layered structure. More specifically, if one were to consider only two adjoining materials, one would be looking at two half-spaces joined by a planar interface, an infinitely long wire or a dielectric sphere, respectively (see Fig. A.1).



Fig. A.1. Inhomogeneous dielectrics for which the dyadic Green function is analytically known.

The unbounded DGFs for each individual dielectric material have to be joined at the common interface(s) across which the transverse field components of electric and magnetic fields have to be continuous. Let **n** be a unit vector normal to the interface  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{r}_S$  between two dielectrics. Then Maxwell's equations imply that at the interface

$$\mathbf{n} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(fs)} = \mathbf{n} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{[(f+1)s]}, \qquad (A.27)$$

$$\frac{1}{\mu_f} \mathbf{n} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(fs)} = \frac{1}{\mu_{f+1}} \mathbf{n} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{[(f+1)s]}, \qquad (A.28)$$

where the superscripts denote that the source point  $\mathbf{r}'$  connects to the field point  $\mathbf{r}$  via a Green function  $\mathbf{G}^{(fs)}$ . The dyadic Green function can then be decomposed into two parts, an unbounded DGF  $\mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  that represents direct propagation from  $\mathbf{r}'$  to  $\mathbf{r}$  in an unbounded medium, and a scattering part  $\mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  that describes the contributions from multiply reflected and transmitted waves,

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{(fs)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \boldsymbol{G}^{(0,fs)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\delta_{fs} + \boldsymbol{G}^{(S,fs)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega).$$
(A.29)

Mathematically speaking, the scattering part of the DGF has to be included in order to fix the boundary conditions at the medium interfaces, whereas the DGF of the unbounded medium is responsible for the correct boundary conditions at infinity.

## A.4.1 Planarly layered media

There are two distinct methods for finding the dyadic Green function for planarly layered media. Here we will describe the Weyl expansion method [41, 162] that gives very compact expressions for the DGF. The second method using vector wave functions [163] is somewhat less transparent and will be reserved for cylindrically and spherically layered media.

The Weyl expansion is based on the translational invariance of the dyadic Green function with respect to the directions parallel to the planar interface,

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \int \frac{d^2 k_{\parallel}}{(2\pi)^2} e^{i\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}\cdot(\boldsymbol{\rho}-\boldsymbol{\rho}')} \mu(\omega) \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel},z,z',\omega)$$
(A.30)

 $[\mathbf{r} = (\boldsymbol{\rho}, z)]$ . The matrix components for the scattering part of the DGF (we drop the superscript

S for notational convenience) associated with reflection from the interface are given by [41, 162]

$$G_{xx}^{(11)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}(|z|+|z'|)} \left[ -r_p(\omega) \frac{k_{1z}^2 k_x^2}{k_1^2 k_{\parallel}^2} + r_s(\omega) \frac{k_y^2}{k_{\parallel}^2} \right],$$
(A.31)

$$G_{xy}^{(11)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}(|z|+|z'|)} \left[ -r_p(\omega) \frac{k_{1z}^2 k_x k_y}{k_1^2 k_{\parallel}^2} - r_s(\omega) \frac{k_x k_y}{k_{\parallel}^2} \right], \quad (A.32)$$

$$G_{xz}^{(11)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}(|z|+|z'|)} \left[ r_p(\omega) \frac{k_{1z}k_x}{k_1^2} \right],$$
(A.33)

$$G_{xz}^{(11)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}(|z|+|z'|)} \left[ -\operatorname{sgn}(z')r_p(\omega)\frac{k_{\parallel}^2}{k_1^2} \right],$$
(A.34)

where  $k_i^2 = (\omega^2/c^2)\varepsilon_i(\omega)\mu_i(\omega)$  and  $k_{iz}^2 = k_i^2 - k_{\parallel}^2$ . The functions  $r_s(\omega)$  and  $r_p(\omega)$  are the Fresnel coefficients of s- and p-polarised waves,

$$r_{s}(\omega) = \frac{\mu_{2}(\omega)k_{1z} - \mu_{1}(\omega)k_{2z}}{\mu_{2}(\omega)k_{1z} - \mu_{1}(\omega)k_{2z}}, \qquad r_{p}(\omega) = \frac{\varepsilon_{2}(\omega)k_{1z} - \varepsilon_{1}(\omega)k_{2z}}{\varepsilon_{2}(\omega)k_{1z} - \varepsilon_{1}(\omega)k_{2z}}.$$
(A.35)

The remaining vector components can be deduced by employing the replacement rule  $G_{yy}^{(11)} = G_{xx}^{(11)}(k_x \leftrightarrow k_y)$  and the reciprocity theorem  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = G^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{r}', \mathbf{r}, \omega)$  which translates into  $G^{(11)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = G^{(11)\mathrm{T}}(-\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z', z, \omega)$ .

The Fresnel reflection coefficients (A.35) describe a single planar interface. For more than one interface, say a planar layer of thickness d, the reflection coefficients can be combined (for both polarisations) as

$$\tilde{r}_{12} = \frac{r_{12} + r_{23}e^{2ik_{2z}d}}{1 - r_{21}r_{23}e^{2ik_{2z}d}}$$
(A.36)

where  $r_{ij}$  is the Fresnel coefficient for the interface between layers *i* and *j*.

The matrix components of the scattering part of the DGF associated with transmission through the planar interface are

$$G_{xx}^{(12)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}|z| + ik_{2z}|z'|} \left[ t_p(\omega) \frac{k_{1z}k_{2z}k_x^2}{k_1k_2k_{\parallel}^2} + t_s(\omega) \frac{k_y^2}{k_{\parallel}^2} \right], \quad (A.37)$$

$$G_{xy}^{(12)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}|z| + ik_{2z}|z'|} \left[ t_p(\omega) \frac{k_{1z}k_{2z}k_xk_y}{k_1k_2k_{\parallel}^2} + t_s(\omega) \frac{k_xk_y}{k_{\parallel}^2} \right] , (A.38)$$

$$G_{xz}^{(12)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}|z| + ik_{2z}|z'|} \left[ \operatorname{sgn}(z')t_p(\omega) \frac{k_{1z}k_x}{k_1k_2} \right],$$
(A.39)

$$G_{zx}^{(12)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}|z| + ik_{2z}|z'|} \left[ \operatorname{sgn}(z')t_p(\omega) \frac{k_{2z}k_x}{k_1k_2} \right],$$
(A.40)

$$G_{zz}^{(12)}(\mathbf{k}_{\parallel}, z, z', \omega) = \frac{i}{2k_{1z}} e^{ik_{1z}|z| + ik_{2z}|z'|} \left[ t_p(\omega) \frac{k_{\parallel}^2}{k_1 k_2} \right].$$
(A.41)

The transmission coefficients for s- and p-polarised waves are

$$t_s(\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{\mu_1(\omega)}{\mu_2(\omega)}} \left[1 + r_s(\omega)\right], \qquad t_p(\omega) = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_1(\omega)}{\varepsilon_2(\omega)}} \left[1 + r_p(\omega)\right], \tag{A.42}$$

The remaining vector components can again by symmetry arguments such as  $G_{yx}^{(12)} = G_{xy}^{(12)}$  and  $G_{yz}^{(12)} = G_{xz}^{(12)}(k_x \leftrightarrow k_y)$ ,  $G_{zy}^{(12)} = G_{zx}^{(12)}(k_x \leftrightarrow k_y)$  and  $G_{yy}^{(12)} = G_{xx}^{(12)}(k_x \leftrightarrow k_y)$ .

# A.4.2 Cylindrically layered media

For the two examples that follow here, we use the expansion of the DGF in terms of vector wave functions. We first define the cylindrical vector wave functions [164, 165] that depend on the radial ( $\eta$ ) and axial (h) components of the wave number [ $k^2 = \varepsilon(\omega)\mu(\omega)\omega^2/c^2 = \eta^2 + h^2$ ] as

$$\mathbf{M}_{\stackrel{e}{o}n\eta}(h) = \left[ \mp \frac{n}{\varrho} Z_n(\eta \varrho) \frac{\sin}{\cos} n\varphi \, \mathbf{e}_{\varrho} - \frac{dZ_n(\eta \varrho)}{d\varrho} \frac{\cos}{\sin} n\varphi \, \mathbf{e}_{\varphi} \right] e^{ihz} \,, \tag{A.43}$$

$$\mathbf{N}_{o}^{e}{}_{n\eta}(h) = \frac{1}{k} \left[ ih \frac{dZ_{n}(\eta\varrho)}{d\varrho} \cos n\varphi \, \mathbf{e}_{\varrho} \mp ih \frac{n}{\varrho} Z_{n}(\eta\varrho) \cos n\varphi \, \mathbf{e}_{\varphi} + \eta^{2} Z_{n}(\eta\varrho) \cos n\varphi \, \mathbf{e}_{z} \right] e^{ihz} \,.$$
(A.44)

The trigonometric functions have to be chosen appropriately for the even and odd types of functions. In terms of those, the dyadic Green function for a cylindrical wire can be written in the form [164, 165]

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{(11)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{i\mu_1}{8\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dh \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2-\delta_{n0})}{\eta_1^2} \\
\times \left[ r_{MM}^{11} \mathbf{M}_{on\eta_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{on\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) + r_{NN}^{11} \mathbf{N}_{on\eta_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{on\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) \\
+ r_{NM}^{11} \mathbf{N}_{on\eta_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{on\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) + r_{MN}^{11} \mathbf{M}_{on\eta_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{on\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) \right], \quad (A.45)$$

$$\mathbf{G}^{(21)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \frac{i\mu_1}{8\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dh \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2-\delta_{n0})}{\eta_1^2} \\
\times \left[ t_{MM}^{21} \mathbf{M}_{o n\eta_2}^{e}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{o n\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) + t_{NN}^{21} \mathbf{N}_{o n\eta_2}^{e}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{o n\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) \\
+ t_{NM}^{21} \mathbf{N}_{o n\eta_2}^{e}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{o n\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) + t_{MN}^{21} \mathbf{M}_{o n\eta_2}^{e}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{o n\eta_1}^{'(1)}(-h) \right], \quad (A.46)$$

$$\mathbf{G}^{(12)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \frac{i\mu_2}{8\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dh \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2-\delta_{n0})}{\eta_2^2} \\
\times \left[ t_{MM}^{12} \mathbf{M}_{onn_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}'_{onn_2}(-h) + t_{NN}^{12} \mathbf{N}_{onn_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}'_{onn_2}(-h) \\
+ t_{NM}^{12} \mathbf{N}_{onn_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}'_{onn_2}(-h) + t_{MN}^{12} \mathbf{M}_{onn_1}^{(1)}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}'_{onn_2}(-h) \right], \quad (A.47)$$

、

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{(22)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{i\mu_2}{8\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dh \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2-\delta_{n0})}{\eta_2^2} \\
\times \left[ r_{MM}^{22} \mathbf{M}_{on\eta_2}^{e}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}'_{on\eta_2}(-h) + r_{NN}^{22} \mathbf{N}_{on\eta_2}^{e}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}'_{on\eta_2}(-h) \\
+ r_{NM}^{22} \mathbf{N}_{on\eta_2}^{o}(h) \otimes \mathbf{M}'_{on\eta_2}(-h) + r_{MN}^{22} \mathbf{M}_{on\eta_2}^{o}(h) \otimes \mathbf{N}'_{on\eta_2}(-h) \right]. \quad (A.48)$$

In this compact notation, a superscript  $^{(1)}$  means that the function  $Z_n$  in the respective vector wave function is a Hankel function of the first kind,  $H_n^{(1)}$ . Without that superscript, it is understood that the Bessel function  $J_n$  is used.

The reflection and transmission coefficients are determined by a  $4\times4\text{-matrix}$  equation

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{(H,V)} = \left[\boldsymbol{F}_{2}^{(H,V)}\right]^{-1} \cdot \boldsymbol{F}_{1}^{(H,V)}$$
(A.49)

with

$$\mathbf{F}_{j}^{H} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \mp \frac{\zeta_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{R} & \frac{\partial J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \mp \frac{\zeta_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{R} \\ 0 & \rho_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R) & 0 & \rho_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R) \\ \pm \frac{\zeta_{j\tau_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{R} & \frac{\tau_{j}\partial H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \pm \frac{\zeta_{j\tau_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}}{R} & \frac{\tau_{j}\partial J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \\ \tau_{j}\rho_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R) & 0 & \rho_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R) & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.50)$$

$$\mathbf{F}_{j}^{V} = \begin{pmatrix} \pm \frac{\zeta_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{R} & \frac{\partial H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \pm \frac{\zeta_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} & \frac{\partial J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \\ \rho_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R) & 0 & \rho_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R) & 0 \\ \frac{\tau_{j}\partial H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \mp \frac{\zeta_{j}\tau_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R)}{R} & \frac{\tau_{j}\partial J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{\partial R} \mp \frac{\zeta_{j}\tau_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R)}{R} \\ 0 & \tau_{j}\rho_{j}H_{n}^{(1)}(\eta_{j}R) & 0 & \tau_{j}\rho_{j}J_{n}(\eta_{j}R) \end{pmatrix}, \quad (A.51)$$

and the abbreviations

$$\tau_j = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_j}{\mu_j}}, \qquad \zeta_j = \frac{ihn}{k_j}, \qquad \rho_j = \frac{\eta_j^2}{k_j}.$$
(A.52)

With these preparations, the reflection and transmission coefficients can be derived as

$$\begin{pmatrix} r_{MM,NN}^{11} \\ r_{NM,MN}^{11} \end{pmatrix} = -\begin{pmatrix} T_{11}^{(H,V)} & T_{12}^{(H,V)} \\ T_{21}^{(H,V)} & T_{22}^{(H,V)} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} T_{13}^{(H,V)} \\ T_{23}^{(H,V)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.53)

$$\begin{pmatrix} t_{MM,NN}^{21} \\ t_{NM,MN}^{21} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} T_{31}^{(H,V)} & T_{32}^{(H,V)} \\ T_{41}^{(H,V)} & T_{42}^{(H,V)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} r_{MM,NN}^{11} \\ r_{NM,MN}^{11} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} T_{33}^{(H,V)} \\ T_{43}^{(H,V)} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.54)

$$\begin{pmatrix} t_{MM,NN}^{12} \\ t_{NM,MN}^{12} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} T_{11}^{(H,V)} & T_{12}^{(H,V)} \\ T_{21}^{(H,V)} & T_{22}^{(H,V)} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
 (A.55)

$$\begin{pmatrix} r_{MM,NN}^{22} \\ r_{NM,MN}^{22} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} T_{31}^{(H,V)} & T_{32}^{(H,V)} \\ T_{41}^{(H,V)} & T_{42}^{(H,V)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_{MM,NN}^{12} \\ t_{NM,MN}^{12} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.56)

Note that, in contrast to planarly or spherically layered media, s- and p-polarised waves, represented by the M and N vector wave functions, becomes mixed for all angular momenta n > 0.

# A.4.3 Spherically layered media

Similarly to the cylindrically layered case, we use the expansion of the dyadic Green function in terms of vector wave functions. The spherical vector wave functions are given by [166]

$$\mathbf{M}_{oml}^{e}(k) = \mp \frac{m}{\sin\Theta} z_{l}(kr) P_{l}^{m}(\cos\Theta) \frac{\sin}{\cos} m\varphi \,\mathbf{e}_{\Theta} - z_{l}(kr) \frac{dP_{l}^{m}(\cos\Theta)}{d\Theta} \frac{\cos}{\sin} m\varphi \,\mathbf{e}_{\varphi},$$
(A.57)
$$\mathbf{N}_{oml}^{e}(k) = \frac{l(l+1)}{kr} z_{l}(kr) P_{l}^{m}(\cos\Theta) \frac{\cos}{\sin} m\varphi \,\mathbf{e}_{r}$$

$$+ \frac{z_{l}'(kr)}{kr} \left[ \frac{dP_{l}^{m}(\cos\Theta)}{d\Theta} \frac{\cos}{\sin} m\varphi \,\mathbf{e}_{\Theta} \mp \frac{m}{\sin\Theta} P_{l}^{m}(\cos\Theta) \frac{\sin}{\cos} m\varphi \,\mathbf{e}_{\varphi} \right].$$
(A.58)

With the help of those, the dyadic Green function for a dielectric sphere is [166]

$$\mathbf{G}^{(11)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{i\mu_{1}k_{1}}{4\pi} \sum_{e,o} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{l} (2-\delta_{l0}) \frac{2l+1}{l(l+1)} \frac{(l-m)!}{(l+m)!} \\
\times \left[ r_{s}^{11} \mathbf{M}_{o ml}^{(1)}(k_{1}) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{o ml}^{'(1)}(k_{1}) + r_{p}^{11} \mathbf{N}_{o ml}^{(1)}(k_{1}) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{o ml}^{'(1)}(k_{1}) \right], \quad (A.59)$$

$$\mathbf{G}^{(21)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{i\mu_{1}k_{1}}{4\pi} \sum_{e,o} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{l} (2-\delta_{l0}) \frac{2l+1}{l(l+1)} \frac{(l-m)!}{(l+m)!} \\
\times \left[ t_{s}^{21} \mathbf{M}_{o ml}^{e}(k_{2}) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{o ml}^{'(1)}(k_{1}) + t_{p}^{21} \mathbf{N}_{o ml}(k_{2}) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{o ml}^{'(1)}(k_{1}) \right], \quad (A.60)$$

$$\mathbf{G}^{(12)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{i\mu_{2}k_{2}}{4\pi} \sum_{e,o} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{l} (2-\delta_{l0}) \frac{2l+1}{l(l+1)} \frac{(l-m)!}{(l+m)!} \\
\times \left[ t_{s}^{12} \mathbf{M}_{o ml}^{(1)}(k_{1}) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{o ml}^{'e}(k_{2}) + t_{p}^{12} \mathbf{N}_{o ml}^{(1)}(k_{1}) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{o ml}^{'e}(k_{2}) \right], \quad (A.61)$$

$$\mathbf{G}^{(22)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{i\mu_{2}k_{2}}{4\pi} \sum_{e,o} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=0}^{l} (2-\delta_{l0}) \frac{2l+1}{l(l+1)} \frac{(l-m)!}{(l+m)!}$$

$$\times \left[ r_s^{22} \mathbf{M}_{oml}(k_2) \otimes \mathbf{M}_{oml}'(k_2) + r_p^{22} \mathbf{N}_{oml}(k_2) \otimes \mathbf{N}_{oml}'(k_2) \right] . \quad (A.62)$$

For the following, it is convenient to define the Ricatti functions

$$\eta_l(k_i R) := \frac{1}{x} \left. \frac{d[xj_l(x)]}{dx} \right|_{x=k_i R} \quad , \qquad \xi_l(k_i R) := \frac{1}{x} \left. \frac{d[xh_l^{(1)}(x)]}{dx} \right|_{x=k_i R} \,. \tag{A.63}$$

In terms of those, the Mie scattering coefficients read

$$r_s^{(11)} = -\frac{\mu_1 k_2 \eta_l(k_2 R) j_l(k_1 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \eta_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R)}{\mu_1 k_2 \eta_l(k_2 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R)},$$
(A.64)

$$r_p^{(11)} = -\frac{\mu_1 k_2 \eta_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \eta_l(k_2 R) j_l(k_1 R)}{\mu_1 k_2 \xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \eta_l(k_2 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R)},$$
(A.65)

$$r_{s}^{(22)} = -\frac{\mu_{1}k_{2}\xi_{l}(k_{2}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{1}R) - \mu_{2}k_{1}\xi_{l}(k_{1}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{2}R)}{\mu_{1}k_{2}\eta_{l}(k_{2}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{1}R) - \mu_{2}k_{1}\xi_{l}(k_{1}R)j_{l}(k_{2}R)},$$
(A.66)

$$r_{p}^{(22)} = -\frac{\mu_{1}k_{2}\xi_{l}(k_{1}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{2}R) - \mu_{2}k_{1}\xi_{l}(k_{2}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{1}R)}{\mu_{1}k_{2}\xi_{l}(k_{1}R)j_{l}(k_{2}R) - \mu_{2}k_{1}\eta_{l}(k_{2}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{1}R)},$$
(A.67)

$$t_{s}^{(12)} = \frac{\mu_{1}k_{2}[\eta_{l}(k_{2}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{2}R) - \xi_{l}(k_{2}R)j_{l}(k_{2}R)]}{\mu_{1}k_{2}\eta_{l}(k_{2}R)h_{l}^{(1)}(k_{1}R) - \mu_{2}k_{1}\xi_{l}(k_{1}R)j_{l}(k_{2}R)},$$
(A.68)

$$t_p^{(12)} = \frac{\mu_1 k_2 [\xi_l(k_2 R) j_l(k_2 R) - \eta_l(k_2 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_2 R)]}{\mu_1 k_2 \xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \eta_l(k_2 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R)},$$
(A.69)

$$t_s^{(21)} = \frac{\mu_2 k_1 [\eta_l(k_1 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R) - \xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_1 R)]}{\mu_1 k_2 \eta_l(k_2 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R)},$$
(A.70)

$$t_p^{(21)} = \frac{\mu_2 k_1 [\xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_1 R) - \eta_l(k_1 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R)]}{\mu_1 k_2 \xi_l(k_1 R) j_l(k_2 R) - \mu_2 k_1 \eta_l(k_2 R) h_l^{(1)}(k_1 R)}.$$
(A.71)

Note that the transmission coefficients  $t_{s,p}$  can be further simplified by using the Wronski determinant between spherical Bessel and Hankel functions.

## A.5 Born series expansion

In most situations, the geometric arrangement of dielectric bodies is not symmetrical enough to yield a separable Helmholtz operator in which case an expansion into vector wave functions would be feasible (Sec. A.4). Instead, we will describe an iterative method known from quantum mechanics and quantum field theory as Born (or Dyson) series expansion of the dyadic Green function. This method applies to an arbitrary arrangement of dielectric bodies but, in general, converges quickly only if the dielectric contrast between bodies and the surrounding material is sufficiently small.

Let us assume that from an arrangement of dielectric bodies, described by a dielectric permittivity  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ , one can separate a part whose DGF  $G^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  is analytically known (e.g. vacuum, bulk material or layered media) and is described by a permittivity  $\varepsilon_0(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  (see, for example, Fig. A.2). The dyadic Green functions are solutions to the respective Helmholtz equations

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}'), \qquad (A.72)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon_0(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \boldsymbol{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}').$$
(A.73)

Subtracting both equations from one another, we find that the difference between both DGFs [scattering Green function  $G^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ ] solves the inhomogeneous Helmholtz equation

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) - \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon_0(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$$
$$= \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \delta \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \left[ \boldsymbol{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) + \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega) \right]$$
(A.74)



Fig. A.2. Dielectric body of arbitrary shape in front of a dielectric wall. The whole arrangement of bodies is described by a permittivity  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ . The DGF for the half-space alone [with permittivity  $\varepsilon_0(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ ] is known and can be used as starting point for the Born series.



Fig. A.3. Diagrammatic representation of the Born series, Eq. (A.76). Each arrow corresponds to the propagation according to the Green tensor  $G^{(0)}$ , each intermediate vertex at position  $s^{(i)}$  contributes with a weight factor  $\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \delta \varepsilon(s^{(i)}, \omega)$ . The integration is over all intermediate positions  $s^{(i)}$ .

where  $\delta \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) \equiv \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega) - \varepsilon_0(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  is the perturbation from the permittivity  $\varepsilon_0(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ . Equation (A.74) bears some resemblance to the Helmholtz equation (A.1) for the electric field, with the current density  $i\mu_0\omega \mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  being replaced by the rhs of Eq. (A.74). Its formal solution is therefore

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \int d^3s \, \boldsymbol{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s},\omega) \cdot \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \delta\varepsilon(\mathbf{s},\omega) \left[ \boldsymbol{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s},\mathbf{r}',\omega) + \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{s},\mathbf{r}',\omega) \right] \,. \tag{A.75}$$

Because the unknown scattering DGF  $G^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  appears on both sides of Eq. (A.75), making it a Fredholm integral equation of the second kind, one can solve it iteratively as [144]

$$\mathbf{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \int d^3s' \, \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}',\omega) \cdot \delta\varepsilon(\mathbf{s}',\omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s}',\mathbf{r}',\omega) \\
+ \left(\frac{\omega^2}{c^2}\right)^2 \iint d^3s' d^3s'' \, \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{s}',\omega) \cdot \delta\varepsilon(\mathbf{s}',\omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s}',\mathbf{s}'',\omega) \cdot \delta\varepsilon(\mathbf{s}'',\omega) \mathbf{G}^{(0)}(\mathbf{s}'',\mathbf{r}',\omega) \\
+ \dots \qquad (A.76)$$

Equation (A.76) is known as the Born (or Dyson) series expansion of the scattering dyadic Green function  $G^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ . It has a simple diagrammatic representation as shown in Fig. A.3.

The field propagates from the source point  $\mathbf{r}'$  to the observation point  $\mathbf{r}$  via the intermediate positions  $\mathbf{s}^{(i)}$ . Each of the arrows represents the dyadic Green function  $\mathbf{G}^{(0)}$  (which we assumed to be analytically known), and each intermediate position (or vertex)  $\mathbf{s}^{(i)}$  carries a weight factor  $\frac{\omega^2}{c^2}\delta\varepsilon(\mathbf{s}^{(i)},\omega)$ . The intermediate positions are integrated over, and the number of those points increases with the order of the iteration.

As the Born series (A.76) is a perturbation series in  $\delta \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$ , it is clear that fast convergence is only guaranteed for small enough permittivity (or equivalently, refractive index) contrast. It should be noted, however, that the series does always eventually converge to its unique solution  $G^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$ .

#### A.6 Local-field corrected Green tensors

While the DGF  $G(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{r}', \omega)$  connects the macroscopic electric field  $\mathbf{E}(\mathbf{r})$  with a macroscopic source  $\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{r}')$  [recall Eq. (A.2)], we are often interested in the coupling of the local electromagnetic field to microscopic sources such as atoms. For atoms which are embedded in a magnetoelectric medium, this difference between microscopic and macroscopic quantities leads to local-field corrections which can be implemented via the real-cavity model: One assumes that both field point  $\mathbf{r}_1$  and source point  $\mathbf{r}_2$  are not situated directly in the medium but surrounded by small free-space cavities of radius  $R_{\text{cav}}$  (cf. Fig. A.4). Modifying the original permittivity  $\varepsilon(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  and (inverse) permeability  $\kappa(\mathbf{r}, \omega)$  describing the present media to

$$\varepsilon_{\rm loc}(\mathbf{r},\omega), \kappa_{\rm loc}(\mathbf{r},\omega) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_1| < R_{\rm cav} \text{ or } |\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}_2| < R_{\rm cav}, \\ \varepsilon(\mathbf{r},\omega), \kappa(\mathbf{r},\omega) & \text{else}, \end{cases}$$
(A.77)

the required local-field corrected DGF  $G_{
m loc}$  can be found as the solution to

$$\left[\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \kappa_{\rm loc}(\mathbf{r},\omega) \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times -\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \varepsilon_{\rm loc}(\mathbf{r},\omega)\right] \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega) = \boldsymbol{\delta}(\mathbf{r}-\mathbf{r}'). \tag{A.78}$$

The real-cavity model thus accounts for the fact that an atom occupies some space within the host medium, where the cavity radius is of the order of one half the lattice constant of the latter.

For magnetoelectrics (but not for metals), the condition  $|\sqrt{\epsilon\mu}|R_{cav}\omega/c\ll 1$  is typically valid for the relevant frequencies of the electromagnetic field. In this case, the effect of the introduced cavities can be studied in a perturbative way by means of the spherical DGFs given in Sec. A.4.3. One finds that the local-field corrected single-point DGF is given by [71, 167]

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{\text{loc}}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\mathbf{r}_{1},\omega) = \frac{\omega}{6\pi c} \left\{ \frac{3(\varepsilon_{1}-1)}{2\varepsilon_{1}+1} \frac{c^{3}}{\omega^{3}R_{\text{cav}}^{3}} + \frac{9[\varepsilon_{1}^{2}(5\mu_{1}-1)-3\varepsilon_{1}-1]}{5(2\varepsilon_{1}+1)^{2}} \frac{c}{\omega R_{\text{cav}}} + i \left[ \frac{9\varepsilon_{1}n_{1}^{3}}{(2\varepsilon_{1}+1)^{2}} - 1 \right] \right\} \mathbf{1} + \left( \frac{3\varepsilon_{1}}{2\varepsilon_{1}+1} \right)^{2} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\mathbf{r}_{1},\omega) \quad (A.79)$$

where G is the uncorrected DGF,  $\varepsilon_i = \varepsilon(\mathbf{r}_i, \omega)$  denotes the permittvity of the unperturbed host medium at the source and field points (similarly for  $\mu$ ) and  $n_i = \sqrt{\varepsilon_i \mu_i}$  is the respective refractive index. The first term in Eq. (A.79) represents contributions to the electric field which are reflected at the interior of the cavity and never reach the surrounding medium [type (i) in Fig. A.4(a)].



Fig. A.4. Real-cavity model for applying local-field corrections to (a) single- and (b) two-point DGFs. Three typical contributions (i)–(iii) to the corrected DGFs are schematically indicated.

The second term represents contributions which are transmitted into the host medium and, after possible transmissions and reflections, transmitted back into the cavity [type (ii)]; each of the transmissions through the cavity surface gives rise to one factor in round brackets. Processes where the field is backreflected from the outside of the cavity [type (iii)] have been neglected since they are of higher order in the small parameter  $|\sqrt{\epsilon\mu}|R_{cav}\omega/c$ . Similarly, the local-field corrected two-point DGF is found to be [71]

$$\boldsymbol{G}_{\rm loc}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) = \frac{3\varepsilon_1}{2\varepsilon_1 + 1} \frac{3\varepsilon_2}{2\varepsilon_2 + 1} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) \quad \text{for } \mathbf{r}_1 \neq \mathbf{r}_2.$$
(A.80)

Equation (A.80) represents the transmission of the field out of the first cavity, transmissions and reflections within the host medium, followed by a transmission into the second cavity [type (ii) of Fig. A.4(b)]; each of the transmissions at the cavity surfaces gives rise to one of the two factors. Again, reflections at the outside of either cavity have been neglected [type (iii)].

When describing magnetic interactions, the curl of the DGF typically arises. Local-field

corrections in such situations cannot simply be obtained by taking the curl of Eqs. (A.79) and (A.80) above, since the implementation of the local-field correction via the real-cavity model does not commute with this vector operation. Instead, the local-field correction has to applied after taking the curl. One finds the single-point DGF [58]

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{1}, \mathbf{r}_{1}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \big|_{\text{loc}}$$

$$= -\frac{\omega^{3}}{2\pi c^{2}} \left\{ \frac{\mu_{1} - 1}{2\mu_{1} + 1} \frac{c^{3}}{\omega^{3} R_{\text{cav}}^{3}} + \frac{3}{5} \frac{\mu_{1}^{2} (5\varepsilon_{1} - 1) - 3\mu_{1} - 1}{(2\mu_{1} + 1)^{2}} \frac{c}{\omega R_{\text{cav}}} + i \left[ \frac{3\mu_{1} n_{1}^{3}}{(2\mu_{1} + 1)^{2}} - \frac{1}{3} \right] \right\} \boldsymbol{I}$$

$$+ \left( \frac{3}{2\mu_{1} + 1} \right)^{2} \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_{1}, \mathbf{r}_{1}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}' \quad (A.81)$$

and the two-point DGFs [58]

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) \big|_{\text{loc}} = \frac{3}{2\mu_1 + 1} \frac{3\varepsilon_2}{2\varepsilon_2 + 1} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) \quad \text{for } \mathbf{r}_1 \neq \mathbf{r}_2, \tag{A.82}$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega)\times\overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}'\big|_{\mathrm{loc}} = \frac{3\varepsilon_{1}}{2\varepsilon_{1}+1}\frac{3}{2\mu_{2}+1}\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega) \quad \text{for } \mathbf{r}_{1}\neq\mathbf{r}_{2}, \tag{A.83}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big|_{\text{loc}} = \frac{3}{2\mu_1 + 1} \frac{3\varepsilon_2}{2\varepsilon_2 + 1} \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) \quad \text{for } \mathbf{r}_1 \neq \mathbf{r}_2.$$
(A.84)

The behaviour of the local-field corrected Green tensors under a duality transformation (cf. Sec. A.2) can be easily derived by combining Eqs. (A.79)–(A.82) with Eqs. (A.8)–(A.11):

$$\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \boldsymbol{G}_{\text{loc}}^{(S)\star}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1, \omega) = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big|_{\text{loc}}, \quad (A.85)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)\star}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big|_{\text{loc}} = -\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \boldsymbol{G}^{(S)}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_1, \omega), \qquad (A.86)$$

$$\frac{\omega^2}{c^2} \boldsymbol{G}_{\text{loc}}^{\star}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_1, \mathbf{r}_2, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big|_{\text{loc}} \text{ for } \mathbf{r}_1 \neq \mathbf{r}_2, (A.87)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r}_{1}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \omega) \times \overleftarrow{\boldsymbol{\nabla}}' \big|_{\text{loc}} = -\frac{\omega^{2}}{c^{2}} \boldsymbol{G}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{r}_{1}, \mathbf{r}_{2}, \omega) \quad \text{for } \mathbf{r}_{1} \neq \mathbf{r}_{2}, \qquad (A.88)$$

$$\nabla \times \boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\big|_{\text{loc}} = -\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega) \times \overleftarrow{\nabla}'\big|_{\text{loc}} \text{ for } \mathbf{r}_{1} \neq \mathbf{r}_{2}, \quad (A.89)$$

$$\boldsymbol{G}^{\star}(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}',\omega)\times\boldsymbol{\nabla}'|_{\mathrm{loc}} = -\boldsymbol{\nabla}\times\boldsymbol{G}(\mathbf{r}_{1},\mathbf{r}_{2},\omega)\big|_{\mathrm{loc}} \quad \text{for } \mathbf{r}_{1}\neq\mathbf{r}_{2}.$$
(A.90)

#### References

- [1] C. Itzykson and J.-B. Zuber: Quantum Field Theory, McGraw-Hill, Singapore 1980
- [2] M. Born and E. Wolf: Principles of Optics, Pergamon, London 1959
- [3] W. Vogel and D.-G. Welsch: Quantum Optics, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim 2006
- [4] L.D. Landau and E.M. Lifshitz: Electrodynamics of Continuous Media, Pergamon, London 1960
- [5] B. Yurke, S.L. McCall, J.R. Klauder: Phys. Rev. A 33 (1986) 4033
- [6] S. Prasad, M.O. Scully, W. Martienssen: Opt. Commun. 62 (1987) 139
- [7] Z.Y. Ou, C.K. Hong, L. Mandel: Opt. Commun. 63 (1987) 118
- [8] H. Fearn, R. Loudon: Opt. Commun. 64 (1987) 485
- [9] R.A. Campos, B.E.A. Saleh, M.C. Teich: Phys. Rev. A 40 (1371) 1989
- [10] U. Leonhardt: Phys. Rev. A 48 (1993) 3265
- [11] R. Bhatia: Matrix analysis, Springer, New York 1997
- [12] H. Minc: Permanents, Addison-Welsey, Reading, MA 1978
- [13] S. Scheel: quant-ph/0406127 (2004)
- [14] S. Scheel: Conditional Linear Optical Networks, in Quantum Information Processing Chap. 28, ed. T. Beth and G. Leuchs, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim 2005
- [15] C.K. Hong, Z.Y. Ou, L. Mandel: Phys. Rev. Lett. 59 (1987) 2044
- [16] H.B.G. Casimir: Proc. K. Ned. Akad. Wet. 51 (1948) 793
- [17] L.L. DeRaad Jr., K.A. Milton: Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 136 (1981) 229
- [18] T.H. Boyer: Phys. Rev. 174 (1968) 1764
- [19] M. Babiker, E.A. Power, T. Thirunamachandran: Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A 338 (1974) 235
- [20] E.A. Power, Zienau: Phil. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. A 251 (1959) 427
- [21] R. G. Woolley: Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A 321 (1971) 557
- [22] D.P. Craig and T. Thirunamachandran: *Molecular Quantum Electrodynamics*, Academic Press, New York 1984
- [23] P.W. Milonni: The Quantum Vacuum, Academic Press, New York 1992
- [24] H.M. Nussenzveig: Causality and dispersion relations, Academic Press, New York 1972
- [25] E.T. Jaynes, F.W. Cummings: Proc. IEEE 51 (1963) 89
- [26] S. Haroche: Cavity Quantum Electrodynamics in Fundamental Systems in Quantum Optics, Les Houches Summer School Session LIII, p. 767, ed. J. Dalibard, J.M. Raimond, J. Zinn-Justin, North-Holland, Amsterdam 1992
- [27] B.W. Shore, P.L. Knight: J. Mod. Opt. 40 (1993) 1195
- [28] H. Yamamoto: Appl. Phys. A 42 (1987) 245
- [29] I. Yanetka: Physica B 270 (1999) 371
- [30] B. Huttner, S.M. Barnett: Phys. Rev. A 46 (1992) 4306
- [31] B. Huttner, S.M. Barnett: Europhys. Lett. 18 (1992) 487
- [32] J.J. Hopfield: Phys. Rev. 112 (1958) 1555
- [33] L. Knöll, S. Scheel, and D.-G. Welsch: QED in dispersing and absorbing media, in Coherence and Statistics of Photons and Atoms, ed. J. Peřina, Wiley, New York 2001
- [34] U. Fano: Phys. Rev. 103 (1956) 1202
- [35] E. Schmidt, J. Jeffers, S.M. Barnett, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: J. Mod. Opt. 45 (1997) 377
- [36] L.G. Suttorp, M. Wubs: Phys. Rev. A 70 (2004) 013816

- [37] D.B. Melrose and R.C. McPhedran: *Electromagnetic Processes in Dispersive Media*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1991
- [38] C. Raabe, S. Scheel, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 75 (2007) 053813
- [39] S. Scheel, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 58 (1998) 700
- [40] Ho Trung Dung, S.Y. Buhmann, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch, S. Scheel, J. Kästel: Phys. Rev. A 68 (2003) 043816
- [41] Ho Trung Dung, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 57 (1998) 3931
- [42] S.M. Barnett, C.R. Gilson, B. Huttner, N. Imoto: Phys. Rev. Lett. 77 (1996) 1739
- [43] T. Gruner, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 53 (1996) 1818
- [44] R. Matloob, R. Loudon: Phys. Rev. A 53 (1996) 4567
- [45] R. Matloob: Phys. Rev. A 60 (1999) 50
- [46] O. DiStefano, S. Savasta, R. Girlanda: Phys. Rev. A 61 (2000) 023803
- [47] L.G. Suttorp: J. Phys. A: Math. Theor 40 (2007) 3697
- [48] J.B. Pendry: Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 3966
- [49] S.Y. Buhmann, S. Scheel: arXiv:0806.2211 (2008)
- [50] T. Gruner, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 54 (1996) 1661
- [51] M. Khanbekyan, D.-G. Welsch, C. di Fidio, W. Vogel: Phys. Rev. A 78 (2008) 013822
- [52] L. Knöll, S. Scheel, E. Schmidt, D.-G. Welsch, A.V. Chizhov: Phys. Rev. A 59 (1999) 4716
- [53] S. Scheel, L. Knöll, T. Opatrný, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 62 (2000) 043803
- [54] S. Scheel, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 64 (2001) 063811
- [55] S. Scheel and D.-G. Welsch: Non-classical Gaussian states in noisy environments, in Quantum Information Processing Chap. 8, ed. T. Beth and G. Leuchs, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim 2005
- [56] G. Vidal, R.F. Werner: Phys. Rev. A 65 (2002) 032314
- [57] S.Y. Buhmann, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch, Ho Trung Dung: Phys. Rev. A 70 (2004) 052117
- [58] H. Safari, D.-G. Welsch, S.Y. Buhmann, S. Scheel: arXiv:0809.3975 (2008)
- [59] M. Schubert and B. Wilhelmi: Nonlinear optics and quantum electronics, Wiley, New York 1986
- [60] S. Scheel, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 073601
- [61] S. Scheel, D.-G. Welsch: J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 39 (2006) S711
- [62] S. Scheel, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch, S.M. Barnett: Phys. Rev. A 60 (1999) 1590
- [63] S. Scheel, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 60 (1999) 4094
- [64] S. Scheel, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Acta Phys. Slov. 49 (1999) 585
- [65] M.S. Yeung, T.K. Gustafson: Phys. Rev. A 55 (1996) 5227
- [66] J.M. Wylie, J.E. Sipe: Phys. Rev. A 30 (1984) 1185
- [67] G. Juzeliūnas: Phys. Rev. A 55 (1997) R4015
- [68] M.S. Tomaš, Z. Lenac: Phys. Rev. A 56 (1997) 4197
- [69] M. Fleischhauer: Phys. Rev. A 60 (1999) 2534
- [70] R.J. Glauber, M. Lewenstein: Phys. Rev. A 43 (1991) 467
- [71] Ho Trung Dung, S.Y. Buhmann, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 74 (2006) 023803
- [72] H.A. Bethe and E.E. Salpeter: Quantum Mechanics of One and Two-Electron Atoms, Springer, Berlin 1957
- [73] M. Altarelli, D.L. Dexter, H.M. Nussenzveig, D.Y. Smith: Phys. Rev. B 6 (1972) 4502
- [74] G. Frye, R.L. Warnock: Phys. Rev. 130 (1963) 478

- [75] S. Scheel: Phys. Rev. A 78 (2008) 013841
- [76] S.M. Barnett, R. Loudon: Phys. Rev. Lett. 77 (1996) 2444
- [77] J. Brown and A. Carrington: Rotational Spectroscopy of Diatomic Molecules, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 2003
- [78] S.Y. Buhmann, M.R. Tarbutt, S. Scheel, E.A. Hinds: arXiv:0806.2913 (2008)
- [79] N. Vanhaecke, O. Dulieu: Mol. Phys. 105 (2007) 1723
- [80] E.A. Hinds, I.A. Hughes: J. Phys. D 32 (1999) R119
- [81] R. Folman, P. Krüger, J. Schmiedmayer, J. Denschlag, C. Henkel: Adv. At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 48 (2002) 263
- [82] J. Fortágh, C. Zimmermann: Rev. Mod. Phys. 79 (2007) 235
- [83] A. Günther, M. Kemmler, S. Kraft, C.J. Vale, C. Zimmermann, J. Fortágh: Phys. Rev. A 71 (2005) 063619
- [84] P.K. Rekdal, S. Scheel, P.L. Knight, E.A. Knight: Phys. Rev. A 70 (2004) 013811
- [85] M.P.A. Jones, C.J. Vale, D. Sahagun, B.V. Hall, E.A. Hinds: Phys. Rev. Lett. 91 (2003) 080401
- [86] C. Henkel, S. Pötting, M. Wilkens: Appl. Phys. B: Lasers Opt. B69 (1999) 379
- [87] S. Scheel, P.K. Rekdal, P.L. Knight, E.A. Hinds: Phys. Rev. A 72 (2005) 042910
- [88] E.M. Purcell: Phys. Rev. 69 (1946) 681
- [89] U. Hohenester, A. Eiguren, S. Scheel, E.A. Hinds: Phys. Rev. A 76 (2007) 033618
- [90] F. London, H. London: Proc. R. Soc. London, Ser. A 149 (1935) 71
- [91] C.S. Gorter, H.B.G. Casimir: Z. Phys. 35 (1934) 963
- [92] E.M. Lifshitz: Sov. Phys. JETP 2 (1956) 73
- [93] J.E. Lennard–Jones: Trans. Faraday Soc. 28 (1932) 333
- [94] H.B.G. Casimir, D. Polder: Phys. Rev. 73 (1948) 360
- [95] F. London: Z. Phys. 63 (1930) 245
- [96] S.Y. Buhmann, Ho Trung Dung, T. Kampf, D.-G. Welsch: Eur. Phys. J. D 35 (2005) 15
- [97] S.Y. Buhmann, D.-G. Welsch: Prog. Quantum Electron. 31 (2006) 51
- [98] C. Henkel, K. Joulain, J. Mulet, J. Greffet: J. Opt. A: Pure Appl. Opt. 4 (2002) S109
- [99] J.D. van der Waals: Over de Continuiteit van den Gas- en Vloeistoftoestand (on the continuity of the gas and liquid state), Ph.D. thesis, Leiden 1873
- [100] J. Mahanty and B.W. Ninham: Dispersion Forces, Academic Press, London 1976
- [101] M. Bordag, U. Mohideen, V.M. Mostepanenko: Phys. Rep. 353 (2001) 1
- [102] K.A. Milton: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 37 (2004) R209
- [103] S.K. Lamoreaux: Rep. Prog. Phys. 68 (2005) 201
- [104] S.K. Lamoreaux: Phys. Today 60 (2007) 40
- [105] C. Raabe, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 73 (2006) 063822
- [106] C. Raabe, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 71 (2005) 013814
- [107] C. Raabe, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 68 (2003) 033810
- [108] E.A. Hinds: Adv. At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 28 (1991) 237
- [109] E.A. Hinds: Adv. At. Mol. Opt. Phys. Suppl. 2 (1994) 1
- [110] A.D. McLachlan: Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A 271 (1963) 387
- [111] G.S. Agarwal: Phys. Rev. A 11 (1975) 243
- [112] J. Schwinger, L.L. DeRaad Jr., K.A. Milton: Ann. Phys. 115 (1978) 1

- [113] I.V. Bondarev, P. Lambin: Phys. Rev. B 72 (2005) 035451
- [114] A. Sambale, S.Y. Buhmann, D.-G. Welsch, M.S. Tomaš: Phys. Rev. A 75 (2007) 042109
- [115] S.Y. Buhmann, T. Kampf, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 72 (2005) 032112
- [116] M.J. Mehl, W.L. Schaich: Surf. Sci. 99 (1980) 553
- [117] T.H. Boyer: Phys. Rev. 180 (1969) 19
- [118] J.D. Jackson, Classical Electrodynamics, 3rd edn., Wiley, New York 1998
- [119] S. Kryszewski: Mol. Phys. 78 (1993) 1225
- [120] M.S. Tomaš: Phys. Rev. A 72 (2005) 034104
- [121] Y. Tikochinsky, L. Spruch: Phys. Rev. A 48 (1993) 4236
- [122] S.Y. Buhmann, Ho Trung Dung, D.-G. Welsch: J. Opt. B: Quantum Semiclass. Opt. 6 (2004) S127
- [123] H. Margenau: Rev. Mod. Phys. 11 (1939) 1
- [124] H. Margenau and N.R. Kestner: Theory of Intermolecular Forces, Pergamon Press, Oxford 1969
- [125] G. Feinberg, J. Sucher: Phys. Rep. 180 (1989) 83
- [126] G. Compagno, R. Passante, F. Persico: Atom-Field Interactions and Dressed Atoms, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1995
- [127] A. Salam: Int. Rev. Phys. Chem. 27 (2008) 405
- [128] A.D. McLachlan: Mol. Phys. 7 (1964) 381
- [129] J. Mahanty, B.W. Ninham: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 6 (1973) 1140
- [130] H. Safari, S.Y. Buhmann, D.-G. Welsch, Ho Trung Dung: Phys. Rev. A 74 (2006) 042101
- [131] M.S. Tomaš: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 39 (2006) 6785
- [132] S. Spagnolo, D.A.R. Dalvit, P.W. Milonni: Phys. Rev. A 75 (2007) 052117
- [133] G. Feinberg, J. Sucher: J. Chem. Phys. 48 (1968) 3333
- [134] G. Feinberg, J. Sucher: Phys. Rev. A 2 (1970) 2395
- [135] C. Farina, F.C. Santos, A.C. Tort: Am. J. Phys. 70 (2002) 421
- [136] C. Farina, F.C. Santos, A.C. Tort: J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 35 (2002) 2477
- [137] E.A. Power, T. Thirunamachandran: Phys. Rev. A 25 (1982) 2473
- [138] S. Spagnolo, R. Passante, L. Rizzuto: Phys. Rev. A 73 (2006) 062117
- [139] H. Safari, D.-G. Welsch, Ho Trung Dung, S.Y. Buhmann: Phys. Rev. A 77 (2008) 053824
- [140] B.M. Axilrod, E. Teller: J. Chem. Phys. 11 (1943) 299
- [141] P.W. Milonni, P.B. Lerner: Phys. Rev. A 46 (1992) 1185
- [142] R. Golestanian: Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 230601
- [143] S.Y. Buhmann, H. Safari, D.-G. Welsch, Ho Trung Dung: Open Syst. Inf. Dyn. 13 (2006) 427
- [144] S.Y. Buhmann, D.-G. Welsch: Appl. Phys. B 82 (2006) 189
- [145] E.A. Power, T. Thirunamachandran: Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A 401 (1985) 267
- [146] E.A. Power, T. Thirunamachandran: Phys. Rev. A 50 (1994) 3929
- [147] C. Henkel, K. Joulain: Europhys. Lett. 72 (2005) 929
- [148] M.S. Tomaš: Phys. Lett. A 342 (2005) 381
- [149] S.Y. Buhmann, S. Scheel: Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 253201
- [150] I.E. Dzyaloshinskii, E.M. Lifshitz, L.P. Pitaevskii: Adv. Phys. 10 (1961) 165
- [151] E. Hagley, X. Maître, G. Nogues, C. Wunderlich, M. Brune, J.M. Raimond, S. Haroche: Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 (1997) 1
- [152] A. Kuhn, M. Hennrich, G. Rempe: Phys. Rev. Lett. 89 (2002) 067901

- [153] J. McKeever, A. Boca, A.D. Boozer, R. Miller, J.R. Buck, A. Kuzmich, H.J. Kimble: Science 303 (2004) 1992
- [154] M. Khanbekyan, L. Knöll, A.A. Semenov, W. Vogel, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 69 (2004) 043807
- [155] G. Cui, M.G. Raymer: Opt. Express 13 (2005) 9660
- [156] H. T. Dung, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 62 (2000) 053804
- [157] S. Götzinger, L. de S. Menezes, A. Mazzei, S. Kühn, V. Sandoghdar, O. Benson: Nanoletters 6 (2006) 1151
- [158] H. T. Dung, L. Knöll, D.-G. Welsch: Phys. Rev. A 64 (2001) 013804
- [159] H. T. Dung, S. Scheel, D.-G. Welsch, L. Knöll: J. Opt. B: Quantum Semiklass. Opt. 4 (2002) \$169
- [160] P. Moon and D.E. Spencer: Field Theory Handbook, Including Coordinate Systems, Differential Equations, and Their Solutions, 2nd ed., Springer, New York 1988
- [161] W.C. Chew: Waves and Fields in Inhomogeneous Media, IEEE Press, New York 1994
- [162] M.S. Tomaš: Phys. Rev. A 51 (2000) 2545
- [163] L.W. Li, P.S. Kooi, M.S. Leong, T.S. Yeo: J. Electromagn. Waves Appl. 8 (1994) 663
- [164] C.T. Tai: Dyadic Green's Functions in Electromagnetic Theory, IEEE Press, Piscataway, New Jersey 1991
- [165] L.W. Li, P.S. Kooi, M.S. Leong, T.S. Yeo: J. Electromagn. Waves Appl. 14 (2000) 961
- [166] L.W. Li, P.S. Kooi, M.S. Leong, T.S. Yeo: IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques 42 (1994) 2302
- [167] M.S. Tomaš: Phys. Rev. A 63 (2001) 053811